# CHINA-NEPAL RELATIONS AND INDIA

# DR. T.R. GHOBLE



3 AHR00010070H

china-Nepal relations and India /

Ghoble, T. R

# CHINA-NEPAL RELATIONS AND INDIA

DR. T.R. GHOBLE M.A., M.Phil., Ph.D. L.J.N.J. Mahila Mahavidyalaya, SNDT Women's University, Bombay

Foreword by PROF. GARGI DUTT Centre for East Asian Studies Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi



DEEP & DEEP PUBLICATIONS D-1/24, Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027

#### © 1991 T.R. GHOBLE

All rights reserved with the Publisher, including the right to translate or to reproduce this book or parts thereof except for brief quotations in critical articles or review.

Printed in India at Print India, Mayapuri, New Delhi-110064. Published by DEEP & DEEP PUBLICATIONS, D-1/24, Raiouri Garden, New Delhi-110027. Phone : 504498. To Prof. (Mrs) GARGI DUTT

Na tam mata Pita Kayira anne Vapi Ca nataka Sammapanihitam Cittam Seyyaso nam tato kare.

--DHAMMAPADA

# CONTENTS

4.	India as a Factor in Sino-Nepalese Relations	120
	Chinese Aid Projects in Nepal	87
	Chinese Aid Programme in Nepal	83
	Sino-Nepalese Trade Relations	78
	The Logic	76
3.	Sino-Nepalese Economic Relations	76
	After the Cultural Revolution	57
	Cultural Revolution	54
	Notes of Discord	53
	Mutual Diplomatic Gestures	52
	1963-67 : Period of Diplomatic Formality	51
	1962 : Watershed	50
	Sino-Indian Border Dispute	48
	King Mahendra's Policies	47
	Question of Mount Everest	46
	Uprising in Tibet (1959)	44
	Establishment of Diplomatic Relations	42
	The Beginning	39
	Strategic Buffer	38
	Indo-Nepalese Border	37
	Sino-Nepalese Border	36
	The Geographical Constant	35
2.	Dynamics of Political Relations between China and Nepal	35
	Republican China and Nepal	31
1.	Sino-Nepalese Relations : Historical Background	17
	Acknowledgements	15
	Preface	11
	Foreword	9

5.	Conclusion	145
	Appendix I:	
	Friendship Agreement	153
	Appendix 11:	
	Economic Aid Agreement	158
	Appendix III :	
	Agreement of Economic Aid	160
	Appendix IV :	
	Protocol to the Agreement of Economic Aid	163
	Appendix V :	
	Trade Agreement	166
	Appendix VI :	
	Agreement on Trade, Intercourse and Related	
	Questions between Tibet Autonomous Region of China and Nepal	169
	Appendix VII :	
	Agreement on Economic Co-opecation	174
	Appendix VIII :	
	Protocol to the China-Nepal Trade Agreement	176
	Chronology :	
	Exchange of Visits between China and Nepal	178
	Bibliography	187
	Index	205

8

## FOREWORD

I am glad that Deep & Deep Publications are bringing out Dr. T.R. Ghoble's book on 'China-Nepal Relations and India'. Dr. Ghoble has been a scholar at Jawaharlal Nehru University's Centre for East Asian Studies. The book has grown out of his research on the same subject. He has very carefully examined all the available material on the subject and provided an analytical study in a scholarly way of the whole story of this important subject. His study takes into account the historical background and goes on to describe and analyses the dynamics of political relationships from 1947 onwards. The real value of this book lies in the way Dr. Ghoble has painstakingly studied the Sino-Nepalese economic relations, which have provided the foundation for political and social relations between the two countries.

Sino-Nepalese relations cannot be studied and understood without reference to Sino-Indian and Indo-Nepalese relations. Dr. Ghoble has very ably brought out the impact of the triangular relationship involving this small kingdom sandwitched as it is between the two giants of Asia, that is India and China. In a way one can say that Dr. Ghoble's study brings into sharp focus the fact that Sino-Nepalese relations have been also the function of and reaction to Indo-Nepalese relations and India-China relations.

Centre for East Asian Studies Jawaharlal Nehru University New Delhi **GARGI DUTT** 

# PREFACE

The present book, 'China-Nepal Relations and India' is a survey of China's relations with Nepal from an analytical perspective. Since the inception of the Communist Government in China in 1949, China attempted to develop her relations with Nepal and since the conclusion of the Sino-Nepalese Friendship Treaty in 1956, her relationship with Nepal had been steadily developing barring minor instances of untoward interludes. It has also been observed that Sino-Nepalese relation has always been influenced by the Indian factor.

This makes the book interesting as it unfolds two important aspects : First, Nepal has been trying to maintain a policy of equidistance from China and India, for last two decades, and has always been reluctant to completely identify herself with either of the two regional powers. But she has managed to get overwhelming economic assistance from both of them. This prompts one to feel that India and China appear to believe that they have a major stake in Nepal; neither of them can afford to dispense with Nepal and allow the other to pull Nepal completely to its own side. This is understandable from the very strategic position in which Nepal is situated between China and India. It is observed that the policy of both the regional powers has been that if Nepal is reluctant to become a protege then it would serve far greater interest to make her maintain equidistance than to allow her to be totally dependent on the other. This aspect of Sino-Nepalese relation has been the recurrent theme of emphasis in the present book, and for this matter, even if the title of the book suggests that it would be a study in bilateral relations, for all practical purposes, it is a triangular study.

In 1949 the Chinese Communist Party took charge, and looked forward to develop the relations with Nepal. Later in the year the Sino-Indian hostility reached its climax, in which I have tried to find out how China succeeded in keeping Nepal silent over SinoIndian war which to any ordinary observer would seem surprising.

For Nepal, being a neighbouring country should have been duly concerned about the aggressive attitude of China towards another of her neighbours, and in the circumstances should have deplored the Chinese attack on a country with whom she had pledged to govern her relationships in accordance with the Five Principles of Peaceful Co-existence.

Even an elementary study reveals that China's relation with Nepal has followed a relatively uniform pattern, despite sweeping changes in China's domestic as well as foreign spheres. It seems the Great Proletarian Cultural Revolution of 1966-69 had not changed Sino-Nepalesc relations a bit eventhough China had overhauled her perceptions of the world situation. China's economic aid to Nepal has also followed a uniform pattern and has always behind it the motive of becoming the largest donor to counter Indian influence on Nepal which, of course, she has so far not been able to achieve. It has also been observed that the nature of Chinese economic assistance to Nepal was that of undertaking such projects as would make an immediate impact on the economy characteristic feature of Chinese economic relations with the underdeveloped countries in general. Chinese projects in the Afro-Asian countries revealed in general that China concentrated on construction of roads and railways and on medium and small-scale projects. This was so because China did not have the proper technical expertise to foster basic or heavy industry in these countries. Added to this, was the well-thought policy that smallscale projects would have immediate bearing on the economy of the recipient country, and hence, would earn the goodwill of This feature was also revealed in case of Sinothat country. Nepalese relations. The economic relation between China and Nepal is, in fact, a major aspect. Hence, in my study, I have given special emphasis on the nature of Chinese economic assistance, the quantum of assistance, the nature of the financing of the different projects, the strategic importance of the road constructions, the impact of Chinese assistance on Nepalese economy and, last but not the least, how Chinese economic assistance compares with the assistance provided by India and other countries.

Cantours of Sino-Nepalese relations reveal that Nepal does not so much figure in the Chinese view of the world affairs as it does as a country which has strategic importance as a buffer between two regional powers. Nepal is a small state whose tangible power is quite insignificant in comparison to that of China. Moreover, Nepal has not as yet been able to obtain a status in the world power configuration, which would otherwise have given her position of respect as preacher of some laudable principles in international relations. On the other hand, China has been quite successful in increasing her power and prestige despite many cumbersome events in both her internal as well as foreign affairs. She ranks only next to the United States and the USSR in the hierarchy of nation states. Naturally Nepal cannot seek parity with China in their bilateral relationship. In this context in my study I have also examined the relative standing of Nepal in China's world-view and whether Nepal has importance in the balance of world powers or regional powers.

The book has been divided into five chapters.

In the first chapter, I have dealt with the nature of Sino-Nepalese relations prior to 1949, i.e., before the Communist takeover in China. Particular attention has been given to Nepal's relation with Tibet during the nineteenth century during which Tibet was a vassal of Nepal; as China staked claim on Tibet after the communist victory of 1949; the conclusion of the Sino-Nepalese Treaty of 1956; and last but not the least the Nepalese reaction to the Tibetan uprising and the Chinese manner of handling it.

In the second chapter the situation of Nepal as a strategic buffer between the two great regional powers is appraised. Nepal's typical situation as a landlocked state and the ensuing problems thereof also have been discussed. Nepal's cultural link with India due to its typical geographical situation is given consideration in this chapter. The chapter then proceeds with the study of the dynamics of Sino-Nepalese political relations in an analytical perspective.

In the third chapter, I have taken up the nature and quantum of Chinese economic assistance to Nepal, the nature of financing of the different projects, the strategic importance of the Chinese interest in promoting road constructions, the impact of Chinese assistance on Nepalese economy, the general Nepalese impression about China as an aid-giver and last but not the least, how Chinese aid compares with the aid given by the other foreign countries.

In the fourth chapter, Indian influence on Nepalese politics, Indian support for democratic movement in Nepal, Indian economic assistance, and Chinese attempt at countering the Indian influence is analysed. The limitations of Chinese attempt due to the typical geo-cultural factor is also examined.

The fifth and the concluding chapter is both a summary of the observations of the different aspects of Sino-Nepalese relations and a barometer of prospective relations between the two countries.

I have made an indepth study of the primary sources consisting of materials from mainland China, such as Survey of China Mainland Press, Summary of World Broadcast, Translations of China's mass media and materials from Nepal, IDSA News Review on China, Mongolia and Korea, Asian Recorder, Nepal Press Digest, Indian Newspapers, Indian Foreign Affairs Records, Ministry of External Affairs Report, Newspaper Clippings, some old records in National Archives of India, and Chinese and Nepalese documents have also been consulted. The Chinese materials mainly translated by the Western Press from Hong Kong, and Nepali language newspapers and books have also been referred.

Bombay

T.R. GHOBLE

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The present study was made under the inspiring supervision of Professor (Mrs.) Gargi Dutt, Centre for East Asian Studies (China Division), School of International Studies, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi. She has been my mentor and guide throughout the planning and execution of this research undertaking. The insight she has given into the Chinese foreign policy and in research methods has been immensely valuable. Her advice, guidance, parental care and constant encouragement is the source of inspiration for completing this work. Words cannot express my debt to her.

I must mention Dr. Narnarayan Das, my teacher from the same Department whose direction and encouragement led my interest in the Chinese studies. I also owe a sense of gratitude to Prof. V.P. Dutt of the University of Delhi for his encouragement.

I am grateful to my friend Shri Naba K. Bhujabal for discussions and deliberations during my research period.

Many people have helped in many ways to complete this work. I am grateful to all of them, yet I must mention my sincere thanks to Shri V.D. Gaikwad (Asst. Secretary, P.F.S., Bombay), my friend Shri Gulam Dustgir Inamadhar, Prof. V.A. Fakirde of Milind College, Prof. K.G. Yesambare and Prof. P.V. Shelar of Shiddharth College. Bombay for their continuous encouragement. I am thankful to Mr. Ashok Jambhekar of the Sapru House Library (ICWA), the Staff of Jawaharlal Nehru University Library and Shri A.C. Tikekar, Librarian, Bombay University, who helped me in collecting the research materials.

I express special thanks to my revered Principal (Prof.) N.K. Belhekar, L.J.N.J. Mahila Mahavidyala, Vile Parle, Bombay. He, not only encouraged me on the academic level, but also afforded all the facilities and guidance necessary to complete this publication. My thanks are due to "Vile Parle Mahila Sangh Authorities" for their encouragement. I am grateful to Shri G.S. Bhatia, Deep & Deep Publications, New Delhi, who deserves the special mention for the early publication of the book, through the press under his personal care and supervision. I must thank Shri L.B. Sonawane for his neat and accurate typing.

A obliged word goes to my parents especially to my brother Shri Shrirang Ghoble and my sister-in-law Mrs. Jayshree Ghoble, who encouraged me to take up and complete this work during very difficult period full of pressing financial and other problems. Without their support this work would not have been completed. Bhivaji, my younger brother also gave his moral support during this period.

Finally, I must mention Vijaya, my wife. Her support has been a moving spirit all the time. She has lived so much of this book along with me, that if there is any credit flowing from this book, it is almost entirely hers.

Bombay

T.R. GHOBLE

#### CHAPTER I

# SINO-NEPALESE RELATIONS : HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

In contradistinction of the new relationships that China established with the countries those are geographically separated from China, the relationship between China and Nepal was by no means new. On the contrary, it can be said that the two countries were in constant contact by the sheer logic of their geographical proximity. Records show that contact between the two countries was first established in the fifth century A.D., when the noted Buddhist and scholar of China Fa Xien, came to Nepal in the year 406 A.D., on a pilgrimage to the birth place of Gautam Buddha and to the place where he attained Nirvana. His *Record of the Buddhist Kingdoms* was the first Chinese account of Nepal and India.<sup>1</sup>

It is also known that in 406 A.D., the same year in which Fa Xian reached Nepal, the Nepalese monk Buddhabhadra, a native of Kapilavastu and a member of the Sakya clan came to Zhangan which was then the capital of China. In 418 A.D., he was invited to Qian Ye, the modern Nanjing. There he became the senior translator at the Dao Zhang Si monastery, giving guidance to more than a hundred monks engaged in putting the Buddhist scriptures into Chinese.<sup>2</sup>

During the Tang dynasty (618-907), the Chinese Buddhist teacher Yuan Zhuang visited Nepal in 635 A.D. In his Buddhist Records of the Western World, in the great Tang period, he spoke of Nepal's natural wealth and praised the skill of its craftsmen.<sup>3</sup> Yuan Zhuang had journeyed via the established route through Kashmir and Turkestan.<sup>4</sup> But the first official Chinese mission to Nepal led by Li I-biao used the new route<sup>5</sup> (Turfan-Nepal route) discovered by the Chinese Buddhist monk Xuan Zhao.<sup>6</sup> This mission was warmly welcomed by the Nepalese King

#### Narendradeva.<sup>7</sup>

For the next two decades, the route through Tibet and Nepal was followed by many travellers between India and China. Official contacts between the Nepal Court and the Tang dynasty were also maintained. In 647, Chinese records indicate, a Nepali envoy visited Zhangan with presents for the emperor. Four years later, another Nepalese mission visited China. In 656, Wang Xuan-ze sent by the Chinese emperor to visit Nepal and India had a sojourn at Kathmandu.<sup>8</sup>

The Chinese got their first impression about the traditions, customs, religion, resources and art and architecture of Nepal from the travel accounts of these pilgrims.<sup>9</sup> It is evident that the contacts between the two countries, interespesed at times by long intervals of no-contacts, were intermittent and the relationship between the two countries could by no means be termed political. Rather China's interest in Nepal was largely due to their religious affinities, as China also had a large Buddhist population and naturally Chinese showed great interest in getting information about the life and times of Gautam Buddha and the culture and tradition of his native place.

The political and economic relation between China and Nepal started with Tibet serving as the link. It was the emergence of a powerful kingdom in Tibet in the seventh century A.D., with its capital at Lhasa that transformed the Kathmandu valley into the intellectual and commercial entrepot between India and central Asia. Presumably, limited trade had been carried on across the Himalayas via Kathmandu prior to that period. During the Tang dynasty, Yuan Zhuang, who travelled through Tibet and Nepal en route to India in that period, mentioned the great wealth of the cities of Kathmandu valley and the important role of the mercantile community there.<sup>10</sup> But it was not until the seventh century that political relations assumed a crucial importance. Chinese and Tibetan records assert that the early Tibetan ruler, Srongtsan Gambo exercised some form of authority over Kathmandu valley, reportedly for having helped King Narendradeva and his family regain the throne that had been usherped by a powerful minister, Amshuverama, two decades earlier. For this service, he had to subordinate Nepal to Tibet.<sup>11</sup> Nepali Vamshavalis record the visit of a Tibetan King to Nepal during the same period (i.e., about 640 A.D.), and also acknowledge that a Nepali princess became the

wife of Srongtsan Gambo and assisted in the introduction of Buddhism into Tibet.<sup>12</sup> The alliance between Tibet and China, formalized by the marriage, disintegrated after Gambo's death in 650. When hostilities broke out between Tibet and China, a decade later, the trans-Himalayan route between South and East Asia was barred, and it remained closed for several centuries. Reference to Nepal virtually disappear from Tang and succeeding dynastic histories. Even during the Yuan dynastic period, when these alien rulers of China exerted a powerful influence in Tibet, direct political contacts with Nepal were never re-established.

The Ming dynasty (1368-1644), which succeeded the Yuan (Mongols), failed to maintain a significant influence in Tibet but did manage to establish diplomatic relations with the Rama family of Patan (Kathmandu valley), one of the political factions then contending for control of the valley. During the period from 1384 to 1427, five Chinese missions and seven Nepali missions were exchanged between the two countries.<sup>13</sup> The rival Malla family, however, abruptly terminated all diplomatic contacts with the Ming dynasty once Kathmandu valley had been unified under its authority in 1427,<sup>14</sup> and many years passed before the relationship between the two countries were renewed.

The sixteenth and seventeenth centuries were critical periods for the relations between Nepal and Tibet. During this period Tibet underwent an internal crisis in the competing Buddhist sects. The two ambitious Kings of Nepal of this period, Rama Shah of Gorkha (1606-33) and Pratap Malla of Kathmandu (1624-74), took advantage of this situation to seize control of the vital border-pass areas through which most of the trans-Himalayan trade passed. Rama Shah's incursions into Tibet from 1625 to 1630 resulted in an agreement with the Tibetans under which the boundary line between Gorkha and Tibet was drawn at Kukurghat, thus, giving Rama Shah the control over one of the main channels of communication between Nepal and Tibet, i.e., through Kirong. This caused inconvenience for the Kathmandu trading community but the Kathmandu ruler, Pratap Mall, instead of contending directly with Rama Shah decided to bring the second trade route (via Kuti) under his control. An agreement with the Tibetan granted Kathmandu the joint authority with Tibet over the border towns of Kuti and Kirong. This joint authority lasted for 25 years. But neither Nepali nor Tibetan materials specify when or how

Kathmandu lost its authority in the border districts, but a Chinese source notes that the fifth Dalai Lama, who died in 1683, had regained the areas of Tibet that had been seized by Pratap Malla.<sup>15</sup>

In early eighteenth century, the Qing (Manchu) dynasty established a presence in Tibet in the form of two Manchu Ambans (Residents) at Lhasa. But this did not lead to an immediate renewal of relations with Nepal, on a protracted basis. Kathmandu sent an embassy to the Ambans in 1732.<sup>16</sup> But nothing seems to have emerged from this contact, for neither Chinese nor Nepali records mention any further exchanges between Nepal and Chinese officials in Tibet during the next half century. Such exchanges had to await political changes in Nepal, India and Tibet in the late eighteenth century, as a result of which China became, for the first time, an important factor in Himalayan-area politics.<sup>17</sup>

The intrusion of Chinese influence in developments in the Himalayan area in the crucial period between 1788 and 1793 was closely linked with the changes in the political leadership in Tibet, Nepal and India in the period between 1780 and 1788. In Tibet, the Panchen Lama died and was succeeded by an infant, and the Dalai Lama at Lhasa finally reached his majority. In Nepal, power had been concentrated in the hands of the Regent, Bahadur Shah, whose approach to foreign policy and commerce varied in certain respects from that which had charaterized Nepali Councils of State since the time of Prithvi Narayan Shah, who for the first time, had brought the entire central Himalayan hill area under his sole control. In India, the energetic and imaginative Hastings, had been replaced as Governor-General by Lord Cornwallis, a man whose interest in events to the north was sporadic and minimal.<sup>18</sup>

The arrival in Kathmandu, of the Ninth Karmapa Lama, the Shamar Trulku, an important Tibetan religious-political leader in the spring of 1788 was the catalyst that set in motion a whole series of events during the next five years. The Lama's connections with various political and religious elements in Tibet, amply evidenced by the role he played in negotiations between Nepal and Tibet in 1789, provided Nepal with an unprecedented opportunity to intervene in the internal dissensions then prevalent in Tibet. The Nepali invasions of Tibet in 1788 and 1791 were not merely conflicts between Nepal and Tibet nor were they only raids aimed at the seizure of loot. More fundamentally they constituted an intervention in Tibetan politics and an attempt by the Gorkhalis to support those Tibetan political factions whose interests were most closely aligned with those of Nepal. Nepal may even have hoped to replace the Qing dynasty as the nominal suzerain of Tibet.<sup>19</sup>

Other considerations also induced Bahadur Shah to assume the risks inherent in any venture against Tibet. He must have considered it unlikely that China would interfere directly in any dispute between Nepal and Tibet, except possibly as a mediator insisting that the Chinese rights and interests be respected. Nearly 40 years had passed since the last vigorous intervention by Beijing in Tibet, and the Chinese officials in Lhasa had been comparatively quiscent during the minority of the Eighth Dalai Lama, i.e., since 1758. Moreover, Bahadur Shah, must have felt that the Himalayan barrier between Tibet, and Nepal, as well as the great distance any Chinese army would have to travel and over which supplies would have to be brought, made it unlikely that even the Manchus, could launch a successful attack against Gorkha's home base. Under these circumstances, the Regent was confident that the attack against Tibet could be launched with relative immunity to effective retaliation.

In the spring of 1788, a Tibetan monk arrived in Kathmandu on a pilgrimage, and King Rama Bahadur Shah took the advantage of his visit to send letters to Tibet demanding a devaluation of the debased Malla currency and protesting about the quality of salt imported from Tibet. Nepal threatened to seize the four border districts of Tibet in the Kuti and Kirong pass areas and to hold Shamar Trulku as a hostage if it did not receive satisfaction on these questions. Rejection of these demands by the Tibetan Kashag (cabinet) and the closing of the trade routes between the two countries by Tibet as a protest led to the Nepalis' invasion of Tibet. The Nepalis forces brought the four border districts-Nyanang (Kuti), Rongshar, Kirong and Dzongka (Jhunga)- under their control. The invasion of Tibet placed the various contending political groups in Tibet in a painfully complex position. The officials at Tashilhumpo, led by Regent Drungapa Trulku, were caught in a swirl of contending and contradictory interests. In view of Shamar Trulku's role, they viewed the Gorkhali invasion with considerable apprehension because it constituted a challenge to the political and religious hegemony of the yellow sect in Zang

province. But to turn to Lhasa for assistance was dangerous, particularly in view of the prevailing situation with a minor Panchen Lama at Tashilhumpo and a Dalai Lama who had reached his majority at Lhasa. Furthermore, an appeal to Lhasa for assistance meant ultimately an appeal to China. This also was likely to result in a diminution of Zang's limited autonomy in its relations with Lhasa, considering Beijing's policy of utilizing the instrument for the extension of its own influence throughout Tibet. In the circumstances Drungpa Trulka appealed to the British to send an army against the Gorkhali, but drew a blank from Cornwallis.<sup>20</sup> The Beijing Court had been informed of the Negali intrusion into Tibet by the Chinese Amban (President) at Lhasa, Shu-lien, but apparently in rather ambiguous terms. The emperor ordered his aide-decamp, General Fa Zhong, and the Governor of Sichuan, Ao-lin, to proceed to Tibet to investigate the situation. An advance detachment of 2,000 men under Cheng De reached Lhasa in early 1789. At the Chinese commander's request, the Kashag deputed one of the Kalars (ministers), Tenzin Paljor Doring to accompany the detachment to Zang Ba Zhong, and other Chinese officials in Tibet hoped to settle the dispute by negotiation. They pressed for talks with Nepal. A connection was established with Shamar Trulku, who suggested that they come to Kirong along with a representative of the Dalai Lama for talks with him and a Nepali delegation. Kalon Doring was instructed to act on Chasa's behalf in these talks. The talks resulted in the signing of a treaty on 2 June 1789. The treaty inter alia, provided that Tibet would pay to Nepal an annual tribute of Rs. 57,000.21 The Beijing Court, however, was never informed of the terms of the 1789 treaty.<sup>22</sup> Ba Zhong merely reported that he had obtained a promise from the Gorkhalis to withdraw from Tibetan territory and never to attack Tibet again, and that Nepal Darbar desired to send a mission to Beijing to present their submission to the Emperor. He also mentioned, in passing, that Tibet had assumed an obligation to pay Nepal a certain sum, each year, but classified this as "land-rent" rather than a tribute. The Nepali mission that visited Beijing in 1789-90 never mentioned the terms of the treaty to the court officials of the Emperor during the four audiences they were granted. Apparently, the Nepalis shared the apprehensions of the Tibetans with regard to the reactions of the Court, were it to learn of the treaty provisions. That these fears were justified is demonstrated by Qian

Long's scornful rejection of the rationalization offered in defence of the treaty once he had learnt of its existence.<sup>23</sup>

the Nepali delegation to China was received with full honours by the Chinese Court. Gifts from the Nepali Raja were presented to the Chinese Emperor and more valuable gifts were given to the delegation in return, for presentation to the Raja. The Manchu title of Erdeni Wang (Brilliant King) was granted to Rana Bahadur, and the Regent Bahadur Shah received the Chinese title of Gong (Duke).

Tibet's refusal to comply with the terms of the 1789 treaty prompted the Nepalese to mount a second attack on Tibet. In 1791, the Nepalese again occupied the four border districts and advanced as far as Shigaste and Tashilhumpo. They looted the Tashilhumpo treasury. The Manchu Court took this attack of Nepal as a grievous blow to the imperial prestige of China and despatched a strong contingent to teach a lesson to Nepal. In June 1792, they mounted a strong attack on Nepal and inflicted defeat on the Nepalese army. The Chinese attempt to take over Kathmandu and compel the Nepalese to accept a treaty on the severest of the terms, however, was foiled by the climatic factors of difficult weather and unsurmountable terrain. The Chinese General, Fu Gang-an, felt constrained to persuade Nepal to agree to the terms that were not so humiliating. The treaty of 30 September 1792, inter alia, provided that the 1789 treaty would be scrapped, the Nepalese would maintain a fraternal relationship with Tibet and send five-yearly missions to the Beijing Court. The obligation was faithfully carried out until 1852. Between 1852 and 1866 no mission was sent due to ill treatment meted out to these missions by Tibetans, on their way to Beijing through eastern Tibet.

After 1866 Nepal sent missions to China in 1877, 1886, 1894, 1906 and 1908. Finally in 1911, the missions were discontinued by Nepal. In return for the tribute Nepal received rich goods from the Chinese Emperor. The tributary missions did not mean Nepal's subjection to Chinese political control. China never claimed direct control over Nepali policies, although Nepalese paid deference to her great name and power. Nepal's relations with China were never the same as Tibet's relations with China. A Chinese garrison was stationed in Lhasa, whereas China had no such garrison posted in Nepal. By 1866, China's power in Tibet had decayed so much that it could not enforce its claim to suzerainty. Also there was danger of British India coming to the help of Nepal if China tried to reimpose its control. So the only reason for sending missions after 1866 was the valuable presents given by the Chinese Emperor. The periodical sending of an embassy to the Court of the Chinese Emperor was not a genuine sign of submission by the governments of the Frontier States. They paid little or no attention to Chinese orders. Nepali tributary states were like that of various other dependencies of China, such as Korea, Annam, Siam and Burma.<sup>24</sup>

These terms were by no means humiliating or catastrophic for Nepal; rather the war had little permanent impact on the country or on its military capacity. Nepal reverted to a policy, previously adopted by Prithvi Narayan Singh, under which a tenuous and non-threatening relationship with China was assiduously preserved and contacts with the British were reduced to the just minimum necessary to avert a complete severance of relationship. The Beijing Court also reassessed its policy toward Tibet, curtailed the autonomy of Lhasa and enhanced the power of the Ambans in Lhasa.<sup>25</sup>

In the post-1791 war period, the kernel of Chinese policy in Nepal was non-interference in Nepal's internal affairs or refusal to support one faction against the other. This was evidenced from the Chinese refusal to come to the rescue of Bahadur Shah when he was deposed by the King Rana Bahadur.<sup>26</sup> Thus, Nepal's relationship with China, though defined in terms of "vassalage" by Beijing, never held much political significance for internal Nepali politics. Very early, however, the Nepalese learned the value of an association with China, a deterrent factor in Kathmandu's periodic confrontations with the British. This was precisely the policy adopted by Nepal in the first half of the nineteenth century, whenever relations with the British reached a critical stage, the Nepalese did their utmost to dramatize their relationship with China to the British. But this was a clear distortion of their relationships as the experience of the 1789-92 wars had made it clear to China that the costs-financial, military and political-of intervention across the Himalayas would be prohibitive and should be best avoided in the future. Thus, China resorted to the policy of maintenance of status quo to the north of the Himalayas and avoidance of direct involvement in developments in the south

of the range. Obviously, then, Kathmandu was playing a losing game in its efforts to balance the Chinese against the British. But, it is surprising that several decades elapsed before the British fully comprehended the true character of China's interests in the area or realistically apprised China's military capacity. These events, therefore, had a strong influence upon British policy toward Nepal, and other hill areas to the south of the Himalayas, and was one factor that deferred their absorption into the British Indian Empire to the Chinese General that it was all fabrication of Nepal, and Nepal was castigated severely for this. The Chinese General even militarily demonstrated the displeasure of China by mobilising his small troops to strengthen the Tibet-Nepal border.

The withdrawal of the Chinese forces from Tibet in 1817 terminated this particular phase of Sino-British Indian relations, and not until about 50 years later did the Himalayan region once again figure prominently in the relations, between the Chinese and the British. The war with Nepal and the establishment of a British Residency at Kathmandu marked the re-emergence of the Company as an interested participant in trans-Himalayan developments. There was, however, a fundamental difference between British policy in Nepal in the post-1814 period and that of Warren Hastings' three decades earlier. Hastings' interest in Nepal had been primarily a reflection of a desire to open Tibet, and Western China to British commerce, and this policy carried within itself the seeds of dispute between the Company and Beijing. Such considerations, however, played no role in Calcutta's decision to resort to war against Nepal in 1814, nor did the Company even contemplate challenging China's predominant influence in Tibet, even indirectly, or altering the relationship between Nepal and China.

China's policy in these events was consistent with its border goals in the Himalayan region. Tibet was an integral part of the Chinese frontier-security system and Beijing was prepared to react to the limit of its capacity to any challenge to its authority there. Nepal fell within a different category, however, and was considered outside its border. In Beijing's view the Kathmandu Darbar was an independent power unbound by any restrictions on its capacity to act is both domestic and foreign affairs, except for its treaty obligations to dispatch periodic missions to China.

The brief episode in the history of the area demonstrated that

the Himalayan region was still only a potential source of conflict between China and British India.<sup>27</sup> Beijing was interested in the maintenance of a *status quo* so far as its own rights were concerned, but nothing more. The British were not disposed to challenge China's status in the area, at least until matters within India had been thoroughly and favourably settled. Thus, Nepal's foreign policy in the post-1814 period, based on the principle of balancing British and Chinese power, could have only limited success, and then only because of the British reluctance to take positive action rather than any real balance of strength between Nepal's southern and northern neighbours.

Between 1816 and 1846, the prestige and international reputation of the Qing dynasty suffered a setback due to its reversals in the Opium war and the incapability of China vis-a-via the British empire was crudely exposed. Jang Bahadur, who rose to power in Nepal in 1846,<sup>28</sup> was well aware of the rapid decline of Chinese power and recognized that distant Beijing was neither willing nor able to challenge the British in the Himalayan area. The stream of appeals that had been directed to Beijing since the time of Rana Bahadur were terminated abruptly after Jang Bahadur's appointment as Muktiyar. Seldom again did any Nepali official seriously contemplate the utilization of China as a counter-balance to British power, although Nepal's traditional relationship with Beijing was retained. One of the side effects of Jang Bahadur's rise to power in 1846 was the decision to cancel the quinquennial mission to Beijing scheduled to depart in 1847; but five years later Jang Bahadur decided to renew the customary missions to Beijing. A major consideration was the seething unrest then prevalent in China, which burst forth in the Taiping rebellion, a conflagration that was to tear China apart for nearly fifteen years. Nepal's interest required first hand knowledge of these traumatic developments in China. There were also important economic considerations behind the decision to renew the mission; missions to China always had a commercial as well as political character since they were allowed to carry commodities for trading purposes free of any duties or other restrictions.

China played a minor role in the Nepal-Tibet confrontation of the 1855-56, for Ch'ing dynasty itself was involved in a desperate struggle for survival against the Taiping rebels. In the peace negotiations between Nepal and Tibet the Chinese officials only ensured that Nepal still recognised and respected the Imperial authority of China, but conceded the clause by which Tibet agreed to give an annual tribute to Nepal.<sup>29</sup> The year 1856, thus marked a turning point in Nepali-Tibetan relations, or more precisely, the restoration of the essential features of their relations as it existed prior to 1792. The period from 1793 to 1853 had been of comparatively good relations between the two states. Tibet's foreign relations during that period were conducted largely through the Amban's office, which served both as a buffer between Kathmandu and Lhasa and as a mediator whose "good offices" were utilized by both governments whenever disputes arose. This system had virtually collapased by 1840, and it disappeared almost entirely after 1856. From that time on, both Tibet and Nepal functioned as independent states, and direct diplomatic relations between the two governments were re-established on their pre-1793 basis.<sup>30</sup> But the Tibetans became apprehensive of the increasing contacts between Nepal and China after 1860 and feared that it might lead to a de facto alliance under which Nepal would help China reassert its influence in Tibet in exchange for Chinese guarantees that Nepal's economic position in Tibet would be protected.

China also came to realise the strategic importance of Nepal as a buffer between China and British India when it came to know that the British were reviewing their policy of comparative aloof attitude towards the trans-Himalayan region. By 1860, British hoped to create a direct land route for trade, with Western China via Tibet.<sup>31</sup> This constituted a direct threat to Nepal's virtual trade monopoly in Tibet. China also became apprehensive of the British intention and was inclined to cooperate with Nepal in order to safeguard its vital interests in Tibet. Co-operation between China and Nepal was all the more necessary because the British were probing the possibility of finding an alternative route to Tibet via Bhutan and Sikkim in view of Nepal's steadfast opposition to allow any British expedition to Tibet through Nepal and by 1877 they had succeeded in completing a road through Sikkim up to the Jelep pass leading into the Chumbi valley.<sup>32</sup> The British interest also lay in recruiting more and more Gurkha in the Indian army. Bir Shamsher was in such a weak position politically after his succession to the Prime Ministership in 1885 that he was constrained to meet British demands on the recruitment question on the best terms possible. Despite their gratitude to Bir Shamsher concerning the recruitment matter, the British had been careful to provide a safe refuge to the remnants of the Jang faction. Thus, there was always the implied threat of British support to a Jang conspiracy against the Shamshers for a change of regime at Kathmandu suited to Calcutta's interests. Under these circumstances, Bir Shamsher considered it essential to strengthen relations with China. Bir Shamsher wrote in 1885 to the Chinese emperor to recognise the Shamshers, and in 1886, renewed the Periodic quinquennial missions to China.

At first, the British authorities attached little importance to the 1886 mission, but gradually they began to evince growing concern regarding the character of Sino-Nepali relations. This can be ascribed, in part, to the delicate negotiations then in progress between the British and the Chinese concerning Burma, Sikkim and Tibet and the possible effect a Nepali-Chinese alliance would have on the outcome of those talks. Calcutta decided that it was time to consider more fully the nature of Nepal's relationship which both India and China, and after repeated correspondence with Beijing, finally dismissed the subordination of Kathmandu court to the Qiang Emperor as a fiction, both *de jure* and *de facto.*<sup>33</sup>

The subsequent relations between China and Nepal were largely shaped by the forward policy of Lord Curzon in his dealings with Tibet. In this, however, the Chinese played the passive role; the actual dynamics being manoeuvered by the British, the Nepalese and the Russians. Lord Curzon's decision to directly interfere in Tibet to counter the Russian interests in Tibet was largely shaped by the suggestions given by Chandra Shamsher, who had come to power after staging a successful coup in 1901 against Deb Shamsher, the successor of Bir Shamsher. By the end of 1904, however, the British felt it imperative to reverse the "forward policy". The strain placed upon relations with both Russia and China by the sudden eruption of a dominant British influence to the north of the Himalayas constrained the British to withdraw from Tibet immediately.<sup>34</sup> The British next moved to reassure China and Russia. A convention was signed at St. Petersberg on 31 August 1907, in which both England and Russia recognized China's suzerain rights in Tibet and agreed: (1) to respect the territorial integrity of Tibet and to abstain from interference in its internal administration; and (2) to deal with Tibet only through the Chinese government as intermediary.<sup>35</sup> Thus

ironically, the only power involved in the 1903-5 proceeding that emerged with any tangible advantage was China which sent troops to Tibet and established far more control on Tibet than ever before in 1910.

The amazing success of the Chinese campaign in Tibet seems to have given rise to unrealistic expectations as to Beijing's capacity to adopt its own "forward policy" throughout the Himalayan regions. Indeed, as early as February 1907, the Junior Amban at Lhasa, Zhang Yin tang had written to Beijing regarding the urgency of strengthening relations with Nepal. The establishment of Chinese authority in Tibet in 1910 greatly increased the potential for the development of closer relations with both Nepal and Bhutan, whose ties with British Indian Empire were still ambiguous in some respects. British policy at this stage of developments was to allow China "practically complete control over Tibet, but to resist any Chinese attempt to interfere in south of the Himalayan crest. In a note to the Beijing government dated 26 February 1910, the British Government made this quite clear. In its reply, Beijing referred to Nepal as a "feudatory" of China. The Chinese Government adopted even stronger position in its note of 28 October 1910, which argued that Nepal has forwarded tribute to Beijing for years past and has long submitted to vassalage of China. In its reply, dated 17 January 1911, the British Government stated bluntly that it would act and advise the Nepalese Government to act, upon the assumption that Nepal was not a vassal but wholly independent of China. China refused to back down, however, and the British Government finally declared that they would be bound to resist any attempt on the part of the Chinese Government to impose their authority or in any way to intervene in either of these two states.<sup>36</sup> With the outbreak of the 1911, revolution in China and the expulsion of Chinese from Tibet, the question of Nepal became purely academic. But at no point during this period did the Chinese Government concede the independence of Nepal or the British Government's paramount authority there..

No one had been more embarrassed by the vacillating British policy towards the northern border in the 1905-10 period than Chandra Shamsher of Nepal. The Prime Minister had reversed Kathmandu's traditional policy discouraging direct British-Tibetan relations during the British offensive against Tibet, but none of the expected advantages with the very important exception of the improvement in Nepali-British relations—had actually materialized. The Chinese military campaign in eastern Tibet made a renewal of direct diplomatic contacts with Beijing authorities advisable, and Kathmandu, therefore, sought permission for the periodic mission to proceed to China. Beijing, which was also eager to improve relations with Nepal, agreed immediately.

Kathmandu did not appear to be greatly agitated by China's forward policy in Tibet in its early stages, and even perceived several possible advantages for itself. In 1907, for instance, Chandra succeeded in obtaining additional modern arms from the British, using the volatile situation in Tibet as his most persuasive argument. Nepal may even have felt that it had more to gain from a Chinese-dominated Tibet than from an autonomous government at Lhasa under strong British influence. The Tibetans suspected that Nepal wanted a Chinese presence in Tibet as a potential balance to British India.

Whatever Nepal's initial reactions to the Chinese move into Tibet may have been, the course of developments there eventually aroused apprehensions in Kathmandu. The Chinese were scarcely established in Lhasa before Chandra wrote to the British on 11 March 1910, asserting Nepal's unfettered right to protect its interests in Tibet.<sup>37</sup> The Kathmandu Darbar seems to have been genuinely offended at the presumptuous Chinese claim to suzerainty over Nepal, which Chandra Shamsher characterised as an unwarranted fiction. Perhaps the greatest disappointment to Chandra Shamsher was the fact that the position of Nepali traders in Tibet had not improved after the Chinese had assumed direct control over the Tibetan administration. There were some positive aspects to China's presence in Tibet, of course, particularly with respect to Nepal's relations with British India. For instance, Chandra Shamsher used the Chinese claims to Nepal in a series of manoeuvers aimed at extracting concessions from the British on issue that had ranked Kathmandu for sometime. These concessions included : (1) granting him the rank of ambassador during his visits to India or London, and (2) deletion of the reference to Nepal as a "native state" in the 1906 edition of the Imperial Gazetteer of India. But, government of India politely rejected these concessions explaining that Nepal's status lay somewhere between that of independent Afghavistan and the "feudatory status of India."38

But, the government of India granted some minor concessions to Nepal with respect to importation of arms and machinery to reassure Kathmandu regarding its Tibetan interests.

Whether Nepal would eventually have had greater success in its attempt to play off the Chinese against the British was never really put to test, for the 1911 revolution in China resulted in the abrupt expulsion of the Chinese from Tibet. Kathmandu's role in the struggle between Chinese and Tibetans in 1912 was of major importance, for the Nepalis vakili at Lhasa functioned as the mediator in the negotiations that led to the withdrawal of the Chinese forces. The diplomatic finesse employed by the Nepali vakili in these developments, more over, allowed Nepal to assist Tibet in ridding itself of the Chinese without at the same time unnecessarily antagonising the latter. Indeed, General Zheng Ye, the Chinese Commander, was so convinced of Nepal's goodwill that he wrote proposing a union of Nepal with the five affiliated races of China which, of course, Nepal politely declined.

The real question, however, was not a Nepal-China union, but whether the traditional relationship between the two states would be continued. Doubts over the wisdom of allowing Nepali mission to proceed to Beijing on a regular basis had been expressed in both Calcutta and Kathmandu even prior to the expulsion of the Chinese from Tibet. When the Amban suggested in mid-1911 that a Nepali mission will leave for China the following year, the British Resident informed China that this should be done only after consultations with the Government of India. The mission was first postponed and then cancelled, when Chandra, on British advice repudiated the Chinese interpretation of the significance of the mission and terminated the system. This constituted a formal abrogation of diplomatic relations between Nepal and China, and four decades passed before they were resumed.<sup>39</sup>

### **REPUBLICAN CHINA AND NEPAL**

The loss of Chinese control over Tibet after the 1911 revolution and China's preoccupation with its internal turbulence were the main factors inhibiting the establishment of close contacts between Republican China and Nepal. Records show that till the Communist take over in 1949, four missions were sent by China to Nepal in 1930, 1932, 1934 and 1946.<sup>40</sup> Nepal sent only one mission in 1946.

The Chinese Nationalist Government sent a special mission to Nepal in the middle of 1934 to present Juddha Shamsher the insignia of Pao-ting and Lun Chuan Sanching Xie (highest rank of General in the Chinese army). During the course of an informal conversation with the Chinese mission headed by C.P. liang, Chinese Consul General at Calcutta, Juddha declared that Nepal's second legation abroad would be established in Nanjing.<sup>41</sup>

Jiang Jie-shi sent the missions ostensibly to bestow Chinese titles on newly inaugurated Rana Prime Ministers. Reportedly, these missions also discussed issues of common interest, including the establishment of diplomatic relations, with the Nepali Government. Kathmandu, however, saw no particular advantage in this so long as China was excluded from Tibet, particularly as it might have embarrassed Nepal's far more important relations with both New Delhi and Lhasa.

In 1946, subsequent to the Nepalese realisation that the transfer of power was imminent in India, Nepal government, as a measure of preventing Indian intervention in Nepal in the postindependence period, decided to change its traditional isolationist policy and its principal corollary, the restriction of diplomatic relations to states with whom Nepal interacted directly on various levels. Kathmandu now moved to expand diplomatic contacts beyond the British-Indian-Tibetan relationship in 1946 when missions were sent to the United States and Nationalist China to test the response of those governments to the Nepalese overtures.

The Nepalese goodwill mission to China was sent in March 1946 under Major General Krishna Shamsher.<sup>42</sup> China reciprocated by sending a mission under Song Ling-shen, Private Secretary to Marshal Jiang Tie-sai. It arrived at Kathmandu in November 1946.<sup>43</sup> Nothing much, however, could be achieved from these more because of Jiang Jie-shi's preoccupation with his communist rivals rather than a lack of interest. Kathmandu made no further overtures to China at that time, but the advantage of diplomatic relations with Nanjing continued to intrigue the Ranas. The old Nepali theme, the use of China as a counterpoise to the ruling power in India, was now reviewed. But the communist victory in China in 1949 came as a damper to Nepalese intentions and Nepal had to withhold its initiative in furthering relations with China till it ascertained the policy dispositions of the new regime at Beijing.

#### NOTES AND REFERENCES

- Huang Sheng-chang, "China and Nepal", People's China, 1 May 1956, p. 8.
- 2. Ibid., pp. 8-9.
- 3. Ibid., p. 9.
- 4. Leo E. Rose, Nepal : Strategy for Sarvival (Berkeley, 1971), p. 11.
- 5. Ibid.
- 6. Huang Sheng-chang, n. 1, p. 9.
- **7**. Ibid.
- 8. *Ibid*.
- 9. Da-Tang Xidu zhu, Buddhist Records of the Western World (in the Great Tang period) by Yuan Zhuang, Record of a Visit to the Five Countries of India, by Hui Zhao. See Ibid., n. 1, p. 9.
- 10. Huang Sheng-chang, n. 1., p. 9.
- 11. Rose, n. 4, pp. 10-11.
- 12. Charles Bell, Tibet : Past and Present (Clarendon Press; Oxford, 1924), p. 231; also see D.R. Ragmi, Ancient Nepal (Calcutta, 1960), p. 214.
- 13. L. Petech, Medieval History of Nepal (Rome, 1958), p. 210.
- 14. Radhakrishna Choudhary, "Nepal and the Karnatas of Mithila (1097-1500 A.D.)," Journal of Indian History, XXXVI, 1 April 1958, p. 130.
- 15. Rose, n. 4, pp. 10-15.
- 16. Ibid., p. 15.
- 17. Rose, n. 4, p. 15; also see Asad Husain, Biritish India's Relations with the Kingdom of Nepal, 1857-1947 (George Allen Ltd., London, 1970), p. 257.
- 18. For details see, Kirkpatrick, W., An Account of the Kingdom of Nepal (Being the substance of observations made during a mission to the country in the year 1793) (Delhi), Reprinted, 1969, pp. 349-52.
- W.W. Rockhill, The Dalai Lamas of Lhasa and Their Relations with the Manchu Emperors of China 1644-1908 (Oriental Printing Office, Leyden, 1910), Reprinted from the Tong bao, series III, Vol. 1, no.1, p. 52.
- 20. W.W. Rockhill, Diplomatic Audiences at the Court of China (Luzae and Co., London, 1905), p. 52.
- 21. Ibid.
- 22. *Ibid.*, p. 51.
- 23. For detail account of the 1789 Nepal-Tibet War, see, Rose, n. 4, pp. 35-49; also see Asad Husain, n. 17, pp. 257, 59.
- Lee Daniel, Jr., "Nationalist China Reestablishes Relations with Kingdom of Nepal," China Weekly Review (Shanghai), Vol. 55, 27 December 1930, pp. 148-49; also see, Jenkins Lee, "Chinese Mission to Nepal," China Weekly Review (Shanghai), Vol. 70, 17 November 1934, p. 400; Asad Husain, n. 17, pp. 259-60.
- 25. For detailed account of Nepal-Tibet War of 1791-92, see Rose, n. 4, pp. 50-57, and Asad Husain, n. 17, pp. 257-59.
- 26. Rose, n. 4, pp. 71-72.
- 27. For detailed account of the Anglo-Nepali conflict and China's role in it. see Rose, n. 4, pp. 75-95.

- 28. John King Fairbank, The Chinese World Order: Traditional China's Foreign Relations (ed.) (Cambridge, 1968), p. 195; also see Asad Husain, n. 17, pp. 262-63.
- 29. Ibid., p. 195.
- 30. For details, see Rose, n. 4, p. 122.
- 31. Ibid., p. 134.
- 32. Ibid., p. 137.
- Foreign Office Notes, Foreign Secret—E, (National Archieves of India), nos. 27-8, August 1889; also see Asad Husain, n. 17, p. 270.
- See Convention signed between Britain and Tibet at Lhasa on 7 September 1904 in Datai Lama XIV, The International Position of Tibet (1959), pp. 34-36.
- See, Convention signed between Great Britain and Russia on 31 August 1907. Ibid., pp. 39-46.
- 36. See, Rose, n. 4, p. 163.
- 37. *Ibid.*, p. 165.
- 38. *Ibid.*, p. 166.
- **39.** *Ibid.*, p. 167.
- 40. *Ibid*, p. 179.
- 41. Lee Jenkins, n. 24, p. 400; also see Bal Chandra Sharma, Nepal Ko Aitihasik Roop Rekha (Benaras, 1951), p. 362.
- 42. Time (New York), "Nepal : Goodby to All That," 12 May 1947, p 38.
- 43. *Ibid*.

#### CHAPTER II

# DYNAMICS OF POLITICAL RELATIONS BETWEEN CHINA AND NEPAL

The political relations between Communist China and Nepal have witnessed many ups and downs during the period 1949-78. The dynamics of such relationships have been shaped by the typical geographical location of Nepal, India's role in Nepal as also by the internal developments within the two countries—China and Nepal. This chapter starts with a discussion of the geographical constant in the Sino-Nepalese relations and goes on to narrate the developments and their determinants in the various phases of the relations between the two countries.

#### THE GEOGRAPHICAL CONSTANT

China and Nepal are geographically contiguous. China's contact with Nepal was really through Tibet and for much of the time China's own presence in and control over Tibet was very tenuous, which presupposes that the interaction between the two countries ought to be intense irrespective of the nature of relationship. However, the history of Sino-Nepalese relations runs counter to this presumption. China and Nepal had fewer interactions than would be expected of two countries bordering each other. By and large, China followed a policy of indifference with her relations with Nepal. Direct interaction between Imperial China and Nepal had been occasioned by matters involving Tibet and Nepal.

Geographical factors were the most important constraints in the development of continuous interaction between China and Nepal.

Nepal is a landlocked state situated on the southern slopes of the central Himalayas. On three sides (East, West and South), she is surrounded by India. The Tibetan region of China borders the north. However, differences in the geographical features between the Indo-Nepal and the Sino-Nepal broders have made it obligatory on the part of Nepal to follow different policies with her two neighbours.<sup>1</sup>

#### SINO-NEPALESE BORDER

Nepal is separated from China by the lofty Himalayas and the huge arid tableland of Tibet having an average altitude of 15,000 feet. The nature of the terrain makes communication difficult Tracts of overland communication are limited to the passage provided by the mountain passes. There are about eighteen pass areas in the central Himalayas range that can be used as channels of communication between Nepal and Tibet. The two most important, however, are the passes leading to the Tibetan border trading centres of Kirong and Kuti, which have given rise to controversy between the two countries for several centuries. Formed by rivers that have their source in the Bhairab Langur range to the north of the crest of the Great Himalayas, these passes are two of the best in the entire border area because they are low in Himalayas (13,000 to 14,000 feet) and are usually not totally impassable in winter. The altitude of other passes in the central Himalayas, on the other hand, is more than 17,000 feet, and they are invariably snow bound for several months of the year. They are, consequently, of limited utility, as trade channels-except for the local inhabitants on either side of the passes-and moreover they are not as important strategically.

For sound economic and strategic reasons, therefore, it was a long major objective of Nepali foreign policy to establish Nepal's authority over the Kirong and Kuti areas up to the watershed, that is, the Bhairab Langur range. Except for several brief periods, however, Kathmandu was frustrated in that aim by the Tibetans, at times assisted by the Chinese. Indeed, the border in both areas does not even reach up to the summit of the passes in the Himalayan range, but rather lies half way down the southern slope at about 6,000 feet. As a result, the Tibetans (and now the Chinese) have controlled not only the pass areas but also the approaches to the passes from the south, and thus have had a decided advantage in the several local wars that have been fought in these areas during the past three centuries. Thus, the lofty and inaccessible Himalayas had insulated Nepal from any large-scale political, social and cultural invasion by China. The logic of geographical factors prevailed in the Chinese policy of a global indifference towards Nepal during the earlier historical period. On the contrary, the same geographical conditions have also made it imperative on the part of Nepal to be in closer contact with India.

### INDO-NEPALESE BORDER

Unlike the Sino-Nepalese border, there is no natural frontier between Nepal and India; rather the former is a geographical extension of the latter as is evident from the contiguity of their settlements. Nepal's border on the south is contiguous to the Indian plains, and the natural barriers and mountains and rivers (the river Kali on the west and the Tista on the east) extend into Indian territory. The Terai which extends all along the Indo-Nepalese border and which was considered a barrier to communication between India and Nepal is no more considered so because of the clearing of jungle in this region. Because of the easier accessibility, mobility is quite frequent between the people of Nepal and India.

Apart from the nature of border, certain other factors make it obvious for Nepal to be in constant contact with India. The fact that Nepal is a landlocked state having her only outlet to sea through the Calcutta port obligates Nepal to remain in constant touch with India for overseas trade and transit facilities.

Within Nepal, the dominant topographic features are the complex river drainage system which cuts through the country in a generally north-south direction, and the three mountain ranges the Himalaya, Mahabharat, and Siwalik—which lie along on eastwest axis. The three principal river systems—the Karnali, Gandaki and Kosi—all have their sources in Tibet, and enter Nepal through spectacular gorges that bisect the Himalayas. South of the Crest, they are joined by innumerable tributaries, some of them glacial in origin, and eventually make their way down to the plains, where they merge with the Ganges. This river system, with its deep gorges and rugged transverse ridges, vastly complicates east-west communications in Nepal. Western and Eastern Nepal, as such, are more easily accessible from India than from Kathmandu with obvious political and economic consequences.

### STRATEGIC BUFFER

Nepal is sandwiched between two giant countries and is strategically located to play the role of a buffer. During the British period when Tibet was autonomous from China and British power extended beyond the Himalayas---Tibet (not Nepal) played the role of the buffer. But with the rise of China as a power and her occupation of Tibet, Tibet ceased to serve the role of a buffer. China's frontier was extended up to Nepal. India's interest in Nepal became important because the five hundred-mile long Nepal-Tibet border, which was also the main natural defence line of India, had now been exposed. The threat to India's security became real because the Himalayas on the north of Nepal could be penetrated in quite a few passes. India has an open border with Nepal and the latter's northern border runs along the Tibetan frontier; therefore, if Nepal falls under the occupation or influence of China or any inimical power, the entire Indo-Gangetic plain would be gravely exposed. It is in this respect that Nepal occupies an important strategic position in India's northern security system. Jawaharlal Nehru had highlighted the point by observing in the Parliament on 6 December 1950 :

... Apart from our sympathetic interest in Nepal, we are also interested in the security of our own country. From time immemorial, the Himalayas have provided us with a magnificent frontier. Of course, they are no longer as impassable as they used to be, but they are still fairly effective. We cannot allow that barrier to be penetrated because it is also the principal barrier to India.<sup>2</sup>

The strategic significance of Nepal is indisputable. However, the role of Nepal as a buffer has serious limitations. Since the main Himalayan range lies to the north of Nepal, it is the Himalayas and not Nepal that demarcate the frontier between China's Tibet and India. Since there is no natural frontier between India and Nepal, the latter, in spite of its separate political entity, remains geographically a part of India and cannot be excluded from its defence parameter. Besides this, a buffer state should, physically, be so viable as to be able to survive the pressure of external subversion. The physical depth of Nepal is too narrow to serve the purpose of an ideal buffer. However, despite these limitations, both the countries have never lost sight of Nepal as a buffer and both would want Nepal continue playing this role.

It is to be always remembered that the location of Nepal has always weighed heavily in the post-liberation strategic thinking of China.

### THE BEGINNING

Apart from this constant factor of the geostrategic location of Nepal, the dynamics of Sino-Nepalese relations has also been influenced by other factors as well. The relationship between the two countries could not start in a normal manner after the Communist victory in China. The thinking and activities of the Communist leadership were partly responsible for inhibiting the growth of normal relationships. Mao Zedong had once listed Nepal as one of the "dependent states" the British had seized from China.<sup>3</sup> Reminiscence of these historical claims along with the Communist Chinese steps in 1950-51 to impose China's historical claim to Tibet<sup>4</sup> raised apprehensions in Nepal. It was only logical on the part of Nepal to think that Nepal could come within the purview of the Chinese expansionist policy. Nepal also did not feel any necessity of diversifying its relations because there was general satisfaction about the way India maintained her relations with Nepal after the British withdrawal.<sup>5</sup> In this case, contrary to the apprehension of the Nepalese that Indian political leaders might take steps to integrate Nepal in the Indian territory, the relationship was maintained on the basis of acknowledging sovereign status of Nepal. Of course, opposite political factions expressed the feeling that an appeal for Chinese help was not completely out of their mind. In 1949, the opposition leader D.R. Regmi argued that "if the Government of India adopted a policy of helpful co-operation with the Ranas on the plea of counteracting Communist infiltration from the north, the Nepali people in frustration would be compelled to seek support from their northern neighbour in the struggle against the Ranas."<sup>6</sup>

If it was the Nepalese satisfaction with the post-independence India's attitude towards Nepal that prompted the Nepalese to think that opening of relations with China was not necessary, the same was necessitated by the dissatisfaction with some of the policies of India. The Nepalese were particularly critical of the manner of functioning of C.P.N. Singh, the Indian ambassador in Nepal 7 the decision to send an Indian military mission to reorganize and train the Nepalese army,<sup>8</sup> and the activities of the Indian advisers in the Nepal Secretariat.<sup>9</sup> The propensity of Nepali high officials, including King Tribhuvan and most of the ministers, to visit New Delhi for advice during Nepal's periodic political crises, was another cause of resentment among the Kathmandu public.<sup>10</sup> The Indian economic aid programme also became a subject of controversy in Nepal.<sup>11</sup> The three occasions in the 1951-53 period in which Indian army or police units were sent into Nepal at the request of the Nepali Government to control the activities of "lawless elements"<sup>12</sup> also contributed to the deterioration in relations between the two countries.

Along with the steady growth of anti-Indian sentiments in Nepal, the emergence of China as a major participant in the politics of the Himalayan area fostered the growth of a feeling among some Nepalese that China could be a counterfoil to what the Nepalese regarded as Indian attempt at paramountcy. By late 1951, a number of prominent Nepali leaders were already beginning to demand that as an integral part of Nepali foreign policy, diplomatic relations with China be established.<sup>13</sup>

Against such feelings there was the Indian cautionary advice rushing into diplomatic relations against with China.14 Kathmandu's disinterest in this question in the 1951-54 period was also due to several other considerations as well. Foremost among these was the Nepalese apprehension regarding the Chinese expansionist intention consequenced by the Chinese offensive in Tibet. The flight of Dr. K.I. Singh and a number of his followers to Tibet after the collapse of the January 1952 abortive coup further complicated Nepal's relations with China.<sup>15</sup> Fears were expressed in Nepal that the volatile K.I. Singh would be used by the Chinese to mount a Communist Guerrilla War in Nepal.<sup>16</sup> There was also the question of China's attitude towards Nepal's rights in Tibet under 1856 treaty. The Chinese instruction to Dalai Lama to cancel the annual payment to Nepal in 1953,<sup>17</sup> and the withdrawal of the right of the Nepali vakil at Lhasa to hear cases involving Nepali subjects in Tibet, were responsible for the

Nepalese doubt, regarding the Chinese intention of accommodating the Nepali rights in Tibet. It was only a few weeks before the signing of the Sino-Indian treaty of 1954 that M.P. Koirala had declared that his government did not intend to surrender Nepal's rights in Tibet under the 1856 treaty.<sup>18</sup>

The conclusion of the Sino-Indian Treaty of 1954 and the Indian recognition of Chinese suzerainty over Tibet<sup>19</sup> sealed the fate of the Nepalese rights in Tibet. Subsequent to the signing of the Sino-Indian Treaty, Nepal was advised by India to place her own relations with Tibet on a new basis conforming in general to the terms of the Sino-Indian Treaty.<sup>20</sup> Confusion, however, persisted as to whether this meant that Kathmandu should merely revise its treaty relations with Tibet or should also establish diplomatic relations with China. As late as 5 September 1954, D.B. Regmi was still denying press reports that the M.P. Koirala Government was considering "normalizing" relations with the Beijing regime.<sup>21</sup> Three weeks later, however, he welcomed Premier Zhou Enlai's statement that China was prepared to exchange diplomatic representation with Nepal, and said that "we are willing to give serious thought to the proposal whenever it reaches us."22 There was a further delay at this point however, as Nepali-Chinese relations constituted one of the subjects for discussion between Nehru and Zhou Enlai during the Indian Prime Minister's state visit to China in October 1954. After the visit, Nehru gave the green light to Nepal to undertake serious discussions with Beijing on this subject.<sup>23</sup> Negotiations between the Chinese and the Nepali Ambassadors in New Delhi started the following month.

Thus, by the end of 1954, a number of developments were already underway that were to have a tremendous impact on Sino-Nepalese relations. The pace of change, however, proved to be much faster than either party contemplated. In early stages, at least, this was not due to initiatives on the part of China but to changes within Nepal stemming from the death of King Tribhuvan on 13 March 1955, and the succession to the throne of King Mahendra. The new ruler of Nepal proved to be a very different man from his father, both temperamentally and with regard to his views on Nepal's role in the international community.

The withholding of initiative on the part of Communist China in opening a positive relationship with Nepal in this period of 1949-54 was the result of various factors concerned with the

direction, determinants and limitations of the general foreign policy approach of liberated China.<sup>24</sup> Even though the new Communist Republic with a bubbling revolutionary enthusiasm was forthright in pledging to undo the "misdeeds of the capitalistimperialist powers", the fact that the Communist regime was new to the international community, put sufficient fetters on the Chinese intentions. With her involvement in Korean War and Tibetan affairs, China surely could not have afforded to take up another issue in mounting an offensive in Nepal. China appeared to indirectly acknowledge Nepal as the Indian sphere of influence,<sup>25</sup> and thought it wise not to antagonize India by meddling in Nepal. For that would surely have given a setback to the Chinese intention of cultivating friendship with neutral Asian and African states and of creating enough goodwill in the international community to politically offset the American containment policy.

### ESTABLISHMENT OF DIPLOMATIC RELATIONS

The talks in late 1954 between the Nepali and Chinese ambassadors in New Delhi regarding diplomatic relations ended inconclusively.<sup>26</sup> A six-man delegation, headed by the Chinese Ambassador in India, General Yuan Zhuangxuan, was, therefore, sent to Kathmandu in late July 1955 for talks with the Nepali government.<sup>27</sup> After five days of intensive and secret negotiations, an agreement was reached on 1 August 1955 which called for diplomatic relations between the two states based upon the five principles of peaceful co-existence.<sup>28</sup> The Chinese Ambassdor in New Delhi was accredited to Nepal but, in conformity with Indian wishes, a resident embassy was not established in Kathmandu at this time.<sup>29</sup>

Appointment of Tanka Prasad Acharya, a known leftist with anti-Indian proclivities, as Prime Minister by King Mahendra on 27 January 1956 was indication enough that Nepal was becoming serious about the diversification of her foreign policy. Acharya gave vent to this in his first press conference itself.<sup>30</sup> Response to this policy from the Chinese government was equally enthusiastic. The Chinese Ambassador to India and Nepal, General Yuan Zhuangxuan arrived in Kathmandu for a four-day visit on 3 February 1956 to extend economic assistance to Nepal.<sup>31</sup> The Nepalese Prime Minister expressed his appreciation for this "friendly gesture" and stated that his government would soon take up with Beijing the question of Nepali-Tibetan relations and the demarcation of the northern border.<sup>32</sup> Official missions were exchanged between Nepal and China shortly thereafter, Vice Premier Ulanhu representing Beijing at King Mahendra's coronation in May 1956<sup>33</sup> and Balchandra Sharma heading a Nepali delegation to China two months later.<sup>34</sup>

While in Kathmandu Ulanhu prepared the way for Sino-Nepali talks on Tibet, and a second Chinese delegation, headed by the new Ambassador to India and Nepal, Ban Zili arrived in Kathmandu on 14 August 1956.<sup>35</sup> Negotiations with Nepali Foreign Minister, Chuda Prasad Sharma, continued for approximately a month, culminating in the signing of a treaty on 20 September 1956.<sup>36</sup>

Towards the latter part of 1956, Sino-Nepalese relations witnessed rapid development. On 25 September, as a concession to Chinese sensitivity, the Nepali government imposed severe restrictions on mountaineering expeditions into the Himalayan range.<sup>37</sup> The next day, Tanka Prasad Acharya left on a ten-day tour to China,<sup>38</sup> the first Prime Minister to visit a country other than India for nearly half a century. During his visit, an economic agreement was signed between China and Nepal on 7 October 1956.<sup>39</sup>

During this stage of its interaction with Nepal, the Chinese authorities were careful to avoid any blatant and direct challenges to India's pre-eminent position south of the Himalayan Crest. Premier Zhou Enlai's visit to Kathmandu from 25 to 28 February 1957,<sup>40</sup> however, marked a significant change in Beijing's approach, for henceforth her concern for Indian sensitivities was considerably muted. The Premier's reference to the "blood ties between Nepal and China",<sup>41</sup> i.e., between the Chinese and those Nepali ethnic groups of Mongoloid origin-was quite disquieting to India, for the Chinese had now begun to compete openly with the Indians in the use of cultural and racial factors in influencing the Nepali public. Since that time, Chinese propaganda in Nepal has subtly encouraged the concept of "Bhotia Raj" (rule by the Bhotias or Mongoloids), particularly when directed at the Newar community in Kathmandu valley or the Limbu and Kirati communities in the eastern hills. That propaganda has taken various forms, including contributions to Newari cultural and philanthropic organizations and an emphasis on the supposed Buddhist ties between Chinese people and Nepali Bhotias.<sup>42</sup> The Chinese Buddhist Association, for instance, served as hosts to Nepali Buddhist delegations in 1959,<sup>43</sup> and also contributed Rs. 500,00.000 for a Buddhist hostel in Kathmandu<sup>44</sup> (which was inaugurated on the occasion of King Mahendra's birthday).

Foreign policy took a definite pro-China slant in the hands of Tanka Prasad Acharya. However, Acharya was only an instrument; the real policy-decision was taken by King Mahendra and it was King Mahendra who dismissed the Acharya ministry when he realised that Nepal had taken some hasty steps in its eagerness to develop relations with China and there was a need to balance Nepal's foreign policy.<sup>45</sup> Dr. K.I. Singh was appointed the Prime Minister and Nepalese attitude took a pro-Indian slant. Dr. Singh announced that China and Soviet Union would not be allowed to establish embassies in Kathmandu.<sup>46</sup> By late 1957, the Singh Ministry had become both a political embarrassment and a potential threat to the palace, and was suddenly dismissed from office on 14 November 1957.<sup>47</sup> King Mahendra introduced a period of direct rule and emphasized on the policy of diversifying beyond the immediate neighbours.

In 1959, three factors—the formation of first elected government under B.P. Koirala, the outbreak of a full-scale rebellion against Chinese rule in Tibet, and a major dispute between India and China over border issue—had profound impact on Sino-Nepalese relations. Koirala's government had distinct pro-Indian proclivities both because of ideological affinity with India and because Nepali Congress was aided and supported by India. The general political approach of Koirala government was democratic and unsympathetic to Communist ideology and communist regimes.

### UPRISING IN TIBET (1959)

The Khampa rebellion in Tibet and the Chinese steps to suppress the rebellion<sup>48</sup> evoked some sharp comments from Nepal and affected Sino-Nepalese relations in general. On 30 April 1959 i.e., after the election but before the B.P. Koirala government had taken office, two Nepali Congress General Secretaries, S.P. Upadhyaya and Ganeshman Singh criticized Chinese actions in Tibet and argued that the Communists had violated the 1951 Sino-Tibetan Treaty. They suggested that China should apply "the Leninist principle of self-determination to Tibet" and placed the Hungarian revolt of 1956 and the revolt in Tibet on the same footing.<sup>49</sup> This frankly critical appraisal of China's policy toward Tibet immediately raised questions concerning the foreign policy of the Nepali Congress government that was then preparing to take office.

B.P. Koirala clarified the party's position on 17 April when he stated that recent Tibetan developments "will affect our traditional relations with our great neighbour China". He, however, made it explicit that the Nepalese were quite worked up with the developments across the Nepalese border.<sup>50</sup> On 2 May 1959 the Nepali Congress adopted a resolution on Tibet which went even further in characterizing Chinese action in Tibet as within the "nineteenth century imperialist tradition" and asserted that "it would be a reactionary step if China tries to establish her sovereignty over Tibet on the basis of old standards."51 Two days later, B.P. Koirala told the party M.Ps. that his government's foreign policy would continue to be based on neutrality and non-alignment, but repeated that "China must unequivocally allow Tibet to exercise full autonomy within the 1951 Sino-Tibetan agreement."52 In taking such a stand Nepal was co-ordinating her foreign policy with India which becomes clear from the joint communique issued by the Prime Ministers of India and Nepal on 14 June 1959.53

Nepal's stand on the Tibetan issue was quite disconcerting to China, but the Chinese opted for a soft approach. The Chinese Ambassador to India and Nepal, Ban Zili, came to Kathmandu twice in 1959, in late May<sup>54</sup> and again in October,<sup>55</sup> for talks with Nepali authorities, ostensibly concerning economic assistance but actually in regard to Tibet. The practical problems affecting the Nepalese interest in the Tibetan rebellion were concerning the Nepal-Tibet trade. Nepal-Tibet trade suffered a setback because of the restrictions put on the movement of the Nepalese traders<sup>56</sup> and the declaration that the Chinese currency would be the only legal currency in Tibet.<sup>57</sup> After the initial euphoria subsided and Tibet came under the control of China, it offered suggestions to alleviate Nepalese feelings. Several Nepali subjects under detention in Tibet were released.<sup>58</sup> Most of the travel restrictions on Nepali traders were lifted,<sup>59</sup> and Beijing suggested joint Sino-Nepali talks on a new trade treaty.<sup>60</sup> The Chinese also announced that the new illegal Tibetan currency could be exchanged at face value for Chinese currency.<sup>61</sup>

Kathmandu on its part took some steps to improve relations with China. It supported Communist China's right to the seat in the United Nations.<sup>62</sup> Nepal also abstained from voting on a U.N. resolution condemning China's behaviour in Tibet.<sup>63</sup> A six-man Nepali Buddhist delegation was allowed to visit China at the invitation of the Chinese Buddhist Association.<sup>64</sup>

Nepal, however, was not exactly reassured of the Chinese intentions in the Himalayan region. In order to ascertain more clearly the objectives and policies of the Chinese Government, B.P. Koirala sent one of his closest associates, Dr. Tulsi Giri. to Beijing as the head of the official delegation to China's October celebrations.65 On his return Giri repeatedly stressed China's interest in a peaceful settlement of the dispute with India as well as its willingness to be "reasonable in its relations with Nepal."66 In his visit to China in March 1960, B P. Koirala implicitly criticized China for its policies towards India and Tibet.67 China, however, without being perturbed by such comments, set out to relieve Koirala's concern over the border situation. This was accomplished substantially through number of major Chinese concessions in the agreements reached with Koirala on the demarcation of the Nepal-Tibet border, additional Chinese economic assistance to Nepal,68 and decision to set resident embassies in Kathmandu and Beijing.<sup>69</sup> On 21 March 1960, both countries signed a boundary agreement providing for the appointment of a joint demarcation committee and a twenty-kilometre demilitarized zone on each side of the border.<sup>70</sup> To bring Nepal closer China also promised Rs. 100 million in aid in addition to the amount promised in the 1956 agreement.<sup>71</sup>

# QUESTION OF MOUNT EVEREST

This phase of relative stability in Sino-Nepalese relations was disturbed by almost an incidental issue involving Mount Everest. B.P. Koirala's casual remark about Chinese claim to Mount Everest<sup>72</sup> led to the first ever anti-Chinese demonstration in Kathmandu.<sup>73</sup> China, surprised by such a happening, took urgent steps to repair the damage. Zhou Enlai in his visit to Nepal in 1960 allayed the Nepalese apprehension and suggested that the issue be left to the joint demarcation commission.<sup>74</sup> However, the successful expedition of Chinese mountaineering team to conquer Mount Everest sufficiently demonstrated the Chinese intention about sharing control of the peak with Nepal.<sup>75</sup>

Nepalese feelings were further hurt by the Mustang incident of 28 June 1960 in which Chinese troops fired on an unarmed Nepali police party in the demilitarized zone in the vicinity of the Kore pass in the Mustang section of the Nepal Tibet border, killing one of the party and capturing seventeen others.<sup>76</sup> According to Chinese foreign ministry, the Chinese forces has mistaken the Nepali party for Tibetan rebels.<sup>77</sup> The incident caused considerable commotion in Nepal and was made a rallying point by anti-China forces of Nepal. Anti-China rally was held on 21 April<sup>78</sup> and to counter the effect, Nepalese Communist forces conducted a rally on the Gandak issue giving expression to anti-Indian feelings.<sup>79</sup>

There could have been more to the Mustang incident than was explained by both the countries in their exchange of letters.<sup>80</sup> It could have been staged by China to demonstrate its dissatisfaction with Koirala's criticism of Chinese policies as. also with his intransigence in not accepting the Chinese offer to build a road connecting Tibet with Kathmandu and establishing embassies in Kathmandu and Beijing.<sup>81</sup> However; one development was noteworthy. The Nepalese now perceived that the threat to Nepal was not only from India but could also be from China. This was a more realistic perspective on the part of Nepal. Koirala government took care not to endanger the future relations with China on the basis of incidental commotions. Before the Koirala ministry was dismissed on 15 December 1960,<sup>82</sup> the Chinese embassy was allowed to open in August 1960,<sup>82</sup> and the joint boundary commission met in September to inaugurate the boundary talks.<sup>84</sup>

### KING MAHENDRA'S POLICIES

The way Sino-Nepalese relations improved after the sudden dismissal of the Koirala government, provided enough substance for the view that it was King Mahendra who was really making the policy decisions in this regard and the roles of his Prime Ministers were only formal. The fact that Beijing discreetly maintained on the royal coup without any comment, and carried on the joint boundary demarcation work without any interruption<sup>85</sup> whatsoever was indicative of the disfavour that Koirala had incurred with Beijing and of the extent of satisfaction that Beijing got from such a change. It is also to be noted that Beijing's reaction was in sharp contrast to the reaction from India.<sup>86</sup>

King Mahendra's visit to China on 25 September 1961<sup>87</sup> and the net result of the trip demonstrated the change in Nepal was welcomed by China and the removal of Koirala had promoted the Chinese interests in Nepal. China signed a boundary agreement with Nepal on 5 October 1961,88 and on 15 October signed an agreement on the construction of a road between Tibet and Kathmandu.<sup>89</sup> The draft road agreement was presented to the King on the day before his departure and the Chinese insisted that the implementation of the boundary agreement depended on the signing of the road agreement. Thus, the way the agreement was signed, the amount of economic and strategic interests of China served by this road as well as the fact that Koirala had earlier rejected such a proposal were sufficient to indicate that it was the Chinese who took the initiative in this agreement and not the King as reported in the press.90 The King could not have possibly rejected such an offer because that would have earned the dissatisfaction of the Chinese which he could have hardly afforded because of the domestic opposition he was facing from the India-supported Nepali Congress.

### SINO-INDIAN BORDER DISPUTE

The period of one year intervening the King's return from China and the Sino-Indian hostilities of October 1962 was a period of stress for China, India as well as Nepal. And the outcome of the events occurring in the period had determining implications for China's relations with Nepal. The king's signing of the Kathmandu-Kodari road agreement was most disconcerting to India in the wake of her border disputes with China. The immediate implication was that China would have alternate supply routes to Tibet in the event of India closing the routes via Sikkim and Bhutan. The king was also clearly perturbed by the peaceful agitation of the exiled Nepalese Congress leaders operating from India. His attempts at persuading Nehru to disallow the agitation activity from India did not succeed, because Nehru evidently took the stand that "since Nepalese subjects enjoy full civil rights in India under the Indo-Nepalese Treaty of 1950, the Government of India cannot prevent peaceful political agitation by the exiled Nepalese Congress leaders from India."<sup>91</sup>

Nepali Government's notes to India became undiplomatic and almost abusive.<sup>92</sup> Nepal also tried to pressurize India by playing the China factor. On 31 January a spokesman of the Nepali Foreign Ministry announced that "unidentified aircraft" were dropping arms to Tibetan rebels in the Mustang area. The Nepali army was incapable of handling the well-armed Khampas on its own and, the spokesman declared, if the Chinese should feel threatened by the rebels and should demand the right to send troops into Nepal to bring the Tibetans under control, there was little that Kathmandu could do.<sup>93</sup>

Nepal also helped in boosting China's image in Nepal and denigrating India in several other ways.<sup>94</sup> Radio Nepal and the Government-controlled press deliberately gave detailed coverage even to minor cocktail parties and other functions organized by the Chinese Embassy and underplayed or ignored the activities of the Indian Embassy. The Government banned a popular weekly because it asked the Chinese to keep their hands off Everest. It reprimanded another for giving publicity to a highly popular show organized by the Indian Embassy.<sup>95</sup> On the other hand, the Royal couple and other members of the Royal family attended a function organized by the Chinese Embassy to celebrate the second anniversary of the Sino-Nepalese Peace and Friendship Treaty on 27 April.<sup>96</sup> China responded to the Nepali steps by expanding its establishment in Nepal. The strength of the officials in the Embassy rose to eighteen.<sup>97</sup>

On the other side, India attempted to pressurize Nepal by imposing in late September an unofficial and undeclared economic blockade of Nepal. A number of minor incidents on the border were used to rationalize a total interruption of trade relations between the two countries. For several days, the flow of essential commodities into Nepal was halted, although no formal ban was placed on their exportation. For Nepal it was a pretty grave situation and King Mahendra was placed in such a situation in which he would have had to make major concessions to the Indians and the Nepali Congress, for alternative sources of supplies were not available. Such desperation perhaps led to King's approach to China to take some demonstrative steps.

On 5 October 1962, simultaneously with the crisis in Indo-Nepali relations, the Chinese Foreign Minister, Chen Yi, told the audience at a banquet in Beijing to celebrate the first anniversary of the Nepali-Chinese boundary treaty that "in case any foreign army makes a foolhardy attempt to attack Nepal . . . China will side with the Nepalese."98 This assurance was repeated on 6 October.99 This assurance could hardly have comforted the Nepalese for what they were facing was diplomatic and economic pressure and not military threat. China's offer of military assistance, perhaps, was made in view of the escalating Sino-Indian border conflict rather than Indo-Nepali conflict. What, in fact, served Nepal best was the border war between India and China in the latter half of October 1962. With the reverses of the Indian army New Delhi hastened to make fundamental changes in its Nepal policy. The unofficial economic blockade was lifted, and trade began to flow across the border again. The Nepali Congress leaders, on the advice of the government of India, first suspended their agitation in November and then formally terminated it the following month. King Mahendra had survived both Indian economic pressure and a concentrated and determined assault by his major domestic opposition. And for all these the King was thankful to China.

#### 1962 : WATERSHED

For so many reasons 1962 could be regarded as a watershed in Sino-Nepalese relations. The relationship between the two countries after this period was carried along a new equation. This was a consequence of the changes in the regional power alignments subsequently to the Indian reverses in the Sino-Indian confrontation. India realised that it was no more possible to maintain Nepal as a dependent State and it accordingly changed its policy posture in favour of regarding Nepal as more equal. A common realisation on the part of the three countries was the strategic significance of Nepal and this prompted the two great neighbours to reinvigorate their political and economic policies to keep Nepal in good humour, thus giving rise to competitive diplomacy in Nepal. It was more than clear to Nepal that it was highly vulnerable to Indian economic pressure capable of administering a suffocating effect on Nepal. Along with it the realisation that the China factor, though effective in the political sphere, would be inoperative in situations of economic strain, had an inhabiting effect on Nepal's drift towards China. Nepal adopted a neutral posture towards its two neighbours, counterbalanced India with China and manipulated the triangular politics to its net advantage. For, hence forward both the Nepalese neighbours were eager to extend economic help to Nepal.

The developments in 1962 and their implications earned China a stronger foothold in Nepal. This by itself was a great achievement even if the factors operating against such prospect—historical, cultural, geographic and economic—were almost insurmountable. This was a credit to Beijing diplomacy. China took various steps to put it in an advantageous position in Nepal—it supported the Royal regime and apparently kept publicly aloof from the activities of the Nepalese Communist Parties which were anti-monarchy, it increased and diversified economic assistance to Nepal and it employed its propaganda machinery to convince the Nepalese of their good intentions in Nepal.

India's discomfiture at the hands of the Chinese in the fall of 1962 was generally believed to have given Kathmandu additional leverage in dealing with India. However, the Chinese aggression was never an unmixed blessing for Nepal. The Nepalese were fairly disturbed about the implications of Chinese victory for their own security and territorial integrity. This compelled Nepal to follow a balancing policy in the post-1962 period.

### 1963-1967 : PERIOD OF DIPLOMATIC FORMALITY

Even if the 1962 Sino-Indian confrontation gave China some advantage in Nepal, it refrained from taking any major offensive in Nepal. It respected Nepalese option of following a neutral policy in its relations with the two neighbours. There were even few instances in this phase when China informally advised Nepal to forge good relations with India. In June 1963, Premier Zhou Enlai told a Nepalese Press delegation, "We shall be very glad if Nepal has better relations with India than with China."<sup>100</sup> China apparently took no exception to Nepal's attempt at mending relations with India, and on certain occasions bowed out of some projects in Nepal in the face of Indian insistence and without making it an issue in the mutual relations between Nepal and China.

China's relationship with Nepal during this period was good but not intimate. Its behaviour towards Nepal was characterized by a certain amount of diplomatic formality. It scrupulously avoided criticism of any sort against the Monarchy and refrained from giving any open support to the Nepali Communist Party. This was done not because China did not have any sympathy for Communist movement in Nepal but due to various real political factors involving India-China conflict. At most of the banquets and other formal occasions the leadership of King Mahendra was praised; his efforts to push Nepal towards independent political and economic development were commended.<sup>101</sup> Nepalese support for China's claim to the seat in the United Nations was lauded by Chinese leaders.<sup>102</sup>

## MUTUAL DIPLOMATIC GESTURES

Diplomatic exchanges between the two countries were quite frequent during this period, although it was never exchanged at the highest level. Foreign Minister of Nepal and Crown Prince Birendra made visits to China.<sup>103</sup> But the King never went to China, neither did Zhou Enlai came to Nepal. This indicated that no new initiative or dimension was given to their mutual relations.

The number of delegations exchanged was unusally large. In January 1963, Vice-Chairman of Nepalese Council of Ministers, Tulsi Giri, paid a visit to Beijing to sign the Protocol of the Sino-Nepalese Boundary Treaty.<sup>104</sup> In October 1963, a Nepalese National Panchayat delegation made a tour of China under the leadership of Viswabandhu Thapa.<sup>105</sup> In October 1964, the Vice-Chairman of the Nepalese Council of Ministers, Surya Bahadur Thapa, went to China in response to an invitation from the Government of China.<sup>106</sup> From 30 March 1965 to 3 April 1965, Nepal.<sup>107</sup> the Chinese Foreign Minister, Chen Yi, visited Kirtinidhi Bista, the Nepalese Foreign Minister, led a delegation to China in August-September 1965. A protocol for the construction of a new road was signed during his visit.<sup>108</sup> Crown Prince Birendra undertook a three-week visit to China in summer 1966.109

Apart from these high-level visits, there were visits undertaken by a large number of minor delegations of political, commercial and social nature. These visits were given disproportionate publicity in the Nepalese and the Chinese Press. The Nepalese delegations were given very warm welcome. They were taken on extensive tours in the country and were received by important leaders. The impression that the delegations carried home served an important propaganda purpose for Beijing. The large number of unofficial visits made without any pressing need for them served the purpose of diplomatic gestures and cordial relations between the two countries.

### NOTES OF DISCORD

Notes of discord for once were conspicuous by their absence during this phase of Sino-Nepalese relations. Any sort of unpleasant happening was played down by both the parties.

In April 1963, Nepal Ahwan reported the settlement of large number of Chinese and Tibetans overnight in Kabali area of Tibet bordering Dhankutta district of Nepal. The weekly observed that the sudden move of the Chinese in the virtually inacessible, snow-clad area might have the intention of smuggling rice from Eastern Nepal districts to famine-stricken Tibet.<sup>110</sup> Another report stated that the Chinese troops had moved in large numbers and occupied areas in Suli Daran, Taley Daran, Segeydap, Chepuwa, Kama Khola of the north-eastern Dhankuta district of Nepal and confiscated herds of sheep and yak of Nepali tribals. These Chinese also claimed that those areas had been transferred to China under Sino-Nepalese treaty.<sup>111</sup> Nepal Government, however, took quick steps to announce that such reports were baseless.<sup>112</sup> Disagreement was also inherent in claims of both the countries on Mount Everest, but neither party pressed for any decision on this. There were also occasional criticisms in the Nepali press of the Chinese verbosity regarding its assistance in Nepal's industrialization.<sup>113</sup> China's intentions in showing unusual interest in road construction and Chinese technicians' behaviour at the Chinese projects. But nothing seemed sufficient to cause any serious trouble in their relations.

### CULTURAL REVOLUTION

In 1966, Communist China was engulfed in the Cultural Revolution-a movement declared launched to root out the socalled "capitalist roaders" from the Communist Party of China and weed out capitalist mode of thinking from the minds of the people. It was generally a movement of criticism and self-criticism. often taking violent forms and it caught the social, political, cultural and economic climate of China in a whirlwind.<sup>114</sup> The spillover effect of the Great Proletarian Cultural Revolution was also felt in China's external relations with China recalling its Ambassadors from all the countries except one. But the impressions of the Cultural Revolution in Nepal were more intense. The Chinese officials, workers and technicians in Nepal assumed Nepal to be an extended stage for the political high-drama. The overzealousness of the Chinese in Nepal in showing their support for the Mao-line had, however, a disturbing effect on the Sino-Nepalese relations. And it was the exercise of remarkable restraint on the part of the Nepalese Government that prevented the escalating effect of these disturbances.

With the launching Cultural Revolution in 1966, the Chinese personnel in Nepal engaged themselves increasingly in political work. Chinese propaganda was intensified to captute the minds of the Nepalese in the areas lying along the Kathmandu-Kodari Road, the Sunkosi Hydel Project, and the Kathmandu-Pokhara road becoming the special centres for such propaganda. A Nepalese translation of Mao's Red Book was widely distributed. Badges and buttons with Mao facsimile were also distributed free. Propaganda films were screened at the project sites. A Chinese cultural troupe that came to participate in the inaugural function of the Kathmandu-Kodari Road in May 1967115 stayed on for several weeks and presented the theme of the Cultural Revolution along the highway.<sup>116</sup> Pro-Chinese students of Tribhuvan University also used slogans taken from Mao's Red Book in their Students' Union election campaign.<sup>117</sup> A large number of officials of the Chinese Embassy in Kathmandu returned to China to study Mao Zedong's thought.<sup>118</sup> The post of Chinese Ambassador remained vacant for about two years after July 1967. Following Beijing's directive to all foreign students, about seventy Nepalese students returned to Nepal in October 1966.119 The Nepalese

government, however, was not perturbed by all these developments since by now, they had become accustomed to Chinese propagandist work. More important in the withholding of any action on the part of Nepal, perhaps, was their conviction that all those activities were not targeted against the Royal regime.

The second stage of Chinese activity in Nepal was, however, quite disconcerting to the Nepal authorities, for now the propaganda indirectly suggested Mao to be the leader of Nepal as well. Officials of the Chinese Embassy started embarrassing the government of Nepal, by villifying countries friendly to Nepal in formal functions. In a speech at the National Theatre on 29 January 1967, the Chinese Ambassador, Yang Gongshu condemned the so-called "US imperialists", "Soviet Revisionists", and "Indian reactionaries".<sup>120</sup> On 2 June 1967, reporting the inaugural ceremony of the Kathmandu-Kodari Road, the Beijing Review wrote that the Nepalese people shouted : "The great leader Chairman Mao is the red sun which shines most brightly in the hearts of the people of the whole world."<sup>121</sup> This, however, was a concoction and was purely for propaganda purpose, for no such slogan was shouted at the function.<sup>122</sup> Earlier, on 24 February, it carried a picture showing some Nepalese saluting a portrait of Mao.<sup>123</sup> It also published a poem, composed by a Nepalese journalist, acclaiming Mao : "Mao Zedong is not the leader of China alone. To us he is the leader of all exploited people."124

The worst incident of this period and the only incident to cause a public dispute in recent times occurred on 17 June 1967. On that day, approximately 200 Chinese Embassy officials and project technicians, led by the Ambassador, gathered at the Kathmandu airport to welcome two of "Mao's warriors" who had just been expelled from India. The crowd, disappointed when the two men were not on the flight from New Delhi, became unruly, shouting anti-Indian and pro-Cultural Revolution slogans.<sup>125</sup> This was repeated on 24 June when another batch of Chinese diplomats reached Kathmandu.<sup>126</sup> The Indian Government lodged a strong protest against this demonstration which Kathmandu reportedly, was assured that such incidents would not be repeated.<sup>127</sup>

The Nepalese press and public which were feeling restive by the earlier Chinese activities in Nepal<sup>128</sup> resented the happening at the airport in strong language. The *Motherland* condemned it as militating "against all cannons of diplomatic practice".<sup>129</sup> Despite all these the Nepalese Government refused to come out with a public statement on the event and the Deputy Prime Minister denied the events altogether.<sup>130</sup>

Such restraint, however, was not possible at the next event on 1 July 1967. On that date, in a "fun fair" organised at Kathmandu to celebrate King Mahendra's 48th birthday, a Chinese stall was attacked by a crowd of Nepali students who reportedly objected to the display of a large portrait of Mao with no accompanying picture of King Mahendra. After being dispersed by the police, the demonstrators moved toward the centre of the city, where they stoned a Chinese Embassy jeep and partially sacked the Nepal-China Friendship Association Library.<sup>131</sup>

On 5 July, the Chinese Ambassador lodged a "serious protest." A strongly worded New China News Agency report dated 9 July 1967<sup>132</sup> accused US, "imperialists", Soviet "revisionists" and Indian "reactionaries" of having instigated the Nepali "hooligans" who had perpetrated "this vile anti-China outrage". It also directly accused the Nepali authorities of having "approved and supported this anti-China outrage" and of having banned Nepalese people from wearing Mao buttons and carrying the Mao "quotations" handbook.

The following day, the Nepali Foreign Secretary protested to China about the "false and baseless reports" in the NCNA statement.<sup>133</sup> The Chinese reply of 21 July rejected the protest and repeated the charges.<sup>134</sup> This was the last that was heard of the incident in public, however, and later exchanges between the two governments were again restrained.

It is possible that the "fun-fair" incident was an event of discomfiture for the Chinese; however, it was not serious enough for the Chinese to adopt an openly critical attitude toward the Nepalese government. Perhaps this was a part of the general attitude of China toward countries like Burma and Cambodia with whom China exchanged angry notes during the radical stage in the Cultural Revolution. There is also the possibility that the Chinese government felt that a stage had been reached in Nepal where Kathmandu authorities required an indirect but pointed reprimand, such as that given to B.P. Koirala in 1960, to restore Nepali-Chinese relations to a more acceptable level. The tensions that developed between the two governments concerning the Mao buttons and similar questions, may seem minor in retrospect, but in the context of the Cultural Revolution they could have loomed large in Beijing's way of thought at that time.

Such a process of deterioration in Sino-Nepalese relations. however, was a passing phase. And as soon as the Cultural Revolution euphoria subsided both the countries showed keenness to restore normalcy in their relations. The mutual desire to compose differences found expression in the ten-day visit of the Nepalese Deputy Prime Minister, Kirti Nidhi Bista, to China on 24 May 1968, upon a well-timed initiation from the Chinese government. Bista was the first dignitary from a non-communist country to visit China after the Cultural Revolution. He was given an unusually warm welcome. Among those who met him were Mao Zedong,<sup>135</sup> Lin Biao, Zhou Enlai<sup>136</sup> and other top leaders who paid their usual compliments to King Mahendra and conveyed to him their country's readiness to give more assistance to Nepal. The Nepalese Deputy Prime Minister on his part assuaged Chinese feelings by praising the Cultural Revolution, commended China's attitude towards Nepal, and pledged support for the Chinese efforts to secure membership of the United Nations 137

### AFTER THE CULTURAL REVOLUTION

The post-Cultural Revolution Chinese policy towards Nepal was in essence a continuation of the policies of the post-1962 phase. China's main aim was to give support to the ruling elite and provide economic assistance. The main power in Nepal was the King and his position was critical due to the disagreement between his policy and the Nepali Congress. Under any condition the King wanted to preserve his power. China took advantage of this opportunity to help him. The other aim was to relieve Nepal of its dependence on India. Due to its geographical position, Nepal was important for China in the latter's dispute with India on the boundary question as well as in its competitive trade relations with her.

<sup>1</sup> The growing Chinese influence and an anti-Indian compaign in Nepal strengthened Beijing's position day by day. In May 1969, speaking on the occasion of the 9th anniversary of friendly treaty between China and Nepal, the Nepalese Prime Minister, Kirti Nidhi Bista said that Nepal-China friendship was based on five principles of peaceful coexistence. He further made it clear that "though we followed different political ideas and social systems, concerning the friendship, we have no issue between us".<sup>138</sup>

In July 1969, China appointed Wang Ze as its new Ambassador to Nepal. It may be recalled that the post was lying vacant since July 1967,<sup>139</sup> when the Chinese Mission had suddenly left for home in the wake of the Great Proletarian Cultural Revolution. The new Chinese Ambassador, while presenting his credentials to King Mahendra, assured him that his government would always stand on the side Nepal to safeguard its national independence and sovereignty.<sup>140</sup> Replying to the friendly gesture of the Ambassador, King Mahendra reiterated that Nepal always tried her best to get China its rightful place in the United Nations and she would continue her efforts in this direction incessantly.

On her own part, China left no stone unturned to discredit India. A commentator of *People's Daily* said that "the Chinese people support the people of Nepal in their just struggle against the Indian expansionists, and resolutely support the struggle waged by the people of all countries, that have been subjected to aggression, control, intervention, to bullying by U.S. imperialism, Soviet revisionism and the Indian expansionists."141 Once this Chinese support got full approval of the ruling circle of Nepal, Prime Minister Kirti Nidhi Bista lost no time in demanding through a writing in a local daily, Rising Nepal, that Indian operations should cease at Nepalese border checkposts.<sup>142</sup> He demanded the withdrawal of 40-member Indian military liaison group in Kathmandu and Indian wireless personnel (along Nepal's northern border) attached to checkposts.<sup>143</sup> Tokyo correspondent of The Hindu quoting "well-informed diplomatic sources" in the Japanese capital, said that one main reason behind Nepal Government's demand was the pressure brought by Beijing on Kathmandu for reciprocity in the matter of stationing border personnel. China, it is believed, demanded that if the Indian posts along China-Nepal border were to be continued, China should be allowed to operate her own border checkposts along the Indo-Nepal border, although this border has traditionally been an one without any military fortification. The open same

correspondent added that, according to other knowledgeable diplomatic information in Tokyo, China had not yet made such a demand but Kathmandu had decided to seek India's withdrawal in order to forestall a Beijing demand.

Meanwhile, in Nepal, an internal tussle was going on between the democratic forces and the King. China's Ambassador in Nepal, Wang. Ze took advantage of the growing antagonism, and indirectly hitting at India said that "the people of Nepal were ever protesting against foreign interference", but he did not elaborate this point.<sup>144</sup>

A section of the Nepalese press criticized the speech of Wang Ze. Objecting to China's remarks, the *Nepal Times* said that Nepal believed in her own policy despite Chinese reminders and added that two years ago Chinese had threatened "to break our skulls, yet we had not deterred from our path and the Nepalese vigorously opposed Chinese policy." The paper went on claiming that the Chinese had thought that they would make Mao Zedong the ruler of the Nepalese hearts and distributed Mao badges, Red Books and all other propaganda material throughout Nepal in large quantities to achieve their mischievous goal, but national pride led the Nepalese to nip in the bud the Chinese mischief.<sup>145</sup>

The paper further observed that just for being China's neighbour it was not necessary that the Nepalese should believe in the Chinese national doctrine that "power grows out of the barrel of the gun." It pledged to maintain Nepal's sovereign existence and threatened : "We will smash all such subversive activities, conspiracies and threats." The paper noted that the Chinese forces were hovering on the Russian, Mongolian, Burmese and Indian borders and on the "border of a peace-loving country like Nepal". Conceding that their presence on the Indian and Soviet borders was "understandable", it asked "What about their presence on the borders of other countries? Are they there for peace or war ?"<sup>146</sup>

The paper charged China with having instigated riots in Burma, Indonesia and Malaysia. It concluded that Nepal would stick to its policies despite advice from others and would shed the last drop of blood to maintain its national integrity and sovereignty. There was, however, no change in Nepalese government's stand. In 1970, China-Nepal relations were in full bloom. China's aim and interest was to safeguard its image in the land of Nepal. They did not say anything critical when in January 1970 Mao's statues were removed from the Kathmandu crossing, the Nepal-Tibet border, and Kathmandu-Kodari highway, near Mustang.<sup>147</sup> In February 1970, Premier Zhou Enlai met and discussed with the Nepalese Charged'Affaires to China, Niranjan Bhattarai. In the course of their conversation the Nepalese diplomat told the Chinese leader that the Nepalese "deem it their paramount duty to defend their country and to safeguard their national dignity."

Zhou Enlai replied that the Chinese firmly support "the Nepalese national aspiration and wish her new success in domestic and international affairs."148 Chief of the Army Staff, Huang Yungsheng was also present. On 10 March 1970, Guo Moruo, Vice-Chairman of the Standing Committee of the National people's Congress, who headed a seven-member goodwill mission, met Prime Minister Bista in Kathmandu. The Times of India quoted him saying that "China would ever remain its reliable friend and supporter in its just struggle for safeguarding its independence and sovereignty".<sup>149</sup> In June, the Ambassador of Nepal to China, Randhar Subba, while celebrating the 50th birthday of King Mahendra observed in Beijing, "China is the best friend of Nepal; she is a good neighbour and true friend". Replying to this friendly gesture, the Chinese Vice-Premier Li Xiannian said that the Nepalese people had a glorious tradition of defying brute force, daring to struggle to safeguard their national independence, sovereignty and territorial integrity and to oppose "imperialism and expansionism". He expressed satisfaction that the boundary question had been settled smoothly.150

During this period, Nepal's domestic political scene showed a tilt in favour of royalist elements. To keep India away from Nepal, China supported the King and the royalists both morally and economically. The pro-democratic elements in Nepal, who enjoyed India's moral support were the main reason for the king to seek help from China. China looked at the problem from another angle. As B.N. Mullik observed : "China's further thinking was that, instead of relying on the goodwill of other countries she must struggle for getting international status and prestige by her own efforts. If the imperialist policy was to hold a position through strength, China's policy was to hold a position through revolutionary measures."<sup>151</sup> Because of her internal solidarity, great internal development and skilful foreign policy, the international status of China was very high. In order to get international recognition she accorded concessions to the countries of Asia, particularly to those who were enemies of her enemy. Nepal fell under this category and China used all kinds of diplomatic and propaganda sticks to keep India at bay from Nepal. In November 1970, the NCNA reported that India was interferring in Nepal's internal affairs. The report said that Tribhuvan University students shouted anti-Indian slogans against the expansionist policy of India towards Nepal.<sup>152</sup> According to the press report from Tokyo, appearing in the Hindu on 9 January 1971, China was making good use of a stalemated trade talks between India and Nepal to spread dissatisfaction against India among the Nepali people. The report said that Nepal was giving the impression to the outside world that India was not only trying to strangle Nepal economically but was even bringing military pressure on the country by increasing her troops on Nepal border. And Beijing was making anti-India propaganda by saying that India was bringing all sorts of pressure on Nepal to accept unreasonable demands.<sup>153</sup> The report further stated that China was fully supporting Nepal, especially her right as a landlocked country to insist that India should conditionally provide transit facilities through her territory for Nepal's trade with rest of the world. On the failure of negotiations on trade and transit between Nepal and India, the report commented : "The Indian ruling clique's attitude is unreasonableif the Indian government persists in its policy of imperilling with the national independence and sovereignty of her neighbouring countries, she will be lifting a rock only to drop it on her own feet and is bound to come to grief."154 This statement was repeated by Deng in 1978 when Nepalese Prime Minister, Kirti Nidhi Bista visited China.155

It may be recalled that during this period an anti-India movement was started by China and the Nepalese King took its advantage to support his weak position. He signed an agreement with China which was directed against India. The agreement provided for the Chinese technicians to conduct investigations to ascertain the feasibility of cotton cultivation in the Butwal area of the Nepal Terai. Raising the issue, some Indian M.Ps including Hari Kishore Singh, Vayalar Ravi and Laxminarain Pandey, had jointly stated that the presence of Chinese experts in the region might endanger India's security. The Defence Minister, Swaran Singh

assured them that the government was fully aware of this. He said, "We are taking and have taken adequate steps to ensure the security of our border." In an important statement, he said that the Chinese were conducting such investigation but cotton had not so far grown in that region. He added that he was not aware of any 'anti-Indian lobby' in Nepal, but there were certain political leaders who made speeches, not friendly to India. The Minister wanted the members to realise that India could not prevent Chinese technicians from coming to Nepalese territory. He said that they should not presume that Nepal was unable to see her own interest. The Indian Government, he said, was constantly in touch with the Nepalese Government, and he did not see any ground to suspect that Nepal would do anything to endanger India's security. He pointed out that notwithstanding several anti-Indian speeches, the attitude of Nepal Government continued to be friendly to India.156

In September 1971, Nepalese Premier defended his government's decision to allow Chinese experts in the Terai region. He said that India's fears about the proposed feasibility survey for cotton growing or mineral exploration in the Terai with Chinese help were without justification. He held that as a leading donor of aid for Nepal's economic development, India was so placed as to appreciate the need of other sources of economic assistance to Nepal. Expressing satisfaction at the existing relationship, he said that it did not mean they should adopt a complaining attitude. He further indicated that the Kingdom might continue to allow more Chinese experts more boldly in spite of grave concern repeatedly expressed by India.<sup>157</sup>

In the year 1972, the relations between Nepal and China continued to progress on the lines desired by the rulers on both sides. The Chinese were glad to note that the Nepalese King continued to maintain his hostility towards India, and a warm hospitality was growing towards their country. Moreover, the aid programme, the construction of highways between Lhasa and Kathmandu, and some Nepalese politicians showing an interest in renewed Chinese proposal for a Himalayan confederation continued to surrender momentum to strengthen relations between these two countries was friendly, Nepal's attitude towards China was different. There was never any official criticism against China. A cool, correct politeness was being observed which was the result partly of genuine respect for the achievements of the great neighbour and partly out of fear that China might some day make some hegemonical claim on Nepal. Nepal considered it as in her interest to cultivate good relations with that country, and even to assign her the role of counterweight to India on certain occasions. China, on the contrary, was energetically trying to consolidate her position in Nepal by way of diplomacy, economic aid and propaganda.

On the death of King Mahendra on 31 January 1972, his son Birendra, ascended the throne. On 17 February, Premier Zhou Enlai in a message of congratulation to the new king, said that Nepal was consistently pursuing a policy of peace, neutrality and non-alignment, and was unremittingly struggling to resist foreign aggression and interference. He added that he was deeply convinced that the friendship and co-operation between the two countries would grow stronger and develop continuously.<sup>158</sup> In September of the same year, a new Chinese Ambassador, Cao Ji, was set to Nepal.<sup>159</sup> A senior party leader and a moderate career diplomat, his posting was considered significant in political circles in Kathmandu. In November, Nepalese Premier Bista visited Beijing for the third time.<sup>160</sup> In the banquet speech given in his honour, the Chinese Premier, Zhou Enlai not only praised the Nepalese people for their "glorious tradition of resisting imperialist aggression", but went on to say that they "withstood foreign pressure and safeguard their national independence and state dignity". He went on to say that the Chinese Government and the people "appreciate Nepal's spirit of defyinig brute force. The Chinese Government consistently holds that countries, big or small, should treat each other as equal and that it is absolutely impermissible to carry out aggression, pressure and interference or subversion against the other countries under any pretext."<sup>161</sup>

Zhou's statement was interpreted by some observers in India as well as Nepal as "a veiled threat" against India. They also pointed out that while Zhou's statement evoked no greater reasons from Nepal than a quiet denial by Bista of the existence of any external threat to Nepal, a similar statement by Nchru in the Indian Parliament had at that time led to a storm of protest in Kathmandu.<sup>162</sup>

Certain quarters argued that the Chinese leader could have made such statement only when he had the idea that his guest might like the same. And if the Nepalese had not liked such repeated Chinese support, they should have conveyed their feelings to the Chinese.<sup>163</sup>

In August 1973, China resumed the practice of offering scholarships to Nepalese students.<sup>164</sup> It may be recalled that during the Cultural Revolution, 10 Nepalese students were sent back.<sup>165</sup> About the same time, Nepal strengthened its Embassy in China to bring it to the level of its mission in India. In December, King Birendra paid a week's state visit to China.<sup>166</sup> In the joint communique, issued at the end of the visit, the Chinese Government praised King Birendra's leadership and reaffirmed its support to the policy of peace, neutrality and non-alignment, pursued by His Majesty's Government. The King of Nepal, on his turn, thanked the Government of the People's Republic of China for its assistant to Nepal's development efforts, and spoke highly of the achievements of China in the fields of industry, agriculture, science and technology. Both sides held the view that the world situation was undergoing significant changes and the Third World playing an ever greater role in international affairs. Both sides were of the opinion that "every nation, big or small, has an inherent right to exist without committing itself to any power bloc." They agreed that "the idea of creating spheres of influence controverses the fundamental interests of the people and is, in itself, a manifestation of hegemonism". The Chinese Government also agreed to send a delegation to Nepal for consultations on measures for further development of trade and cooperation between the two countries.<sup>167</sup>

On 2 September 1974, the *People's Daily* strongly condemned India for what it called the Indian Government's expansionist act of annexing Sikkim.

The NCNA quoted an article from the Nepalese weekly Arpana which said that the Indian action in Sikkim had given rise to a "grave danger for Nepal and other small countries in this subcontinent". It also quoted the Nepalese Panchayat Member P.C. Lahari as saying that "we would be more vigilant against our southern border."<sup>168</sup> The NCNA and Radio Beijing were, thus, playing up Nepalese journals and dailies which condemned New Delhi's new relations with Sikkim, saying that Bhutan and Nepal might be the Indian Government's next target.

On 4 September, the Indian Embassy in Kathmandu protested

to the Nepalese Foreign Ministry against the Chinese Embassy issuing press releases regarding the Sikkimese development, which contained derogatory remarks against the late Prime Minister Nehru and Prime Minister Indira Gandhi. The Indian Embassy nointed out that the Chinese mission was misusing the soil of a friendly country, Nepal, to launch an offensive propaganda against another friendly country, India. China had committed a breach of the diplomatic code by the derogatory use of language in its propaganda materials, it was pointed out.<sup>169</sup> In her attempt to isolate India from her immediate neighbours in South Asia, China tried to drive a wedge between Kathmandu and New Delhi. NCNA, on 30 October, devoted its columns exclusively to New Delhi-Kathmandu relations, accusing India of intimidating the government and people of Nepal to achieve her expansionist designs." It said that since the anti-Indian demonstration in the first week of September by Nepalese students on Sikkim issue, the Indian Government had "flagrantly exerted pressure on and intimidated Nepal". The Indian Government, in its view, was trying to assert her historical status in the Himalayan Kingdom of Nepal and Bhutan, now that Sikkim had been turned into an associate state of the Indian Union.<sup>170</sup>

In the later half of 1974, armed Khampa refugees from Tibet, living in the northern part of Nepal, were making forays into Tibet. Khampa tribesmen constituted the backbone of Tibetan resistance against the Chinese administration in Tibet, after the flight of the Dalai Lama from Lhasa in 1962. Nepal was wary of Khampa activities and often tried to check them. In early August 1974, the security forces launched a drive to round up armed Khampas who had failed to surrender their arms by the end of July. On 28 August, the NCNA under a Kathmandu dateline, reported measures recently taken by the Nepal Government to disarm the Tibetan 'rebels' who were using the kingdom as a base for hostile activities in China. A spokesman of the Nepalese Foreign Ministry, on 21 July, categorically ruled out any plan for a co-ordinated action with China against armed Khampas living in the kingdom. He discounted the report that Nepal was taking action against Khampas under Chinese pressures.<sup>171</sup> Nepal's Home Minister, H.B. Shreshtha, in an interview with official news agency RSS, published on 23 July said : "There is no concrete evidence to substantiate allegations that India is encouraging. armed Khampa refugees."<sup>172</sup> Speaking at a reception in honour of the heads of states and governments, who attended his coronation in Kathmandu, King Birendra, on 25 February 1975, made a proposition that Nepal be declared a zone of peace. "Only under a condition of peace will we be able to create a politically stable Nepal with a sound economy which will in no way be detrimental to any country", he said. "If our relations with India have been deep and extensive, our relations with China have been equally close and friendly, consistently marked by understanding of each other's problems and aspirations. We adhere to the policy of non-alignment because we believe that it brightens the prospects of peace," he added.<sup>173</sup>

Talking to a team of visiting Indian journalists on 23 May 1975, Nepal's Foreign Minister, Krishna Raj Aryal, suggested publicly, for the first time, that India should have responded to the Kingdom's desire to be declared "a zone of peace". "Nepal would have been happy if India had been the first country to respond to her proposition," he said. He added that the Soviet Union, Pakistan and China had welcomed the proposal.<sup>174</sup> In an interview to a *Kyodo* correspondent, Aryal said that Nepal hoped to obtain India's support to the concept. Referring to Nepal's relations with China and India, he said : "The problem is that China seems to think that Nepal is closer to India while India sees Nepal as being on the Chinese side."<sup>175</sup>

The main reason behind India's silence was said to be "the lack of clarity" around the concept. Besides, it was pointed out by commentators that Nepal overlooked prior consultation with countries whose views it valued most. Countries like the Soviet Union, Pakistan and China had reacted to the proposal, keeping in mind their own larger context. On 1 August China pledged support to King Birendra's concept of Nepal as a "zone of peace". In an article, greeting the 20th anniversary of the establishment of the Sino-Nepalese relations, the *People's Daily* made it formally known.<sup>176</sup>

Between 1975 and 1978 many important developments were witnessed inside China. Mao Zedong and Zhou Enlai who had been at the helm of affairs since 1949, died in 1976. Internally China went through a power struggle in which the so-called moderates triumphed against the radicals and attempted to reshape China's internal and external policies. In the internal sphere, the moderate leadership emphasised on rapid growth and modernization, and to sustain the campaign of Four Modernization, China's foreign policy was modified to accept Western financial and technical collaboration.

All these changes, however, did not bring any perceptible change in China's policies towards Nepal. Although Chinese leaders in their speeches gave a wider perspective to Sino-Nepalese relations by linking it with other developments in the world, in essence the relationship was directed by the two constants—geography and India. The logic of the constants prevailed over the variables in world politics.

Important events in China-Nepal relations of this period were—King Birendra's visit to China in June 1976,<sup>177</sup> and Chinese Vice-Premier, Deng Xiaoping's visit to Nepal in February 1978.<sup>178</sup> In a message to the Nation before he left for China the King said : "China is one of our neighbours. The visit will strengthen the traditional friendship with China and will increase the scope of mutual cooperation."<sup>179</sup> The King declared that "personal contact not only led to a better understanding between the two but also helped further develop the bonds of close relationship leading to fruitful co-operation."<sup>180</sup> Among the issues discussed during the King's visit were China's support for the King's proposal for Nepal as a zone of peace,<sup>181</sup> the recently opened Nepal-China trans-Himalayan flight and matters of trade and its expansion and diversification.<sup>182</sup>

During Deng Xiaoping's visit to Nepal in 1978, China gave "firm support to King Birendra's proposal of Nepal as a zone of peace."<sup>183</sup> This stand was exactly the opposite of Indian stand. Indian suggested to make South of Himalayas as a zone of peace thereby difussing any support to King's concept of declaring Nepal as a zone of peace.<sup>184</sup> During his visit Deng Xiaoping was careful not to display any big brother attitude. In fact, he made it a point to emphasize that China and Nepal were both developing countries belonging to the Third World. This was the assurance to Nepal that China was not assuming a posture of superiority.<sup>185</sup> Deng's visit was also remarkable for the avoidance of any offensive statement against India. There was no indication that Deng wanted to neutralise the warmth between his host country and its southern neighbour generated in the wake of the Indian Prime Minister's visit to Nepal in December 1977. On the other hand, it was amply evident that Deng had in mind the thawing of his country's relations with India. Side tracking anything which might have hurt India's suceptibilities and indirectly accepting the role which India had played leading to an improved atmosphere in South Asia, Deng expressed his country's "eagerness" to bring relations between India and China closer.<sup>186</sup> The attitude was further continued during the Nepalese Prime Minister's visit to China in September 1978.<sup>187</sup> In his speech at the Great Hall, Deng Xiaoping referred to Soviet "hegemonism" and American "imperialism": but there was no reference to Indian "reactionaries" as it was done during earlier periods.<sup>188</sup>

During this period Nepal was not only seeking the suport of China for the Nepal peace zone proposal but also wanted to involve China in the development of regional water resources.<sup>189</sup> But during his visit to Nepal, Deng Xiaoping took care not to be pushed into supporting such a demand without studying the complications involved.<sup>190</sup> On her part, India rejected the participation of China in such measures on the basis that China was not a South Asian country.<sup>191</sup>

This phase of Sino-Nepalese relationship was also conspicuous by its absence of any unpleasant happenings, i.e., criticizing India's role in Nepal was underplayed. There was, thus, a sign of carring on the relationship on a positive basis.

#### NOTES AND REFERENCES

- For geography of Nepal see, P.P. Karan and W.H. Jenkins, Nepal : A Cultural and Physical Geography, (Lexington, 1960); U.M. Malla, A Brief Geography of Nepal, (Kathmandu, 1967); N.B. Thapa and D.P. Thapa, Geography of Nepal : Physical, Economic, Cultural and Regional, (Calcutta, 1969); and Harka Gurung, ed., Nepal : A Profile, (Kathmandu, 1970).
- 2 Jawaharlal Nehru, India's Foreign Policy : Selected Speeches, September 1946—April 1961 (The Publications Division, New Delhi, 1971), p. 436.
- 3. Reproduced from Stuart R. Schram, *The Political Thoughts of Mao Zedong* (New York, 1963), pp. 266-81; "The Chinese Revolution and the Chinese Communist Party" (published in Chinese, 15 November 1939), translated into English and mimeographed, 22 March, 1949, p. 4. Quoted in Robert C. North, "The Sino-Soviet Alliance," *The China Quarterly* (Paris), No. 1, 1961, p. 57.
- 4. Girilal Jain, "Tibetans Under Communism," in Panchsheela and After

(Bombay : Asia Publishing House, 1960), pp. 54-82.

- 5. The Statesman, 17 January 1952; The Ministry of External Affairs Report, 1953-54, 1956-57 (New Delhi), p. 8 and p. 13, respectively.
- 6. Amrita Bazar Patrika (Calcutta), 16 November 1949.
- 7. A political conference held in December 1951 in which B.P. Koirala's followers made the allegation that it was on the advice of the Indian Ambassador in Nepal that the king had kept B.P. Koirala out of the Ministry. Further Balchandra Sharma, one of the top Congress leaders stated that "I fear that the behaviour of the Indian representatives is not good. I believe these are individual mistakes, not the policy of the Government of India.... I think that the Indian officials are going far beyound their powers in Nepal," see "Sikshan Sibir Ke Udhatan Samaroha" (Nepali Cougress Madhya Kantipur Sakha, Kathmandu, 1951). For details see, Grishma Bahadur Devakota, Nepal Ko Rajnitik Darpan (Kathmadu, 1959), pp. 123-24; also see, The Times of India, 22 February 1952.
- The Hindu, 23 February 1952; Devakota, n. 7, pp. 136-37; also see Press Conference of Jawaharlal Nehru, New Delhi, 28 February 1952; A.S. Bhasin, ed., Documents on Nepal's Relations with India and China 1949-1966 (New Delhi: Academic Books, 1970), pp. 145-46.
- 9. Devakota, n. 7, pp. 123-37.
- 10 The Ministery of External Affairs Report 1951-52, (Delhi), pp. 13-14; The Statesman, 17 January 1952
- 11. For a summary account of the Indian aid programme in Nepal in 1951-54 period see E.B. Mihaly, *Foreign Aid and Politics in Nepal : A Case Study* (London, 1965), pp. 42-50.
- 12. The capture of Dr. K.I. Singh, the controversial Nepali Congress leader, who had refused to accept the Delhi compromise, was the objective on two of these occasions, while the seizure of Bilauri, a market town in the far-western Terai, by a large force under local rebel leader, Bhim Dutt Pant, led to the third Indian intervention. On 23 August, he was killed in an accidental gun fight near the Dundeldhura district. See, The Hindustan Times, 24 August 1953.
- 13. See Devakota, n. 7, p. 247; The Times of India, 2 June 1954; The Hindu, 19 July 1954; The Statesman, 7 April 1954.
- 14. That any move on Nepal's part towards China must follow the Sino-Indian understanding in the border region wherein India's special position and defence needs must be sufficiently recognized by China and Nepal, see for details, K.M. Panikkar, In Two Chinas (London: George Allen and Unwin, 1955), p. 171; also see, The Hindustan Times, 28 September 1954.
- 15. The Tribune, 11 February 1952.
- "The Problem of Dr. K.I. Singh," Indian Press Digest (Berkeley : University of California Press), vol. 1, no. 4, 1960, pp. 28-30; Asian Recorder (New Dethi), 1957, pp. 1564-65; The Times of India, 14 November 1954,
- 17. The Statesman, 5 March 1954; New York Times, 8 May 1954.
- 18. The Statesman, 7 April 1954.

- 19. For the text of the Treaty, see, Survey of China, Mainland Press (hereinafter referred to as SCMP), no. 798, pp. 3-5; New China News Agency (hereinafter referred to as NCNA), 29 April 1954; also see, Foreign Policy of India : Text of Documents 1947-59 (Lok Sabha Secretariat, New Delhi, 1966), pp. 103-09.
- 20. The Hindustan Times, 8 May 1954; The Statesman, 9 May 1954.
- 21. The Statesman, 8 September 1954; The New York Times, 9 May 1954.
- 22. SCMP, 895, p. 6, and 899, p. 29; NCNA, 23 September 1954 and 29 September 1954., The Hindustan Times, 28 September 1954.
- 23. The Hindu, 15 November 1954.
- For a general discussion of China's foreign policy during this phase see, Chun-tu Hsueh, ed., Dimensions of China's Foreign Relations (New York: Praeger, 1977); V.P. Dutt, China's Foreign Policy, 1958-62 (Bombay, 1964); C. P. Fitzerald, China and Southeast Asia Since 1945 (London, 1973); H.C. Hinton, Communist China in World Politics (London, 1966); Alan Lawrence, China's Foreign Relations 1949 (London, 1975); Levi, Werner, Modern China's Foreign Policy (Mimeapolis : University of Minesota Press, 1953).
- 25. Nehru implied this after his visit to China in October 1954, The Hindu, 15 November 1954.
- 26. NCNA, 4 March, 1955.
- 27. SCMP, 1097, p. 13; and NCNA, 26 July 1955.
- 28. SCMP, 1100, pp. 29-30; see also, Bhasin, n. 8., p. 181.
- 29. For details see Devakota, n. 7, pp. 437-39 and Gorkhapatra, 19 July 1958; also see Bhasin, n. 8, p. 188.
- 30. SCMP, 1364, p. 44; Gorkhapatra, 30 January 1956; The Times, 31 January 1954.
- 31. Leo E. Rose, Nepal : Strategy for Survival (University of California Press, 1971), p. 210.
- 32. Asian Recorder, 1956, p. 678. For details, see New Developments in Friendly Relations Between China and Nepal (Foreign Language Press, Beijing, 1960), pp. 1-6.
- 33. NCNA, 30 April 1956; SCMP 1265, p. 36; 1272, p. 41; 1282, p. 41; NCNA, 7 May 1956.
- 34. NCNA, 6 August 1956; and SCMP, 1348, p. 26; 1331, p. 31.
- 35. NCNA, 15 August 1956; and SCMP, 1353, p. 23.
- 36. For text of the treaty, see New Developments in Friendly Relations, n. 32, pp. 1-6; NCNA. 21 September 1956.
- 37. The Statesman, 26 September 1956; The Hindustan Times, 26 September 1956.
- 38. NCNA, 22 Septemper 1956; SCMP, 1377, p. 35.
- 39. See Chapter III for details.
- 40. China Today (New Delhi), 25 February 1957, p. 12.
- 41. Samaj, 27 January 1967.
- 42. Rose, n. 31, p. 213.
- 43. Beijing Review, 4 August 1959, p. 22.
- 44 Naya Samaj, 3 June 1961.
- 45. Government of Nepal, Department of Publicity, Proclamations, Speeches and Messages of King Mahendra (Kathmandu, 1967), vol. 1, p. 94.

- 46. Swatantra Samachar, 15 October 1957.
- 47. Radio Nepal, 14 November 1957; Gorkhapatra, 15 November 1957; The Commoner, 17 November 1957; Naya Samaj, 15 November 1957.
- 48. For details see, Chanakya Sen, "China Marches into Tibet 1950-1954" in Tibet Disappears (ed.), (Asia Publishing House, Bombay, 1960); Noel Barber, "Tibet Under Conquest" in The Flight of the Dalai Lama (London, 1960); Fisher Margaret, Leo Rose and Robert Huttenback, Himalayan Battleground (New York, 1963); Frank Moraes, The Revolt in Tibet (New York, 1960); Raja Hutheesing, Tibet Fights for Freedom (ed.) (Orient Longman's : Bombay, 1960); George N. Patterson, Tibet in Revolt (Faber and Faber, London, 1960).
- 49. Kalpana, 3 April 1959.
- 50. Commoner, 18 April 1959.
- 51. Kalpana, 2 May 1959.
- 52. Motherland, 5 May 1959.
- 53. Foreign Policy of India, n. 19, pp. 373-76.
- 54. SCMP, 2029, p. 39; NCNA, 29 June, 1959.
- 55. SCMP, 2114, p. 31; NCNA, 5 October 1959.
- 56. Asian Recorder 1959, p. 2764 and p. 2907. Nepali businessmen's Association of Tibet presented a list of guidelines to the Government of Nepal, The Statesman, 21 August 1956; Motherland, 28 January and 3 July 1959.
- 57. Ibid.; Nepal Press Digest, 16-30 April 1959.
- 58. Publicity Department Press Release of 3 September 1959. See, Nepal Press Digest, 1-7 September 1959.
- 59. Ibid.
- 60. SCMP, 2225, pp. 49-50; and NCNA, 21 March 1960.
- 61. Gorkhapatra, 16 January 1964; Samaya, 17 January 1964; The Hindustan Times, 15 January 1964.
- 62. Halkhabar, 1 October 1961; Gorkhapatra, 12 October 1961; also, The Nepalese Perspective, vol. 1, no. 52, 2 October 1965, p. 4.
- 63. General Assembly Official Records, 831st Plen. mtg., 20 October 1959, paras. 55-62.
- 64. NCNA, 24 July 1959.
- 65. NCNA, 27 September 1959.
- 66. Nepal Press Digest, 16-30 November 1959.
- 67. Gorkhapatra, 16 March 1960; also see, The Times of India, 11 February 1960.
- 68. For text of agreements and joint communique, see New Devlopments in Friendly Relations, n. 32, pp. 17-28.
- 69. Kalpana, 26 March 1960.
- 70. Beijing Rewiew, 29 March 1960, pp. 7-10.
- 71. Samaj, 27 March 1960.
- 72. Kalpana, 4 April 1960.
- 73. Ibid., 21 April 1960.
- 74. Nepal Samachar, 8 April 1960, and China Today, 7 May 1960, pp. 4-7.
- 75. Beijing Review, 31 May 1960, p. 4, and 7 June 1960, pp. 21-22.
- 76. Kalpana, 30 June 1960, and The Hindu, 29 June 1960.

- 77. China Today, 7 July 1960, pp. 4-5.
- 78. Kalpana, 21 April 1960.
- 79. Samaj, 22 April 1960.
- 80. For the text of the letters, see The Commoner, 27 July 1960, pp. 2, 6-7.
- 81. Halkhabar, 30 April 1960; and Kalpana, 1 May 1960.
- 82. Kalpana, 15 December 1960.
- 93. Gorkhupatra, 10 August 1960; also see The Hindu, 27 March 1960.
- 84. Nepul Samachar, 3 and 9 September 1960. SCMP, 2418, p. 31; 2419, p. 43.
- 85. Nepal Times, 12 January 1961; Samaj, 13 January 1961; SCMP, 2418, p. 31 and 2419, p. 43; NCNA, 11 and 13 January 1961. Halkhabar reported on 11 February 1961, "Chen Yi acclaimed the progress Nepal was making under the King". This news was, however, not covered by the New China News Agency which only reported Zhou Enlai's speech in which there was not a word either for or against the king or his action.
- 86. For details see, India, Parliamentary Debates, Rajya Sabha (New Delhi), 20 December 1960, cols. 2707-10.
- 87. SCMP, 2591, p. 50; NCNA, 28 September 1961; Swatantra Samachar, 25 September 1961.
- 88. SCMP, 2601, p. 32; NCNA, 5 October 1961; and Gorkhapatra, 6 October 1961.
- 89. SCMP, 2603, p. 40; NCNA, 15 October 1961; Nepal Samachar, 16 October 1961.
- 90. Swatantra Samachar, 11 June 1962.
- 91. Times of India, 23 April 1962, This stand was repeated by the Prime Minister Nehru while talking to the Press Reporters in London on 11 September 1962. He explained that "when he met King last, and had been asked for advice, he had told the king that India did not desire to interfere in Nepal's affairs, but the conditions could be improved only by being conciliatory. Further, he mentioned that India had made clear that she did not want the country to be made a base for operating against the Nepal Government. But, India, under her laws, could not prevent Nepalese in India from peacefully expressing their opinions." See, The Hindu, 11 September 1962.
- 92. See for instance, S.P. Gyawali, *Friendship on Trial* (The Education Press, Kathmandu, published by the Department of Publicity and Broad-casting, Ministry of National Guidance H M G., n d.).
- 93. Asian Recorder, 1962, p. 4446.
- 94. SCMP, 2572, p. 34; 2575, p. 43; NCNA, 28 August 1961 and 4 September 1961.
- 95. The Times of India, 19 October 1961; The Hindustan Times, 12 December 1961.
- 96. SCMP, 2731, p. 31; China Today, 5 May 1962, p. 10.
- 97. Ramakant, Nepal, China and India (New Delhi: Abhinav Publications, 1976), p. 196.
- 98. SCMP, 2835 p. 34.
- 99. SCMP, ?836, p. 32; Beijing Review, 12 October 1962, p. 6.

- 100. The Motherland, 10 June 1963.
- 101, Chen Yi banquet speech on 19 January 1963, SCMP, 2906, p. 23; Chen Yi's speech on 4 October 1964, NCNA, 6 October 1964; Beijing Review, 9 October 1964, p. 17.
- 102. Chen Yi at the banquet given to R.K. Shah on 23 November 1962. See Bhasin, n. 8, p. 217; also see speech Chen Yi at a banquet in Kathmandu, 30 March 1965, Bhasin, n. 8, p. 219; Beijing Review, 7 December 1962, p. 20; SCMP, 2868, p. 28; 3433, pp. 37-38.
- 103. SCMP, 3729, p. 36.
- 104. SCMP 2906, pp. 22-28.
- 105. SCMP 3089, p. 26; NCNA, 23 October 1963.
- 106. SCMP 3430, p. 43; 3432, p. 29, 3431, pp. 39-41; 3433, pp. 35-38.
- 107. SCMP, 3531, p. 39.
- 108. SCMP 3729, p. 36.
- 109. Ibid.
- 110. The Hindu, 14 April 1963.
- 111. Asian Recorder, 1963, p. 5281; Sunday Standard (New Delhi), 19 May 1963.
- 112. The Hindustan Times, 20 May 1963.
- 113. Ibid., 12 January 1964.
- 114. For details of Cultural Revolution see, Macfarquhar Roderick, The Origins of the Cultural Revolution (Oxford University Press, London, 1974); Dutt, Gargi and Dutt, Vidya Prakash, China's Cultural Revolution (Bombay; Asia Publishing House, 1970)! Barnett A. Doak, China After Mao, with selected documents, (Princetion University Press, 1967), p. 287; Keesing's Contemporary Archives, "The Cultural Revolution in China: Its Origins and Course", Keesing's Research Report, 1968.
- 115. Gorkhapatra, 19 May 1967.
- 116. Motherland, 6 July 1967.
- 117. The Times of India, 18 June 1967.
- 118. The Times (London), 22 June 1968.
- 119. Nepal Times, 4 September 1966. Hindustan Times reported that 50 students were returned to Nepal following Beijing's directive. Sec, Hindustan Times, 28 September 1966.
- 120. The Nepali, 30 January 1967.
- 121. Beijing Review, 2 June 1967, pp. 46-47.
- 122. Nepal Times 16 June 1967.
- 123. Beijing Review, 24 February 1967, p. 17.
- 124. Ibid., 10 March 1967, p. 28.
- 125. Nepal Times, 16 June 1967.
- 126. Times of India, 18 June 1967.
- 127. Asian Recorder, 1967, p. 7854; Nepal Samachar, 19 June 1967.
- 128. Several dailies and weeklies took exception to the contents of the Beijing Review, 24 March 1967, p. 26 and 2 June 1967, p. 47. See, Nepal Press Digest, 26 March to 1 April 1967; 30 April to 6 May 1967; 9-15 April 1967; 11-17 June 1967; and 25 June to 1 July 1967.
- 129. See K.C. Shyam Bahadur's article in The Motherland, 26 June 1967.

- 130. See Deputy Prime Minister K.N. Bista's statement in the National Panchayat on 13 July 1967. Nepal Press Digest, 9-15 July 1967.
- 131. Nepal Press Digest, 2-8 July 1967; 9-15 July 1967 and 23-29 July 1967.
- 132. News from China (Published by Chinese Embassy in Kathmandu), 9 July 1967.
- 133. Gorkhapatra, 11 July 1967.
- 134. SCMP 3938, pp. 32-33; and NCNA, 22 July 1967.
- 135. Beijing Review, 31 May 1968, pp. 5-6.
- 136. SCMP 4188, pp. 16-17.
- 137. NCNA, 24 May 1968, and also see, Beijing Review, n. 135, pp. 5-6.
- 138. SCMP, 4408, p. 24; 4469, p. 26; NCNA, 27 July 1969; Gorkhapatra, 11 May 1969.
- 139. SCMP 4458, p. 22; NCNA, 12 July 1969.
- 140. Gorkhapatra, 28 July 1969; and The Hindustan Times, 3 August 1969.
- 141. China Report (New Delhi), September-October 1969, p. 24.
- 142. Free Press Journal (Bombay), 4 July 1969; Motherland, 30 June and 5 July 1969.
- 143. India's External Affairs Minister, Dinesh Singh, told Indian Parliament' on 21 July 1969 that while India had agreed in principle to the withdrawal, the question had to be viewed in the context of the open border between India and Nepal. See, Lok Sabha Debate, 21 July 1969, cols. 230-40.
- 144. Gorkhapatra, 28 July 1969; Amrita Bazar Patrika, 7 October 1969.
- 145. Swatantra Samachar, 30 July 1969; Nepal Times, 13 September 1969; The Times of India, 13 September 1969.
- 146. *Ibid*.
- 147. The Institute for Defence Studies and Analyses, (New Delhi), News Review on China, January 1970, p. 29.
- 148. NCNA, 27 February 1970; SCMP 4609, pp. 157-58; The Hindustan Times, 24 February 1970; Gorkhapatra, 1 March 1970.
- 149. NCNA, 8 March 1970; SCMP 4616, pp. 42-43; The Times of India, 9 March 1970; also see, Gorkhapatra, 6 and 7 March 1970.
- 150. SCMP 4680, pp. 171, 173; NCNA, 11 June 1970.
- 151. B.N. Mullik, The Chinese Betrayal (New Delhi, 1971), p. 289.
- 152. NCNA, 7 November 1970.
- 153. The Hindu, 9 January 1971.
- 154. Radio Beijing and NCNA, 9 January 1971; Beijing Review, 15 January 1971, p. 22.
- 155. Beijing Review, 6 October 1978, p. 4.
- 156. Lok Sabha Debates, 20 July 1971, cols. 139-46; The Hindustan Standard (Calcutta), 21 July 1971.
- 157. The Hindustan Times, 28 September 1971; Northern India Patrika (Allahabad), 20 October 1971; also see, Himali Bela, 27 September 1971.
- 158. SCMP, 5076, p. 94; 5082, p. 122; NCNA, 3 and 17 February 1972.
- 159. SCMP 5227, p. 33; NCNA, 19 September 1972.
- 160. SCMP 5263, pp. 33-35; NCNA, 15 November 1972.
- 161. SCMP 5263, pp. 35, 37, 39; NCNA, 15 November 1972.

- 162. The Rising Nepal, 28 December 1972.
- 163. The Hindustan Times, 8 December 1972.
- 164. The Rising Nepal, 2 August 1973; The Times of India, 3 August 1973.
- 165. Nepal Times, 4 September 1966.
- 166. SCMP 5518, pp. 37-38; NCNA, 8 December 1973.
- 167. The Statesman, 9 December 1973; NCNA, 14 December 1973; and SCMP 5522, pp. 25-28.
- 168. NCNA, 2 September 1974; also see, SCMP, 5702, pp. 86-87, and NCNA, 11 September 1974.
- 169. The Hindustan Times, 5 September 1974.
- 170. SCMP 5733, pp. 197-199; NCNA, 30 October 1974.
- 171. The Hindustan Times, 23 July 1974.
- 172. Ibid., 24 July 1974.
- 173. Gorkhapatra, 26 February 1975.
- 174. Patriot, 2 June 1975.
- 175. Rising Nepal, 25 May 1975.
- 176. SCMP 5914, pp. 132-33; NCNA, 2 August 1975.
- 177. SCMP 6114, p. 39; NCNA, 2 June 1976.
- 178. Beijing Review, 10 February 1978, pp. 4-5.
- 179. SCMP 6114, p. 38; NCNA, 2 June 1976; Gorkhapatra, 3 June 1976.
- 180. The Times of India, 6 June 1976.
- 181. Gorkhapatra, 17 June 1976.
- 182. NCNA, 2 and 4 June 1976; SCMP 6114, pp. 42-43 and 6116, p. 168. Also see, The Matribhumi weekly 1 June 1976.
- 183. Beijing Review 10 February 1978, p. 5; The Hindustan Times, 4 February 1978; SCMP 6114, pp. 42-43.
- 184. The Hindustan Times 19 January 1978.
- 185. Indian Empress 6 February 1978.
- 186. The Hindustan Times, 7 February 1978.
- 187. Beijing Review, 6 October 1978, pp. 4.5; NCNA, 27 September 1978.
- 188. Hsinhua News Agency (Beijing), no. 10849, 28 September 1978, pp. 46-49 and 55-58; The Hindu, 29 September 1978; Rising Nepal, 28 September 1978; News from China, n. 132.
- 189. The Times of India, 15 January 1978; NCNA, 3 February 1978.
- 190. Indian Express, 6 February 1978.
- 191. The Hindustan Times, 7 February 1978.

#### CHAPTER III

# SINO-NEPALESE ECONOMIC RELATIONS

#### THE LOGIC

Sino-Nepalese economic relations, apart from traditional local trading operations between the Tibet region of China and Nepal, could be accepted to have opened in 1956 with the signing of the Agreement Trade and Intercourse between the People's on Republic of China and Nepal on 20 September 1956. Due to its typical geographical location as a landlocked state surrounded by India on three sides excepting the North, Nepal has natural constraints in its desire to have a diversified foreign economic policy. While the routes to India are quite convenient permitting trading activities, the routes to Tibet, the adjoining Chinese territory, with some of them even being inaccessible to the pack animals, hinder trading activities. Consequently, about 95 per cent of Nepal's foreign trade had been with India.<sup>1</sup> Trade with other countries is also carried on through the ports of India, principally Calcutta.

Due to this almost insurmountable constraint the traditional Chinese policy had been to concede to the Indian dominance in Nepalese economic matters. But this stand changed, between 1949 and 1956, as the Chinese perception of China's strategic interests and world politics changed. Complementary changes in the political and economic thinking of the Nepalese leadership also hastened the process of inaugurating the Sino-Nepalese economic relationship in 1956.

In the initial years after the communist take-over in 1949, Chinese foreign policy was openly pro-Soviet. This ideological predilection hindered the growth of positive relationships between China and the non-communist countries and China carefully avoided economic transactions with such countries. The geographical distribution of China's trade was strongly influenced by ideology. Mao established the "lean-to-one-side" policy for China and this policy resulted in China's economic orientation towards other communist countries, particularly the USSR. This policy was reinforced by the Western trade embargo against China, imposed in 1950 following China's intervention in the Korean War. Imports were obtained from the Western countries chiefly when they were not available or were in short supply in the Communist World.

Since 1960, both the commodity and geographical patterns of Communist China's foreign trade has shifted dramatically. The collapse of the Great Leap Forward and the withdrawal of Soviet technicians from China in 1960, the persistent need for imports of Western grain, and the continuing deterioration of Sino-Soviet relations combined to lower the volume of trade and to alter sharply its direction and composition. China's total trade rose from \$1.2 billion in 1950 to a peak of \$4.3 billion in 1959, and then declined to a level of \$ 2.7 billion in 1962. This downturn was reversed in 1963, and by 1965 trade had increased to an estimated § 3.7 billion. Since 1960, a major realignment in China's trading partners took place. Communist countries used to account for two-thirds of China's trade before 1960, but the trend was reversed; the "Non-Communist World" accounted for 70 per cent of China's total trade<sup>2</sup> (See, Table 1 at the end of this chapter).

The same trend is also exhibited in case of Chinese aid to the non-Communist developing countries. China inaugurated its aid programme as late as in 1956 and the reasons for such a decision were almost the same as that of the diversification of China's foreign trade to the non-Communist Countries. The increasing Sino-Soviet rivalry for the allegiance of the former colonial world, Beijing's efforts to establish wider diplomatic relations, to enhance its prestige and gain the support for Nationalist China's influence in the area, however, have driven China increasingly to disregard revolutionary precept and engage in a highly opportunistic aid and trade programme of its own. National self-interest has governed Chinese economic military support of Pakistan. For example, despite its membership in such "imperialist" groupings as CENTO and SEATO, and substantial trade exchanges with South Africa which had antagonised some African opinion. China's opening of economic relations with Nepal came within the ambit of this policy of opening out to the non-Communist World, especially to the neutral developing countries. But apart from placing Nepal in this broad context of China's foreign economic policy thinking, one also finds a more immediate, and perhaps more important, logic in the Sino-Nepalese economic relation, i.e., the safeguarding of China's image and political interests in this strategically situated buffer through the economic policy of aid and trade with Nepal which was traditionally dependent on India for such matters. Thus the need was to relieve Nepal of its overdependence on India in economic matters.

There were also pressing needs on the part of Nepal to start economic transactions with China. Due to its typical geographical location as a landlocked State, Nepal had been dependent on India for all sorts of economic matters. Nepalese had, quite often, been critical of this excessive dependence on India which they thought was detrimental to Nepal's economic prospects. Logically, they looked for the opportunity to diversify their economic relations. China as the only other neighbour came within the perview of this thinking. Complementary political changes in the internal politics of Nepal facilitated the translations of such thinking into concrete policies and programmes. The death of King Tribhuvan in 1955 brought changes in the Nepalese political scene. King Mahendra who had a different approach towards Nepal's political and economic affairs, wanted to assert his power and was determined to diversify trade relations in order to lessen Nepal's total dependence on India.

Given this backdrop of the logic of Sino-Nepalese economic relations it is proposed to discuss the economic relations between the two countries under the heads of Trade and Aid.

#### SINO-NEPALESE TRADE RELATIONS

#### **Nepal-Tibet Trade**

The Himalayas had proved to be the most formidable obstacle to any substantial increase in trade activities between Nepal and China. If at all Nepal had any trade relations with China it was in the form of local trade between Nepal and Tibet. The history of trade relations between Nepal and Tibet can be traced from 1856 when a treaty was signed between Jang Bahadur's emissary and Chinese and Tibetan officials Palden Dondup on 31 July 1856 at Thapathali. This treaty governed the relations between them and provided, among other things, for freedom of trade and commerce, for citizens of both countries in each other's territories. This was continued till 1904.<sup>3</sup>

The famous British expedition to settle differences between the British and the Tibetan Governments was sent in 1904 under Colonel Younghusband. Since the Tibetans refused to enter into negotiations and offered active resistance to the British entry, this became a military expedition afterwards. The terms of the Indo-Tibetan Treaty concluded in 1904 included the opening of three trade marts : one at Gyantse, one at Yatung, and the third at Gartok; the abolition of trade duties between Tibet and India; the payment of indemnity to the British Government.<sup>4</sup>

The opening of trade marts by the British Government had an adverse effect on Nepal-Tibet trade. The trade with India started becoming more favourable and it was after this treaty that most of the Nepalese traders went and settled down in Kalimpong in India for trade purposes. In fact, Kalimpong and Calcutta started becoming more prosperous centres for transactions with Tibet part of China.<sup>5</sup> At the same time, Nepal's role as an entrepot trading country between India and Tibet also dwindled considerably when faster and better connections directly through Sikkim were established in the beginning of the present century.

The establishment of the British consulate at Gyantse made the British all the more effective in this respect and strengthened their position against Nepal in commercial relations. In fact, opening up of the new road of Chumbi Valley almost stopped all trade which Nepal used to have through Kirong and Yenam marts, and thus Nepal had to suffer losses. In 1926, the Tibetan Government established a foreign office in Lhasa and this greatly facilitated official communication with foreign governments, including Nepal.<sup>6</sup> However, because of the undeveloped transport system trade relations could not flourish with the Tibet region. Since 1950, when Tibet became a part of China, and China proper came to be regarded as a trading partner, a motor road was built from Beijing to Lhasa, and trade between the Tibetan capital Lhasa, and its leading trade centres and Nepal further dwindled as a result of this development.

In fact, until 1955, when diplomatic relations between China

and Nepal were established, relations between these two countries were more or less completely cut off. In September 1956, Nepal and China signed a comprehensive treaty of friendship in which both the countries expressed their desire to develop their traditional economic and trade relations on the principles of equality and mutual benefit.<sup>7</sup> Article IV of the treaty provided that China and Nepal had mutually agreed to establish Trade Agencies. China agreed that Nepal might establish Trade Agencies at Shigetse, Kirong and Nyalam; Nepal allowed China to open an equal number of Agencies in Nepal.

After the September agreement, on trade and travel, both countries signed aid agreements, one on 7 October 1956<sup>8</sup> and another on 21 March 1960.<sup>9</sup> All these provided a good start for doveloping trade relations between China and Nepal.

#### Post-1962 Trade Agreements

Since the opening of diplomatic relationships and the signing of the agreements in 1956 and 1960, trade relations between the two countries grew steadily both in the fields of overland and overseas trade. On 19 May 1964, both countries signed a two-year trade agreement in Kathmandu.<sup>10</sup> Both the countries agreed that the traditional barter trade between Nepalese and Tibetans living within 30 kilometres of the international boundary would countinue. This covered trade between government trading organizations as well as private parties. It did not cover the government goods that Nepal received from China to meet the cost of Chinese aided development projects. On 2 May 1966, a new agreement on trade and related questions between Nepal and Tibet was signed. The agreement was signed in Beijing by the Chinese Foreign Minister, Marshal Chen Yi, and Nagendra Prasad Rijal, visiting Minister for Industry and Commerce of Nepal.<sup>11</sup> The agreement was concluded on the basis of the 1956 agreement,<sup>12</sup> which it replaced, and was to remain in force for a period of six years.<sup>13</sup> It, inter alia, provided for the establishment of Consulate-Generals by China in Kathmandu and by Nepal in Lhasa.<sup>14</sup> However, all these agreements could not succeed in substantially increasing the volume of trade between the two countries (see Table 2 at the end of this chapter).

Earlier, on 24 February 1966, the Nepalese Government had closed down three of its four trade agencies in Tibet with immediate effect. The decision was taken by mutual agreement by the two governments. The trade agencies at Kuti, Kirong and Digarcha were closed while the one at Lhasa continued for the time being.<sup>15</sup>

In May 1969, an agreement was signed, according to which Nepal was to import goods worth £ 800,000 from China. The goods to be imported were agricultural implements, construction materials, consumer goods, and cosmetics. The sale proceeds of these goods were to be used on the Chinese aided Kathmandu-Pokhara highway.<sup>16</sup>

On 31 May 1974, Nepal and China concluded in Kathmandu a Trade and Remittance Agreement, designed to boost the volume of trade between the two countries.<sup>17</sup> The agreement envisaged trade between the two countries through land and sea-routes. It provided for three points in the land route for trade with the Chinese autonomous region of Tibet, viz., Kodari (already existing) Rasuwa (opposite to Kirong in Tibet) and Yari (opposite Purang near Taklakot in Tibet).

A press communique said that the mode of payment on the foreign trade between the two countries would be through special account for the purpose of which a 'Swing Credit' of about Rs. 75,75000 (£ 300,000) had been ascertained.<sup>18</sup> Under the new agreement, unlike the past, the annual account of payment would not have to be settled through convertible currency, and even when the amount exceeded the swing credit, the difference could be made up by exporting goods. The press communique further said that only if the difference would not be settled by exports payments would be made by convertible currency. Also, unlike previous agreements which were valid only for two years, the 1974 agreement was to be valid for three years after the expiry of which it would be automatically extended for a further period of three years as long as it remained acceptable to both the sides.<sup>19</sup> Commenting on the agreement, the Nepalese Government newspaper Rising Nepal said that, the provision for a 'Swing Credit' would greatly facilitate trade transactions and thus lead for their speedy expansion. It further said that establishment of two more trade points at Rasuwa and Yari, apart from the already existing point at Kodari, would bring significant new areas of northern Nepal more directly into the mainstream of trade between Nepal and Tibet.20

The volume of trade between Nepal and Tibet-part of China

nearly doubled in three years since 1972. According to reports published in Kathmandu newspapers on 8 June 1976, the total volume of trade between Nepal and Tibet-part of China on state account and through barter was estimated in 1975 to be at Rs. 1 crore a year. The number of commodities involved went up from 88 in 1971 to 108 in 1975. It was claimed that between 1974 and 1975, there was 24 per cent increase in the volume of trade.<sup>21</sup>

# **Composition of Sino-Nepalese Trade**

(See Tables 3, 4, at the end of this Chapter).

The composition of Sino-Nepalese trade is typical of the relationship between an industrially advanced country and a country having an underdeveloped economy, dominated by agriculture and traditional handicrafts. It has been estimated that about 75 per cent of Chinese exports to Nepal are manufactured goods and machines and about 85 per cent of Chinese imports from Nepal are raw materials.<sup>22</sup> Chief among the exports to Nepal are textiles,<sup>23</sup> light industrial products, foodstuff, cement, lubricant oil, chemical,<sup>24</sup> construction materials, agricultural implements, cosmetics,<sup>25</sup> newsprints, condensed milk, soap and sports goods.<sup>26</sup>

Among the main Chinese imports from Nepal were agricultural products and raw materials like jute, sugar, timber, tanned leather,<sup>27</sup> shoes, medical herbs and tea. China was the main importer of Nepalese jute. In 1975, Nepal exported 7,000 metric tonnes of rice to China. In the same year, it also exported about 175 tonnes of tanned leather.

# Sino-Nepalese Trade : Some Observations

Sino-Nepalese Trade which had traditionally been confined to overland trade between the people of Nepal and Tibet region of China had, over the years, been extended to the field of overseas trade between the two Governments. Yet the barter trade between the local people still constituted a substantial proportion and this had been augmented by various agreements between the two governments. Despite many agreements between China and Nepal, the volume of trade had not shown any marked increase in these periods. The total trade flow between the two countries during 1956 to 1962-63, and 1974-75 to 1978 was estimated to be of the order of Nepali Rs. 379,839 export and Rs. 110,368 import (see Table 2 at the end of this chapter).<sup>28</sup> And when compared to the volume of Indo-Nepalese trade, it almost looks non-existent. Over 90 per cent of Nepali trade is with India compared to less than 1 per cent with China.<sup>29</sup>

Thus, despite its best efforts, China had not exactly succeeded in offsetting the Nepalese dependence on India. From an analysis of the triangular relations concerning trade activities, it has been observed that Nepal has utilized its strategic location as a buffer between the two. Powers to a great extent to extract concessions from both China and India. Particularly, India had, time and again, announced relaxations and concessions to Nepal just to keep this small Himalayan Kingdom at its periphery. India had compelling reasons to do so because Nepal's closeness to China would have threatened its security. It had been noted that, during the Sino-Indian hostility period in the early sixties, exports from India were re-exported to Tibet to augment the Chinese military preparations, and Nepal had to ban on 6 December 1961 the export of certain strategic materials like iron rods, iron bars, iron sheets, cement, petrol, kerosene and coal. The Chinese were known to be encouraging the smuggling of these items into Tibet by offering high prices.30

From the small volume of Sino-Nepalese trade and the importance that the Chinese propaganda machinery gives to its relations with Nepal, it was obvious that the interests of the Chinese in such economic transactions were political and strategic rather than economic.

#### CHINESE AID PROGRAMME IN NEPAL

#### Chinese Foreign Aid : General Features<sup>31</sup>

In the beginning, Chinese foreign aid programme, was confined to the fellow communist countries. Aid to non-communist developing countries was begun in 1956. Given the fact that China itself had been deeply in debt, and that half the countries receiving Chinese aid had per capita national products roughly equal to, or exceeding that of China, there was no logical economic reason for China to mount a foreign aid programme. Yet the aid commitments to foreign countries during the period 1953 to 1965 totalled more than 2 billion dollars.<sup>32</sup> Even during years of domestic economic difficulty, the foreign aid programme seemed not to have declined significantly. During the economic crisis of 1961, aid commitments were extended in a larger amount than ever.<sup>33</sup> The Chinese foreign aid programme is primarily politically motivated, designed to promote Chinese influence. This, however, does not rule out the possibility of long-run commercial gain. In fact, these have been the unexceptional interests of the countries engaged in the task of assisting the less developed countries, emphemistically called "aid", to come off their economic slumber. The Chinese foreign aid programme, though similar with the programme of other foreign countries in this respect, exhibited some unique features.

Quite a substantial amount of China's aid was in the form of donations, technically described as 'non-repayable loans'. Between 1956 and 1973, China gave a total of US \$ 309 million as donation to six countries each, in Africa and Asia and to two countries in the Middle East.<sup>34</sup> The African countries received US \$ 30.6 million, the Asian countries, US \$ 257.6 million, the near and Middle Eastern countries, US \$ 21 million. In this respect Asia took precedence with 23.6 per cent of all loans offered to the seven Asian countries (US \$ 1,089 million) consisting of loans.<sup>35</sup> The country profiting most was Cambodia all of whose loans were non-repayable. The second country benefited by donations was Nepal, 35 million US dollars, of whose Chinese loans were donations<sup>36</sup> (see Table 6 at the end of this chapter).

The major share of China's economic aid loans are without interest. Added to this is the fact that her terms of repayment are more favourable than those granted by any other country, capitalist or Communist. In the case of relatively large loans, China has made it a habit to offer the recipients a period of grace of 10 years, beginning on completion of the economic aid project in question. Only after the lapse of this period does repayment begin; the instalments usually being distributed over 20 years.<sup>37</sup>

Another unique feature consists of the conditions China has made for the remuneration of Chinese aid personnel working in foreign countries. All Chinese economic aid agreements contain a clause that Chinese technicians and workers shall be paid in accordance with the standards of the receiving country. As the standard of living in most developing countries is low, the cost factor is thus reduced considerably. It is, therefore, fairly safe to assume that the expenses on salaries and wages in a Chinese economic aid project will amount to far less than half the costs arising for the recipient countries when comparable economic aid is offered by capitalist countries or communist countries other than China.<sup>38</sup>

China, of course, has given loans to some countries with an interest rate of 2.5 per cent. But the proportion of such loans in the total loans given by China is rather insignificant. Of the US \$3,384.4 million total aid promised by China by 1973 only US \$70.2 million were loans with interest. The greater part of the offered loans by China, viz., US \$1,643 million (or 48.8 per cent), went to 29 countries in Africa. Second comes Asia where seven countries received a total of US \$1,089 million (32 per cent). The centres of gravity in Chinese aid pattern are marked by rail and road communications projects on the one hand and medium and small scale projects on the other (see Table 6 at the end of this chapter). This was so because China did not have the proper technical expertise to foster basic heavy industry in these countries. Till date, China has only set up one Heavy Machine Factory at Taxila in Pakistan. Added to this was the well-thought out policy that small scale projects would have immediate bearing on the economy of the recipient country, and, hence, would earn the goodwill of that country.

One noteworthy feature about the financing of these Chineseaided projects is that China does not finance them through hard currency, obviously because of its limited foreign exchange resources. China followed the Soviet model of financing through local currency and that currency is acquired from the proceeds of the sale of Chinese consumer goods in the Nepalese market. The repayment from the recipient country is also accepted through that country's exports.

Given this backdrop of the characteristic features of the Chinese foreign aid pattern, we would analyse the nature of China's aid to Nepal.

#### Aid Agreement with Nepal

(See Table 7 at the end of this chapter)

China's aid programme in Nepal started in 1956, the year in which China inaugurated its policy of giving aid to non-communist developing countries in contrast to the original policy of advancing such assistances to fraternal communist countries. On 7 October 1956, during the then Nepalese Premier's State visit to China, Beijing agreed to offer Nepal donation worth 60 million in Indian rupees (US § 12.7 million) over a period of three years.<sup>39</sup> One-third of this was a cash grant, to be paid in two instalments in 1957 and 1958, and the remaining was an united loan. The unique feature of this aid was that Nepal was given complete freedom of utilizing the money and commodities.<sup>40</sup>

Subsequently, China altered in cash the first instalment of its aid amounting to 10 million rupees in February 1957. Instead of spending this amount on the stipulated purpose of setting up Chinese-aided projects, like cement factory and paper mill, this amount was spent by the Nepalese Government on Indian and American aided projects. Similarly, the second instalment of 10 million rupees, as provided in 1959, was spent by Nepal in tiding over the persistents economic crisis resulting from fluctuations in its currency value.<sup>41</sup>

On 21 March 1960, B.P. Koirala's Government signed an aided agreement with China. Under this agreement, covering three years, China agreed to provide Nepal a grant of 100 million in Indian rupees (US \$21.2 million).<sup>42</sup> This new agreement differed from its predecessor in that it was earmarked for technical assistance to Nepal like equipment, machinery and technical advice.

It was specified that the travel expenses of the Chinese experts and technicians from and back to China as their salaries during the period of work in the Kingdom would be borne by the People's Republic of China, but their living expenses during their period of work in Nepal were to be paid from the aid amount. It was also stressed that the living standard of the Chinese personnel would not exceed the level of that of their American and Indian counterparts.<sup>43</sup> On 15 October 1961, China again agreed to donate £ 3.5 million (US \$ 9.8 million) to Nepal for the construction of the Kodari-Kathmandu 10ad.<sup>44</sup> Thus, a common characteristic of all these three agreements was that the aids were in the form of donations and were allowed to be spent according to the recipient country's wish. This became very attractive to Nepal, for the aids she was receiving from other countries, like India and the United States, though massive in comparison to the aid given by China (see Table 8 at the end of this chapter), were conditional and in the form of loans.

On 21 December 1966, China entered into another agreement with Nepal to give interest-free loan of Nepalese rupees 150 million (US \$20 million), for the period commencing on 21 December 1966 and ending on 31 December 1977.<sup>45</sup> On 18 November 1971 China agreed to give an interest-free loan of US \$35 million (estimated).<sup>46</sup>

#### CHINESE AID PROJECTS IN NEPAL

(See Table 9 at the end of this Chapter)

#### The Kathmandu-Kodari Road : (Arnika Road)

The Chinese participation in the aid projects in Nepal started with signing of the agreement for the construction of the Kathmandu-Kodari road on 15 October 1961 by the Chinese Foreign Minister, Chen Yi and Dr. Tulsi Giri, the Nepalese Minister for Foreign Affairs, Home, Transport, Works and Communications. The road was proposed to link China's Tibet area with Kathmandu in Nepal.<sup>47</sup>

The idea of linking Tibet with Nepal was first mooted when the Chinese Premier Zhou Enlai visited Nepal on 26 April 1960.<sup>48</sup> During his visit the Chinese Premier under-scored the cultural and commercial intercourse between China and Nepal in ancient times and emphasized the need of linking Tibet with Nepal to further the economic and trade intercourse between the two countries.<sup>49</sup> Concrete talks for the construction of Kathmandu-Kodari road, however, were started in October 1961 when King Mahendra visited China and an agreement was signed.<sup>50</sup>

China offered to spend  $\pm 3.5$  million on the proposed 80mile black-top all-weather road linking Lhasa with Kathmandu through the Kodari pass on the Nepal-Tibet border. Starting from Kathmandu the road was planned to go up to Benepa, at the North Eastern erd of the greater Kathmandu valley after touching the ancient town of Bhadgaon.<sup>51</sup> Work on the project began on 24 September 1963 at half a dozen points. Official sources indicated that about 3,000 Nepalese workmen had been employed to complete the preliminary work.<sup>52</sup> The road was opened to single file three-ton truck traffic on 25 December 1964. A supplementary agreement was signed on 30 June 1966 for metalling the surface of the road and it was agreed that the additional cost of metalling the surface would be met out of the  $\pm 3.5$  million aid China<sup>58</sup> had agreed to give to Nepal in October 1961. The road was completed six months ahead of schedule and was formally inaugurated by King Mahendra on 26 May 1967.<sup>54</sup>

The highway replaced the old mule track through which the traditional trade between Tibet and Nepal used to flow. Besides facilitating the movement of men and materials within the country, the road helped in the direct and quick communication and transportation between Nepal and China through Lhasa. It also brought the remote hill region of Nepal much closer to the rest of the Kingdom. Besides, the road also served strategic and political objectives, though the strategic importance was never explicitly highlighted by China. Strategically, the road linked the Nepalese capital with Kodari, a Tibetan village on the Sino-Neplese border. Kodari is further linked with Beijing through Lhasa and also with a whole network of strategic roads in Tibet.

The 104 km. road had four major bridges, 19 medium and minor bridges and 477 culverts. The breadth varied from 5.5 to 7.5 meters. 77.45 km. of its length is covered with a 4 cm. deep layer of bitumen and the rest 26.55 km. is stone work.<sup>55</sup> The design load of the bridges and culverts on the road was 17 tons, much more than that of the Tribhuvan Rajpath built with Indian assistance and what is normally needed for a commercial traffic and is quite sufficient for the movement of the troops and millitary equipment used in the mountain warfare.<sup>56</sup> The speed, interest and skill with which the project was executed further confirmed these motives.

It seems that the Chinese gave considerable attention in persuading Nepal to agree to such a project. This becomes evident from the fact that China herself conceded that the then Nepalese Prime Minister, B.P. Koirala rejected the project at the first instance. Koirala pointed out that any such project was not of much economic value for Nepal but would be of strategic advantage only to the Chinese.<sup>57</sup> The Chinese, however, succeeded in getting the acquiescence of King Mahendra during his visit to China in 1961. In the talks between the Chinese leaders and the King, it was also clearly revealed that the Chinese took all the initiative and the King was on the receiving side. From all these facts, one would say that it was the strategic objective which reigned supreme in the Chinese mind in offering such a project.

The potential strategic importance of the road to the Chinese

could be deduced from the extreme urgency shown by China for completing the construction within the stipulated period of five years.<sup>58</sup> An important feature of Chinese foreign aid programme, which manifested during the construction of the road, was that China provided consumer goods to Nepal to meet the local cost of construction.<sup>59</sup> In fact, China was the first country to provide consumer items to meet the local cost of the construction of foreign-aided projects out of the proceeds of the sales of such goods. This served China's purpose in two ways : first, it earned Nepal's goodwill by providing consumer goods at a fantastically low price,<sup>60</sup> and secondly, it reduced Nepalis dependence on India for such comparable goods.

The opening of the Kathmandu-Kodari road caused considerable concern in the Indian Parliament. On 3 July 1967, Lok Sabha expressed a general feeling that the road posed a serious threat to India's security and any complacency in the matter on the part of the government would be fraught with grave consequences.<sup>61</sup> The Soviet Union also expressed similar opinion on the opening of the road. On 13 July 1967, the Soviet journal *Literaturanaya Gazeta* stressed that the road had military and strategic importance. In an article titled "Mao's Shadow Over the Himalays", the author of the article, Andronar, observed that the highway was only a pretext for the Chinese to carry out espionage. It further noted that the five hundred Chinese specialists on the road project were obliged to pass intormation of a geological and topographical nature.<sup>62</sup>

## KATHMANDU-BHAKTAPUR ROAD

On 27 September 1968, China concluded an agreement to build a road from Kathmandu to a place west of Bhaktapur-Kodari road.<sup>63</sup> Surveying commenced in October 1968<sup>64</sup> and the 16-kilometre long road was completed in 1970.<sup>65</sup>

#### KATHMANDU-POKHARA (PRITHVI HIGHWAY)

According to a protocol, signed on 29 August 1965, China agreed to construct a 176-km. long road linking Kathmandu with Pokhara.<sup>66</sup> The road starts at Naubise, located 20 km. from Kathmandu at the road to the Indian frontier. It follows the left bank of the Trisuli river, in western direction, to Tribeni Ghat. Hence it proceeds in north-western direction, following the right bank of Marsyandi Khora river to Chyanglitar where it turns westward to Khairani and then again to northwest, following the left banks of the Trisuli river to the Pokhara valley.<sup>67</sup> Surveying of the road started in November 1965.<sup>68</sup> The number of bridges in the course of the 176-km. road total 29, the longest being (a) the one across the Madi river at Damauli, and (b) the one across the Trisuli river at Manglingpur.<sup>69</sup> The Chinese technicians engaged in this project had previously constructed the Kathmandu-Kodari road.<sup>70</sup> By July 1969 the first 74 km. of the road was ready to be used with jeeps,<sup>71</sup> and was completed in Januray 1974.<sup>72</sup>

#### **Ring Road**

Under an agreement, signed in Kathmandu on 20 March 1973, China agreed to build a ring road around the Kathmandu valley connecting Patari and Bhaktapur.<sup>73</sup> The ring road was to circularly link India-built Tribhuvan Rajpath and the Chinesebuilt Kodari highway. The 30-km long road project costing about (\$4.95 million) 50 million Nepalese rupees was to be financed by China.<sup>74</sup> The ring road would be 10 metres wide with 2½ meters foot-path on both sides. It would have seven major bridges and several culverts. Beginning from Chabahil the ring road would take a full circle touching points like Bansbari, Gangabu, Swayambhu, Neikap, Tribhuvan University Campus area, Jawalakhel, Satdobato, Koteswor and the Tribhuvan airport. The main advantage from the road would be easing up of the daily increasing traffic problem in the capital.<sup>75</sup> The road was completed in 1977 with nine small and medium size bridges.<sup>76</sup>

#### **Pokhara-Surkhet Road**

On 2 February 1975, new aid agreement was signed by China and Nepal according to which China agreed to build 407 km. Pokhara-Surkhet midhill highway in West Nepal.<sup>77</sup> The highway, expected to cost Rs. 90 crores (U.S. \$ 80 to 85), would have 11 big and over 300 medium size bridges and more than 2,000 culverts was to pass through nine districts *via* Dana, Dhorpatan, Rukunkot, Jajarkot and Dailekh.<sup>78</sup> China agreed to provide engineers and technical personnel and road building machinery. It was also agreed that China would supply general commodities worth several crores of rupees. The proceeds from the sale of these would be used for meeting of the construction cost.<sup>79</sup>

#### Leather and Shoe Factory

China built the first leather and shoe factory of Nepal<sup>80</sup> at Bansbari near Kathmandu.<sup>81</sup> Work for the project was started in May 1964<sup>82</sup> and was completed in June 1965.<sup>88</sup> The factory, with an annual capacity of 21,000 pieces of leather and 30,000 pairs of shoes, was built at a cost of 7 million Nepalese rupees.<sup>84</sup> According to the report, the factory was reported to be producing 300 pairs a day.<sup>85</sup> The capacity of the factory was raised later and, in 1972, it produced 31,000 pieces of leather and 66,000 pairs of shoes. The hides used for leather making are from Nepal. Ninety per cent of the sole leather is produced for export.<sup>86</sup> By making use of scrap leather the factory in the carly seventies began to produce glue, sheath, belts, and other commodities, thus slashing production cost and increasing the variety of products.<sup>87</sup>

#### **Brick and Tile Factory**

China constructed a Brick and Tile Factory at Harisiddhi in Lalitpur, five kilometres away from Kathmandu, at a cost of 15 million Nepalese rupees.88 This fund was met out of the unutilized aid of the Janakpur-Biratnagar highway<sup>89</sup> from which China withdrew in face of Indian protest. Work for the factory started in October 1965,90 and the factory, with an annual capacity of 20 million bricks and 0.5 million tiles.<sup>91</sup> was inaugurated on 12 March 1969.92 The factory came fully under Nepali management.93 The factory produced nearly 30 million red bricks in the fiscal year of 1971-72, while the output of red tiles doubled, as compared with the previous year.<sup>94</sup> The coal requirement of the factory was met by imports from India.95 On 14 March 1972, letters were exchanged between China and Nepal regarding the expansion of the factory.<sup>96</sup> On 5 July 1974, an agreement was signed in Kathmandu between Nepal and China according to which China agreed to set up a second brick and tile factory at Surya Vinayak, 15 kilometres from Kathmandu.<sup>97</sup> The agreement followed a comprehensive survey of the prospects for the factory by a Chinese team. The team had arrived some months earlier in accordance with an agreement reached in Beijing between Nepal and China on 12 November 1972.98 With an annual capacity of 20 million bricks the factory was to be constructed in an area of 14 hectares of land.<sup>99</sup> The agreement also provided that China would supply the required machines and equipment and would

provide training facilities to Nepalese technicians.<sup>100</sup>

#### **Hydroelectric Station**

The Sunkosi hydroelectric station is an important gift of China to Nepal. Protocols for the project were signed on 25 May 1964<sup>101</sup> and on 25 May 1967.<sup>102</sup> Surveying commenced in June 1967<sup>103</sup> and work for the project started towards the end of 1968<sup>104</sup> The power station, with a capacity to generate 10,000 kw<sup>105</sup> of power, was completed on 24 November 1972.<sup>106</sup> China also constructed overhead transmission line from Sunkosi to Kathmandu.<sup>107</sup> By the Protocol of 24 December 1970, China agreed to provide financial and technical assistance in setting up overhead power transmission lines from Sunkosi Chautara and Barahbise.<sup>108</sup>

On 8 July 1976, China and Nepal signed another agreement under which the former will give free grant equivalent to about \$4 million for the construction of a small dam across the Seti river near Pokhara in Western Nepal.<sup>109</sup> The proposed hydel project would generate 1,000 kw. of power and facilitate irrigation for 1,200 hectares of land in the Akhor valley.<sup>110</sup>

Mention should also be made of the Chinese withdrawal from the Kaula irrigation project in 1965.<sup>111</sup> A despatch of 6 April 1965 said that China withdrew from the Kaula irrigation project and the East-West highways project because of the problems of finding funds and technical knowhow.<sup>112</sup> The real reason behind the withdrawal from this project, however, was to avoid complications that would have resulted from third party participation in a project across, strictly speaking, an Indo-Nepalese river, i.e., the Kaula.

#### Warehouses and Town Hall

China has also constructed for Nepal two warehouses, one in Kathmandu<sup>113</sup> and the other at Birgunj,<sup>114</sup> and a townhall in Kathmandu.<sup>115</sup>

Both the warehouses were started in 1965 and completed in 1967, and both had equal floor space of 7,000 sq. metres.<sup>116</sup> The town hall was inaugurated on 11 November 1970.<sup>117</sup>

#### **Trolley-Bus Project**

On 15 March 1972, China agreed to instal a 13 km. long trolley-bus service between Kathmandu and Bhaktapur.<sup>118</sup> The

cost of the project was estimated at 2.3 million Nepalese rupces<sup>119</sup> and China agreed to provide 22 trolley buses for the services. Work for the project was started on 29 December 1973.<sup>120</sup> In 1974 it was decided to extend the trolley bus line by 2 km. up to the Tripureshwar,<sup>121</sup> and the same was completed in December 1975.<sup>122</sup>

# **Cotton Textile Mill**

After the failure of the Nepal-India Trade and Transit talks in 1971,<sup>123</sup> the Government of Nepal began secret talks with the Government of China with regard to the possibility of Chinese assistance in the establishment of certain basic industries including cement and textile and pharmaceutical plants in Nepal.<sup>124</sup> On 24 January 1974, it was announced in Kathmandu that China would help Nepal set up its first medium size cotton textile mill at Hetauda, about 70 km. from Indo-Nepalese border.<sup>125</sup> The project formed part of a technical and economic co-operation agreement, signed in Beijing thirteen months ago.<sup>126</sup> The mill with 15,000 spindles and 480 looms<sup>127</sup> would produce about 10 million metres of cloth, including shirting and saree materials annually and would consume about 23,000 tons of raw cotton.<sup>128</sup> Work for the factory began on 1 January 1976.<sup>129</sup> The factory went on trial production from March 1978 for which cotton was imported from Pakistan.<sup>180</sup> From the second week of January 1978, several flights by Pakistan International Airlines delivered some 200 tonnes lintals needed for trial production at the Rs. 17 crores textile factory.<sup>131</sup>

## **Cotton Cultivation**

On 16 July 1971, China signed an agreement with Nepal to carry out feasibility survey for cotton cultivation in the terai region of Western Nepal.<sup>132</sup> However, in 1973, China wound up its nearly two-year old cotton growing experiment.<sup>133</sup> The project had evoked strong protests from India because of its proximity to the Indian border.<sup>134</sup> While no definite reason was available for the closure of the project, the experiment had not resulted in a great success. The controversial project started when Nepal asked Chinese experts to carry out the cotton growing feasibility survey at Butwal hardly 25 km. from the Indian border,<sup>135</sup> in Nepalese Terai. This was the first incident of Chinese presence so near to Indian borders, indicating a breach of the Nepalese assurance given by Nepal in 1965 that the Chinese would not be allowed in the Terai region. However, the Nepalese Government did not budge from its decision despite the "grave concern" expressed by the Indian External Affairs Minister, Sardar Swaran Singh, during his visit to Nepal in September 1971.<sup>136</sup> In fact, the Nepalese Prime Minister, K.N. Bista defended his government's decision, saying that Indian fears were without justification and that India should "appreciate the need of other sources of economic assistance to Nepal."<sup>137</sup>

#### Survey on Mineral Deposits

Apart from the cotton cultivation project, on 27 October 1971, China also signed up with Nepal another controversial agreement, and in the face of strong protest from India to undertake a comprehensive geological survey in the Himalayan Kingdom to find deposits<sup>138</sup> of iron, phosphorite, coal and petroleum. The agreement was signed barely two hours after Nepal and India had arrived at an understanding on irrigation and power problems.<sup>139</sup> Sixteen Chinese experts were already in the capital. Under the agreement of 27 October, these experts would form two teams, a seven member team for petroleum survey and the other nine for iron, phosphorite and coal.<sup>140</sup>

#### Pokhara Water Conservatory and Irrigation Project

By the agreement, signed on 8 July 1976 by the Nepalese Finance Secretary Mr. Bhasat Bahadur Pradhan and the Chinese Charge d'Affaires, Mr. Li Nuan-chin, China agreed to build a water conservatory and irrigation project in Pokhara.<sup>141</sup> China agreed to provide construction materials and equipment, engineering and technical personnel and a certain amount of commodities the sales proceeds of which would be used to meet the local cost of the project.<sup>142</sup> The agreement envisaged the construction of head works on the Seti Grandaki, a trunk canal, branch canals and a 1,000 kw hydroelectric power station on the trunk canal.<sup>143</sup>

#### Chinese Aid Programme in Nepal : Analytical Perspective

Chinese aid mission as it all started in Nepal in 1956 could as well be described as a gesture rather than well-articulated programme with the sincere intention of implementation behind it. For one, China in the fifties never had the ideological inclination nor technological and fiscal capability to support any large scale aid programme. All that was there was only a political expediency to win the goodwill of other nations-big or small, thereby establishing the credential of China in world politics. During this period of the fifties, China sincerely wanted to woo India and any large scale aid offensive in Nepal would have run counter to this objective. The manner in which the aid promises given in 1956 were implemented also give credence to the above argument. Till 1962, China did not make any sincere effort to construct the projects it promised, except, of course, the Kathmandu-Kodari road project, which was of vital political, economic and security interest to China. By 1961, China had withdrawn from the promised cement and paper plant, presumably because the expectation of getting the technology for plants from Eastern Europe did not hold any prospect.

It was only after 1962 that China made any serious effort to fulfil its promises. The one compelling reason for that was to counter the economic domination of India, with which China had by now deteriorated its relationship beyond reparation. The Sino-Indian War of 1962 had prompted both the countries to maintain a smooth relationship with the strategically situated buffer. But since China did not have the capability to match the volume of Indian aid programme in Nepal it sought different means to offset the Indian influence. It made its aid offers more attractive by offering better terms like free grants, interest free loans with a long period of repayment, payment of the salaries of the Chinese personnel working in Nepal by China and equal standard of living for the Chinese experts and their Nepalese counterparts. All this was done to mark a difference between the Chinese aid programme and the aid programmes of the other countries. Added to this, the continuing propaganda tactics that Beijing carried on to prove its populist and pro-people intentions, went a long way in influencing the Nepalese mind in favour of China and against India.

The nature of the projects that China undertook also made China more popular in Nepal than India. Whereas India had undertaken long term projects with the intention of developing the economic infra-structure of the country, China emphasized shortrun, low capital-consuming projects that would have an immediate impact on the local economy making the Chinese efforts more visible. Among the projects that China undertook, a considerable portion was road construction. The road projects endeared the Chinese to the Nepalese as they eased Nepal's communications problem. The other projects like brick and tile factory, leather and shoe factory, warehouses, cotton textile factory, etc., were all in small and medium sector. The noteworthy feature about the financing of these projects was that China did not finance them through hard currency, obviously because of its limited foreign exchange resources. China followed the Soviet model of financing through local currency and that currency was acquired from the proceeds of the sale of Chinese consumer goods in the Nepalese market. The repayment was also accepted through Nepal's exports. This policy offered China an assured market for the future.

The type of project that China undertook in Nepal revealed the implicit motive of China to offset Indian influence. It offered to construct such projects-like cotton textiles, leather and shoe factory—to produce things which Nepal had traditionally been importing from India.

It is conceded that Chinese aid programme since 1963 displayed steady growth. This would be evident from tables given at the end of this chapter. In 1969, China became the second major donor for Nepal, and since that year its position as a aid-giver to Nepal had alternated between second and third. But the foremost aid -giver to Nepal had always been India and the volume of Chinese assistance to Nepal made a poor comparison. In 1969 itself, when China became the second major donor, its volume of assistance. was approximately one-third of the Indian assistance. In fact, the amount of China's aid had never become more than fifty per cent of the Indian amount, and when the total assistance given by both the countries since 1956 is compared, China's record was very meagre. Despite this, China through its aid programme had earned an amount of goodwill in Nepal much more than the volume of aid it gave. Nepal regarded Chinese aid as completely without any string and as the only country capable of offsetting Nepal's overdependence on India. As far as offsetting Indian influence is concerned, it would hardly be maintained that China had succeeded in achieving it. But, as regards the Chinese intention of cultivating a pro-Chinese and anti-Indian Nepalese-mind, the efforts of China met with a measure of success.

TABLE	1
-------	---

China : Balance of Trade <sup>1</sup> (In Million US Dollars)
---

.

		1	'otal trade			C	Comm <b>u</b> nist	Countries		Non-co	mmunist C	o <b>un</b> tries
	Total	Exports	Imports	Balance	Total	Exports	Imports	Balance	Total	Exports	Imports	Balance
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1950	1,210	620	590	30	350	210	140	70	860	410	450	40
<b>19</b> 51	1,900	780	1,120		975	465	515	50	920	315	605	-290
1952	1,890	875	1,015	—140	1,315	605	710	-105	575	270	305	3:
<b>19</b> 53	2,295	1,040	1,255	<b>—215</b>	1,555	670	885	-215	740	370	370	(
<b>1954</b>	2,350	1,060	1,290	230	1,735	765	970	-205	615	295	320	25
955	3,035	1,375	1,660	-285	2,250	<b>950</b>	1,300	350	785	425	360	6
<b>19</b> 56	3,120	1,635	1,485	150	2,055	1,045	1,010	35	1,065	590	475	11:
1957	3,055	1,615	1,440	175	1,965	1,085	880	205	1,090	530	560	30
1958	3,765	1,940	1,825	115	2,380	1,280	1,110	180	1,385	660	725	6.
1959	4,290	2,230	2,060	170	2,980	1,615	1,365	250	1,310	615	695	80
1960	3,990	1,960	2,030	—70	2,620	1,335	1,285	50	1,370	625	745	-12
1961	3,015	1,525	1,490	35	1,685	965	715	250	1,335	560	775	-21
<b>196</b> 2	2,670	1,520	1,150	370	1,410	915	490	425	1,265	605	660	-55
1963	2,775	1,575	1,200	375	1,250	820	430	<b>390</b>	1,525	755	770	—1:
<b>196</b> 4	3,220	1,750	1,470	280	1,100	710	390	320	2,120	1,040	1,080	4(
<b>196</b> 5	3,880	2,035	1,845	190	1,165	650	515	135	2,715	1,385	1,330	5
1966	4,245	2,210	2,035	175	1,090	585	505	80	3,155	1,625	1,530	9
1967	3,915	1,960	1,955	5	830	485	345	140	3,085	1,475	1,610	-13
1968	3,785	1,960	1,825	135	840	500	340	160	2,945	1,460	1,485	2

97

(Contd.)

TABLE 1 (Contd.)

13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	.3	2	. 1
	1,540	1,570	3,110	195	295	490	785	225	1,835	2,060	3,895	1969
250	1,865	1,615	3,480	100	380	480	860	-150	2,245	2,095	4,340	1970
105	1,810	1,915	3,725	85	500	585	1,085	190	2,310	2,500	4,810	1971
95	2,315	2,410	4,725	205	535	740	1,275	300	2,850	3,150	6,000	1972
-440	4,515	4,075	8,590	290	710	1,000	1,710		5,225	5,075	10,300	<b>L973</b>
—1, <b>1</b> 85	6,415	5,230	11,645	420	1,010	1,430	2,435	760	7,420	6,660	14,080	1974
—585	6,385	5,800	12,185	370	1,010	1,380	2,390	-215	7,395	7,180	14,575	1 <del>9</del> 75
1,115	4,900	6,015	10,915	135	1,105	1,240	2,345	1,245	6,005	7,250	13,255	1976
•	-		•					·			• •	1977. ·
												1978.

\*Dates are rounded to the nearest \$5,000,000. Because of rounding components may not add to total shown. Source: Chinese Economy Post-Mao, A Compendium of Paper's Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States, vol. 1, 9 November 1978, p. 733.

Year	Exports to Nepal	Imports from Nepal
1956-57	2.036	1.967
1957-58	2.818	0.301
1958-59	1.242	1.349
1959-60	0.444	2.829
1960-61	0.565	2.760
1961-62	1.328	4.753
1962-63	1.643	5.075
1963-64 to		
1973-74	n. <b>a</b> .	<b>n.a</b> .
1974-75	121.301	23.580
1975-76	48.012	29.094
1976-77	68.437	16.493
1977-78	132.012	22,167

China's Trade with Nepal 1956-1978 (In Million Nepali Rupees)

 Source: Investment Promotion and Publicity Division, Nepal Industrial Development Corporation, Kathmandu, Nepal, Statistical Abstracts, October-November 1967, p. 7; Nepal Trade Promotion Center, Nepal: Overseas Trade Statistics, 1976-77 (Kathmandu, 1977), pp. 109 & 120; 1977-78 (Kathmandu, 1978), pp. 143 & 154; Nepal Rashtra Bank Research Department, Monthly Report; Main Economic Indicator January 1980 (Kathmandu), p. 4.

#### TABLE 3

Commodity	1974-75	1975-76	<b>19</b> 76-77
Goat skins		0.648	1.739
Hides		1.071	1.830
Linseed	6.054	14.911	4.008
Medicinal herbs	0.210	0.131	
Raw Jute	17.316	12.332	
Tobacco			8.853
Others	—	0.001	0.063
Total	23.580	29.094	16.493

#### Nepal's Commodity Exports to China,\* 1974-75 to 1976-77 (In Million Rupees)

\*Excluding overland trade.

Source : Nepal, Trade Promotion Centre, Overseas Trade Statistics of Nepal 1976-77 (Provisional) (Kathmandu, n.d.), pp. 109 and 119-20.

Commodity	1974-75	1975-76	<b>1976-</b> 77
Textiles (synthetic)	1.915	0.648	
Textiles (non-synthetic)	37.474	11.984	7.822
Readymade garments	5.1 <b>46</b>	1.647	0.184
Bus, truck and parts	0.516	1.800	0.174
Bicycle and parts	0.592	0.831	
Machineries and parts	0.654	2.108	30.078
Construction materials	_	1.190	1.666
Asphalt pitch	1.212	0.656	<del></del>
Cement	8.544	10.282	3.865
Steel and their products	1.529	1.011	0.790
Aircraft spare parts	0.010	1.209	-
Office equipments and			
stationary	12.422	3.339	2.309
Medical equipments		1.472	0.008
Chemicals	0.835	0.720	0.823
Soaps	1.557	1.190	0.331
Shoe and sandals	0.600	1.518	5.493
Iron rods and sheets	3.990	0.905	
Personal goods	0.090	1.084	0.182
Others	44.215	4.418	14.712
Total	121.301	48.012	68.437

Nepal's Commodity Imports from China, 1974-75 to 1976-77 (In Million Nepali Rupees)

\*Excluding overland trade.

# Chinese Loans to Nepal, 1956-1977

Date of ggreement	Amount of loan in million rupees	Amount of loan in million US dollars	Nature/terms of payment	Purpose
1	2	3	4	5
7 October 1956	60	12.7	One-third as financial aid to be paid in two instalments in 1957 and 1958, two-thirds in goods donation, only partially utilized	
21 March 1960 5 September	100	21.2	donation	
1961		5.4	\$ 2.1 million in cash and \$ 83.3 mn in commodities	To pay local costs of Chinese aid
15 Octob <del>e</del> r 1961		9.8	donation	For construction of Lhasa- Kathmandu road to be completed by 1966

(Contd.)

101

1	2	3	4	5
21 December				
1966	150*	20.0	interest-free; payable between December 1966 and December 1977	
1971	•	6.5	annual aid contribu- tion	
18 November				
1972	300*	35.0**		Rs. 300 million economic and technical cooperation agreement covering five pro- jects, including an electric trolley bus system and Nara- yangarh-Gorkha highway
8 July 1976		4.0	donation	For construction of small dam across Seti river near Pokhara, Western Nepal

T'ABLE 5 (Contd.)

1 r

\*In Nepali rupees.

\*\*Estimates.

	Completed	Under Construc- tion*	Planned
Heavy Industry	 1		
Mining	2		1
Oil Industry	1	1	-
Light Industry	63	9	28
Textile Mills	13	9	5
<b>Broadcasting Stations</b>	9		-
Buildings	31	4	6
Power Stations Hydroelectric	7		5
Power Stations Thermoelectric	2		5
Electrification	3		4
Transport Roads	12	8	4
Transport Railwaylines	1	1	2
Transport Bridges	11	2	2
Transport Miscellaneous	2	1	1
Medical Aid Medical Groups	4	10	
Medical Hospitals	7	3	
Medical Aid Pharmaceutical plan	ts 3		
Agriculture	16	9	13
Irrigation and water supply	10	4	6
Other Projects	6		11
Totai	206	61	90

# The Chinese Aid Projects (According to Branches and Stages)

\*Including ten projects, which had not been completed when economic aid was discontinued in Burma, Ghana and Indonesia.

Source : Woolfgang Bartake, China's Economic Aid (Delhi, 1975), p. 204.

# Agreements Signed between China and Nepal, 1955-1978

1	2
1 August 1955	Agreement on establishment of diplomatic relations signed in New Delhi.
20 September 1956	Agreement on friendly relations and trade and intercourse.
7 October 1956	Agreement on economic aid providing for Chinese donation of US\$ 12.7 million.
21 March 1960	Agreement on economic aid providing for Chinese donation of US\$ 21.2 million.
21 March 1960	Boundary agreement.
28 March 1960	Treaty of Peace and Friendship.
5 September 1961	Protocol to the agreement on economic aid of 21 March 1960.
5 October 1961	Boundary treaty.
15 October 1961	Agreement on construction of Kodari- Kathmandu road providing for Chinese donation of £ 3.5 million (US\$ 9.8 mn).
April 1961	Protocol on Chinese donation of 200,000 yuan for Biratnagar fire victims.
14 August 1962	Exchange of notes on the choice of nationality, trans-frontier pasturing by inhabitants of certain border areas.
13 January 1963	Protocal for the construction of the Kathmandu-Lhasa Highway.
20 January 1963	Boundary Protocol.
27 April 1964	Supplementary protocol to agreement on economic aid of March 1960 and to protocol of September 1961 for construc- tion of Dhalkewar-Ithari road, a bricks factory at Kathmandu and a warehouse at Birganj.
19 May 1964	Trade agreement.
25 May 1964	Protocol on construction of a hydroelectric station.
4 October 1964	Protocol on construction of irrrigation

1	. 2
	projects.
11 October 1964	Cultural agreement.
November 1964	Agreement on construction of a barrage
	as part of Kamal irrigation project.
21 January 1965	Provisional agreement on direct postal exchange.
August 1965	Protocol on construction of Kathmandu- Pokhara road.
3 September 1965	Cultural agreement.
2 May 1966	Agreement on trade, intercourse, and related questions between Tibet Auto- nomous Region of China and Nepal.
30 June 1966	Supplementary agreement on maintenance of Kathmandu-Kodari road.
18 October 1966	Exchange of documents on conversion of 1956 and 1960 Chinese loans of Indian rupees 160 million to £ 12 million.
21 December 1966	Agreement on economic and technical cooperation providing for Chinese interest- free loan of US \$ 20 million for the period of 21 December 1966 to 31 December 1977.
14 March 1967	Contract on Chinese donation of 20,000 tonnes of rice.
25 May 1967	Protocol on construction of Sunkosi hydroelectric station.
26 March 1968	Protocol on prolongation of 1960 eco- nomic aid agreement until 1975.
28 May 1968	Trade agreement.
13 June 1968	Agreement between NCNA and National News Agency of Nepal on exchange of news.
27 September 1968	Protocol on construction of Kathmandu- Bhaktapur road.
13 September 1969	Red Cross Society of China gifts 1 million doses each of smallpox and tuberculosis vaccines to Red Cross Society of Nepal.
24 December 1970	Protocol on long distance transmission line

1	2
	from Sunkosi hydroelectric station to
	Chantara and to Brahbise.
3 March 1971	Protocol on repair and maintenance of
	Kathmandu-Kodari road.
16 July 1971	Exchange of letters on Chinese assistance
	for construction of bitumen infiltration
	pavement for Kathmandu-Pokhara High-
	way and cotton planting survey in Nepal.
October 1971	Trade agreement.
27 October 1971	Exchange of letters on survey of mineral
	deposits in Nepal.
14 March 1972	Letters of economic cooperation exchanged
	for Chinese surveys for the construction
	of a weekly bus project along the
	Kathmandu-Bhaktapur Highway and for
	the expansion of the Kathmandu brick
	and tile factory.
April 1972	Agreement for import of Rs. 17.5 million
	worth of goods from China by Nepal in
	the next six months.
October 1972	Contract for import of Rs. 11 million
	worth of goods from China by Nepal
	(Rs. 6.5 million to be imported in the form
	of commodity aid and the rest on pay-
	ment of foreign exchange).
18 November 1972	Agreement on economic and technical
	cooperation under China agreed to
	provide a Rs. 300 million loan for the
	construction of Narayanghat Gorkha
	Road, installation of a trolley bus service
	between Kathmandu and Bhaktapur, a
	textile mill, and expansion of brick and
	tile factory.
26 February 1973	Exchange of letters on technical assistance
	providing for 25 Chinese technicians to
	work at Sunkosi hydroelectric station.
20 March 1973	Protocol on economic and technical co-

1	2
	ring road in Kathmandu.
28 March 1973	Protocol on economic and technical co- operation on construction of Kathmandu-
	Makwanpur trolley bus service.
May 1974	Trade and payments agreement.
2 February 1975	Agreement for Chinese construction of the 407 km. Pokhara-Surkhet road, western
	Nepal (east cost Rs. 800-900 mn).
30 April 1976	Exchange of letters on a further 10 year extension of the China-Nepal agreement on trade, intercrourse, and related ques-
	tions between Tibet Autonomous Region of China and Nepal.
8 July 1976	Agreement for free grant of about \$4 million for construction of a small dam across the Seti river near Pokhara, western Nepal.
15 September 1976	Parcel post surface mail begins between Nepal and China.
28 May 1978	Agreement on inspection, repair, and construction of damaged boundary markets and for drawing up a fresh boundary map on a larger scale.
31 August 1978	Civil air transport agreement linking Shanghai and Kathmandu by air.
1 October 1978	Agreement for the setting up of sugar and paper plants in Nepal for which feasi- bility studies have been completed.

# SINO-NEPALESE ECONOMIC RELATIONS

**TABLE 9** 

#### TABLE 8

# Chinese Economic Aid to Nepal, 1951-52 to 1977-78 (As Compared with Indian, Soviet, and US Aid—In Million Nepali Rupees)

Year	China	India	Soviet Union	United States	Others	Total
1951-52	to					
1955-56		70.018		24.951		94.969
1956-57		14.570		12.753		27.323
<b>19</b> 57-58		9.605		48.473	<u> </u>	58.078
1958-59		17.102		17.951		35.053
1959-60	32.135	18.450		56.225	18.530	125.340
1960-61		22.355	8.456	86.9 <b>9</b> 7	19.291	137.099
1961-62	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n. <b>a</b> .	69.58
1962-63	3.2	13.600	15.000	46.800	5.100	83.700
1963-64	14.7	34.000	33.400	74.400	9.400	165.900
1964-65	12.14	62.736	0.463	65.530	0.174	141.047
1965-66	16.2	93.000	5.000	57.000	3.200	175.300
1 <b>966-</b> 67	24.583	77.633	4.875	34.926	0.219	142.236
1967-68	26.16	95.867	3.069	32.226	0.537	158.114
1968-69	46.87	126.185	3.800	86.949	0.432	214.245
1969-70	76.67	160.301	4.500	66.747	15.156	329,279
1 <b>970-71</b>	47.17	125.362	21.750	59.734	35.666	270.685
1971-72	53.10	109.270	5.000	45.202	47.546	260.126
1972-73	34.2	94.8	2.500	38.6	34.2	204.30.)
1973-74	34.30	112.70	n. <b>a.</b>	31.85	18.77	
1974-75	49.2	103.9	n. <b>a</b> .	84.7	112.7	350,5
1976-77	105.9	117.6	<b>n.a</b> .	42.8	99.2	365,5
1977-78*	67.0	113.2	n.a.	58.8	326.2	565.2

\*Includes grants and loans but not technical aid.

- Note: One characteristic of China's economic aid to Nepal is that it includes huge quantities of consumer goods, such as bicycles, clothing, household goods, etc., which are sold by governmental trading agencies in Nepal and the proceeds are used to finance part of the Chinese projects.
- Source : Nepal Rastra Bank; Budget Speeches; Foreign Aid Division, Ministry of Economic Planning, HMG, Nepal, Kathmandu, Y.P. Pant, Problems in Fiscal and Monetary Policy, 61; Economic Survey Report, 1979-80.

Chinese-Aided Projects in Nepal	ned/ Remarks	9	Protocal signed 13 January 1963	Agreement signed 15 October 1961; protocal signed 9 March 1971.	China agrees to repair all sections of road destroyed by floods and landalides; validity extended to 31	March 1973 by exchange of letters on 14 March 1972.	Protocal signed 27 Septem- ber 1968.	Courd
	When commissioned/ inaugurated	5		26 May 1967			1970	
	Commencement	4		June 1963			October 1968	
	Cost (	£		104 km. NR86 mn. June 1963 (Rs. 74 mn) (£ 2.3 mn)			п.а.	
	Capacity <sup>,</sup> length	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	ays(10) ndhu	104 km. (			16 km.	
	Name of Project Capacity length	Ι	Roads and Highways(10) 1. Lhasa-Kathmandhu	2. Kathmandu- Kodari road			3. Kathmandu- Bhaktapur Highway	

I. Kathmandu-	2 3	4	5	6
Pokhara* road Pokhara- Westward	176 km. NR 130 m 1 (\$45 mn)	n November 1965 May 1973	Under construction	Protocol signed in August 1965.
road . Kathmandu- Valley ring road**	27.4 km. estimate Rs. 50 mn	1974	February 1977	Agreement signed 20 March 1973.
. Pokhara- Surkhet Highway, Western Nepa	407 km. Rs. 900mn		1980	Agreement signed 2 February 1975; survey work began in 1979; construction work to begin in 1980 and continue till 1990.
. Ithari-Dhalke- war road	170 km. Rs. 17.5 m	1		China discontinued work at the request of the Nepalese Government (23 April 1965) because the project had not gone beyond the planning stage.
Janakpur-Birat nagar road, of the East-West Highway in				Agreement signed in 1963, China withdrew from the project in 1965.
Nepal Tarai bordering Indi	8			
. Gorkha-Nara- yanghat High-	60 <b>km.</b>	March 197	8	Became jeepable in February 1980; expected to be com- pleted in fiscal year 1981-82.
way				
way	mission Lines (1)			
way Power And Trans	mission Lines (4) 10,000 kw Rs. 70mn	<b>end 1968</b>	24 November 1972	letters exchanged on 26 Feb- ruary 1973 for Chinese tech- nical assistance for main-
way Power And Trans . Hydroelectric station at Sunkosi river 2. Overhead transmission line, from Sunkosi to	10,000 kw Rs. 70mn	end 1968 end 1968		tenance; generated 90 mn
way Power And Trans . Hydroelectric station at Sunkosi river 2. Overhead transmission line, from	10,000 kw Rs. 70mn		1972	letters exchanged on 26 Feb- ruary 1973 for Chinese tech- nical assistance for main- tenance; generated 90 mn

(Contd.)

		Т	ABLE 9 (Contd.	)	
1	2	3	4	5	6
transmission			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		<u> </u>
line, from Sunkosi te					
Barahbise	0				
arehouses (2)					
Kathmandu	floorspace ]			Sector 1	
	7,000 <sup>-</sup> sq.m.	NR 10.03 million	October 1965	September 1967	
Birganj	floorspace 7,000 sq. m. J	for both	1965	<b>March</b> 1967	
iscellaneous (1	•				
	21,000 pie- ces of lea- ther; 30,000 pairs of shoes an- nually	NR 7 mn	May 1964	June 1968	Produced 51,000 pairs of shoes worth Rs. 13 mn during fiscal year 1978-79.
Brick and tile	20 mn bricks	NR 5 mn	October	12 March	Agreement signed in April
factory Harsi- ddhi, Lalitpur	and 500,000 tiles annu-		1965	1969	1964; letters exchanged on 14 March 1972 for doubling
	ally				production.
	20 mn bricks			1979	
factory, Nang	, annuarry				
khal, Bhakta- pur Fown Hall, Kathmandu	15.000	<b>@15</b>	December	11 November 1979 30 December	When fully operational will
Fextile mill, Hetauda		\$15 mn (Rs. 180 mn)		1978_	meet 25 per cent of Nepal's total cotton textile require- ment; the mill requires 2,300 tons of cotton annually and employed 550 workers in 1974.
Frolley bus project, on Kathmandu- Bhaktapur Highway		\$4 mn	December 1973	December 1975	Protocols signed 14 March 1972 and 26 March 1973; 100 Chinese technicians assisted in the task.
Seti river dam Pokhara Val- ley Cement facto- ry,** Hetaura	1,000 kw; lift	Rs. 50 mn estimate	1972	under cons- truction	Agreement for free grant of \$4 mn signed on 8 July 1976; work began in 1979. Agreement signed on 5 September 1961; in April 1964 China dropped plans

	1	2	3		4 /	<b>_</b>	5	6
9.	Pulp and paper facitory,*** Nepal-gunj	20 tons paper daily	of			: <b>A</b>	As above	to construct this project on technical grounds.
10.	Leather factory, Hetauda							Construction was scheduled to begin in October 1979.
11.	Kamala irriga- tion project, Mahottari dis- trict, Eastern Terai			Rs. 7.5 mn				Agreement signed in Octo- ber 1964; China withdrew from this project in 1965.
12.	Geological sur- very							
	China has p Nepal.	rovided geolo	gical	survey for di	scovering	iron	phosphate	and petroleum deposits in

\*In 1965 at Nepal's request China undertook projects for the construction of the Kathmandu-Pokhara Road and a ring road in the Nepal Valley in place of the earlier Janakpur-Biratnagar Road projects and Kamala irrigation projects.

\*\*The road links an industrial district in north-western Kathmandu with another in the southeast and the residential quarters with government building. It also passes historic sites and beauty spots. The 128-metre bridge with a width of 15 metres across the Bagmati river, the longest bridgs in the Kathmandu valley, was built in less than one year.

\*\*\*In 1964 the original agreement on the cement, paper and leather factories was so modified as to drop cement and paper industries in preference to brick and tile-making project, and Janakpur-Biratnagar road project.

Source: Nepal Rastra Bank, Economic Report, 1974-1975, 1957-58: Nepal Rastra Bank, Monthly Report and Monthly Economic Indicators of Various Years, supplemented by other sources.

#### NOTES AND REFERENCES

- 1. Y.P. Pant, "Nepal-China Trade Relations", The Economic Weekly (Bombay), 14 April 1962, p. 621.
- For a comprehensive analysis of China's foreign trade policy, see Victor H.Li, ed., Law and Politics in China's Foreign Trade (Seattle, 1977), pp. 3-27; Gene. T. Hsiao, The Foreign Trade of China: Policy, Law and Practice (Berkely, 1977), pp. 1-26; Feng-hwa Mah, The Foreign Trade of Mainland China (Edinburgh, 1972), pp. 13-41.
- 3. The Chinese officials at Shekar Dzong—The Amban first objected to the "tribute" and the "customs duty" clauses. They argued that both the Governments were tributary to China and it was improper for Tibet to become also a tributary of Nepal. The text of the treaty has given the impression that the Emperor "shall continue to be regarded with respect" by Tibet as well as Nepal. See for details, L.E. Rose, Nepal: Strategy for Survival (University of California Press, 1971), pp. 112-17.
- 4. Ibid. Also see, Alastair Lamb, Britain and Chinese Control Asia: The Road to Lhasa, 1767 to 1905 (London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1960), pp. 327-30 in H.C. Hinton, Communist China in World Politics (New York, 1966), p. 276.
- 5. *Ibid.*, n. 1, p. 621.
- 6. Pant, n. 1, p. 623.
- See for details, New Development in Friendly Relations Between China and Nepal (Foreign Language Press, Beijing, 1960), pp. 1-6, SCMP 1376, p. 54; NCNA, 21 September 1956; also see, Appendix I.
- 8. SCMP 1378, pp. 29-31; NCNA, 7 October 1956; also see, Appendix II.
- 9. SCMP 2227, pp. 42-43; NCNA, 25 March 1960; Kalpana and Halkhabar, 21 March 1960; also see, Appendix III.
- 10. SCMP 3226, p. 34; NCNA, 19 May 1964; Asian Recorder, 1964, p. 5874; also see, Appendix V.
- 11. For details see, A.S. Bhasin, ed., Documents on Nepal's Relations with India and China, 1949-66 (Bombay, 1970), pp. 251-54; also see, Appendix VI.
- 12. Peoples China, no. 21, 1 November 1956, pp. 3-7.
- 13. Pant, n. 1, p. 254.
- 14. Ibid., p. 253.
- News Tibet (New York), Vol. 2, no. 1, February 1966; The Nepalese Persepctive, vol. 2, no. 31, 7 May 1966, p. 6; The Commoner, 2 November 1965. Also see, Rose, n. 3, p. 267.
- 16. The Institute for Defence Studies and Analyses; News Review on China (New Delhi), May 1969, p. 5; also see, Appendix VIII.
- 17. SCMP 5634, p. 179; NCNA, 1 June 1974; Asian Recorder 1974, p. 12140.
- 18. China Trade Report (Hong Kong), vol. 12, no. 8, August 1974, p. 8; Asian Recorder, 1974, p. 12075.
- 19. The Rising Nepal, 1 June 1974.
- 20. Ibid.
- 21. The Motherland, 8 June 1976; Asian Recorder, 1976, p. 13252.

- 22. The Rising Nepal, 9 June 1976; Asian Recorder, 1976, p. 13337.
- 23. Asian Recorder, 1971, p. 10495.
- 24. The Times of India, 30 April 1974.
- 25. IDSA, n. 16, p. 5.
- 26. China Trade Report, vol. 12, April 1974, p. 8.
- 27. The Rising Nepal, 9 and 30 June 1976.
- 28. Nepal Rashtra Bank Research Department, Monthly Report Main Economic Indicators (Kathmandu), January 1980, p. 4.
- 29. Leo E. Rose and John T. Schulz, Nepal: Profile of a Himalayan Kingdom (Select Book Service Syndicate, New Delhi, 1980), p. 102.
- 30. Asian Recorder, 1962, pp. 4353 and 4950.
- 31. For comprehensive treatment of Chinese aid programme, see Woolfgang Bartake, China's Economic Aid (Delhi, 1975); Nai-Ruenn Chen and Walter Galenson, The Chinese Economy under Communism (Edinburgh, 1969); Joint Economic Committee, An Economic Profile of China (New York, 1968); Peter A. Poole, "Communist China's Aid Diplomacy", Asian Survey, vol. 7, no. 2, November 1966, pp. 622-29; Sreedhar, "China's Aid Programme in 1973", China Report (New Delhi), vol. 10, nos. 1-2, January-April 1974, p. 12; Chinese Economy; Post-Mao-A Compendium of Papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee Congress of the United States, vol. 1, Policy and Performance, U.S., Government Printing Office (Washington, 1978); 9 November 1978, pp. 707-89.
- 32. L. Price, "International Trade of Communist China, 1950-65", in Joint Economic Committee, An Economic Profile of China (New York, 1968) p. 589.
- 33. Alexander Eckstein, Communist China's Economic Growth and Foreign Trade (New York, 1966), pp. 306-07.
- 34. Bartake, n. 31, p. 18.
- 35. *Ibid*.
- 36. *Ibid*.
- 37. *Ibid.*, p. 9.
- 38. Ibid., p. 12.
- 39. People's Daily (Beijing), 4 November 1956.
- 40. See n. 7, p. 16.
- 41. E.B. Mihaly, Foreign Aid and Politics in Nepal : A Case Study (London, 1965), pp. 8-13.
- 42. Beijing Review, 29 March 1960, p. 10.
- 43. Mihaly, n. 41, p. 92.
- 44. Bartake, n. 31, p 53; also Alexander Eckstein, n. 33, p. 307; *People's Daily*, 9 September 1961; and 29 October 1961; *Gorkhapatra*, 30 October 1961.
- 45. Bartake, n. 31, p. 54; also see People's Daily, 20 October 1966.
- 46. Bartake, n. 31, p. 144.
- 47. SCMP 2603, p. 40; NCNA 15 October 1961; China Today (New Delhi), vol. 6, no. 43, 21 October 1961, p. 9.
- 48. SCMP 2249, p. 47; NCNA, 26 April 1960.
- 49. Ibid.

- 50. SCMP 2603, p. 40; NCNA, 15 October 1961.
- 51. Radio Nepal, 14 January 1963; The Times of India, 15 January 1963; Asian Recorder, 1963, p. 5045.
- 52. Asian Recorder, 1963, p. 5485.
- 53. Asian Recorder, 1966, p. 7214.
- 54. Asian Recorder, 1967, p. 7792.
- 55. Gorkhapatra, 27 May 1967.
- 56. Asian Recorder, 1967, p. 7864.
- 57. Halkhabar, 16 March 1960; NCNA, 27 April 1960,
- 58. Gorkhapatra, 27 May 1967.
- 59. Nepal Times, 16 and 21 June 1967; Gorkhapatra, 28 June 1967.
- 60. *Ibid*.
- 61. Lok Sabha Debates, 3 July 1967, vols. 8923-8934.
- 62. Asian Recorder, 1967, p. 7864; Gorkhapatra, 17 July 1967.
- 63. Gorkhapatra, 28 September 1968; NCNA, 29 September 1968.
- 64. NCNA, 30 October 1968.
- 65. NCNA, 16 September 1970.
- 66. SCMP 3531, p. 39, NCNA, 29 August 1965; Asian Recorder, 1965, pp. 6676-77.
- 67. NCNA, 10 September 1972.
- 68. SCMP 3587, p. 36; NCNA, 7 May 1966.
- 69. Gorkhapatra, 10 May 1971.
- 70. Gorkhapatra, 15 March 1969; Motherland, 19 June 1967; Commoner, 23 September 1967.
- 71. Bartake, n. 31, p. 148.
- 72. Mainchi Daily News (Tokyo), 5 January 1974. See in IDSA News Review on South Asia, no. 80, January 1974, p. 28.
- 73. Gorkhapatra, 21 March 1973; Asian Recorder, 1973, p. 11387.
- 74. The Commoner, 21 March 1973, Gorkhapatra, 22 March 1973; also see, China Trade Report, vol. 11, no. 3, March 1973, p. 6.
- 75. Rising Nepal, 22 March 1973; Asian Recorder, 1973, p. 11664.
- 76. Rising Nepal, 12 February 1977.
- 77. SCMP 5793, p. 132; NCNA, 2 February 1975.
- 78. China Trade Report, vol 13, no. 155, April 1975, pp. 9-10.
- 79. Asian Recorder, 1975, p. 12508.
- 80. NCNA, 17 May 1973.
- 81. NCNA, 4 June 1970.
- 82. NCNA, 13 May 1964.
- 83. NCNA, 2 June 1965.
- 84. Gorkhapatra, 27 March 1964; NCNA, 30 March 1964.
- 85. Gorkhapatra, 22 November 1973.
- 86. Bartake, n. 31, p. 145.
- 87. NCNA, 17 May 1973.
- 88 Gorkhapatra, 22 March 1967; Nepal Times, 4 June 1967.
- 89. Ibid.
- 90. NCNA, 18 February 1966, also see Bartake, n. 31, p. 145.
- 91. Amrit Bazar Patrika, 22 January 1969.
- 92. NCNA, 13 March 1969; Gorkhapatra, 13 March 1969; Naya Samaj, 12

March 1969; Rising Nepal, 14 March 1969.

- 93. Gorkhapatra, 6 November 1971.
- 94. NCN.4, 26 September 1972; Gorkhapatra, 15 February 1972.
- 95. Bartake, n. 31, p. 147.
- 96. NCNA, 15 March 1972 (No details are available).
- 97. Gorkhapatra, 6 July 1974; Asian Recorder, 1974, p. 12184; China Trade Report, vol. 12, July 1974, pp. 13-14.
- 98. Ibid.
- 99. Ibid.
- 100. Ibid.
- 101. Motherland, 23 April 1964; NCNA, 28 May 1964.
- 102. Gorkhapatra, 26 May 1967.
- 103. Gorkhapatra, 16 June 1967; NCNA, 17 June 1967.
- 104. Gorkhapatra, 10 June 1969; NCNA, 9 June 1969.
- 105. NCNA, 28 May 1967.
- 106. NCNA, 27 November 1972; also see, China Trade Report, vol. 13, no. 103, March 1975, p. 9.
- 107. NCNA, 19 September 1968.
- 108. NCNA, 24 December 1970; Asian Recorder, 1971, p. 10001.
- 109. Gorkhapatra, 9 July 1976; The Samaj, 8 July 1976.
- 110. The Naya Samaj, 9 July 1976.
- 111. Nepali Samachar, 29 March 1965; Gorkhapatra, 31 March and 15 April 1965.
- 112. *Ibid*.
- 113. NCNA, 19 February 1966.
- 114. NCNA, 25 March 1967.
- 115. NCNA, 12 June 1970.
- 116. NCNA, 19 February 1966 and 25 March 1967.
- 117. NCNA, 12 Nov. 1970 ; also see Bartake, n. 31, p. 145.
- 118. SCMP 5101, p. 38; NCNA, 15 March 1972.
- 119. The Commoner, 27 March 1973.
- 120. NCNA, 30 December 1973.
- 121. Gorkhapatra, 6 July 1974.
- 122. The Japan Times, 29 December 1975.
- 123. Asian Recorder, 1971, p. 9983.
- 124. Nepal Press Digest, vol. 15, no. 4, 25 January 1971, pp. 65-66; also see Hnog Kong Standard, 30 November 1972.
- 125. The Times of India, 25 January 1974; Asian Recorder, 1974, p. 11875.
- 126. Ibid.
- 127. Nepal Gazzette, 30 April 1973; also see, Times of India, 6 August 1973, and 25 January 1974.
- 128. China Trade Report, vol. 12, no. 1, February 1974, p. 9; Asian Recorder, 1974, p. 11875; Times of India, 25 January 1974.
- 129. The Times of India, 3 January 1976.
- 130. The Commoner, 1 January 1976.
- 131. Asian Recorder, 1978, p. 14220.
- 132. NCNA, 17 July 1971; SCMP 4945, p. 175; The Gorkhapatra, 19 July 1971.

- 133. Lok Sabha Debates, 19 July 1971, cols. 8-10; Swatantra Samachar, 22 July 1971.
- 134. Asian Recorder, 1973, p. 11441.
- 135. Ibid.
- 136. Ibid.
- 137. Ibid.
- 138. NCNA, 28 October 1971; Gorkhapatra, 28 October 1971; The Rising Nepal, 29 October 1971.
- 139. Gorkhapatra, 4 November 1971.
- 140. Asian Recorder, 1971, p. 10485.
- 141. China Trade Report, vol. 14, no. 220, September 1976, p. 7.
- 142. Asian Recorder, 1976, p. 13306.
- 143. Ibid.

#### CHAPTER IV

# INDIA AS A FACTOR IN SINO-NEPALESE RELATIONS

In view of Nepal's geographic proximity, socio-cultural affinity and economic dependence, India has exercised a great measure of influence on Nepal in many aspects of its policy decisions. India safeguard the security of Nepal against undertaken to had predatory attempts by any country. The developments within Nepal had brought India into a situation of much greater coordination of foreign policies. From this, it followed logically that Nepal would be consulting India regarding its policy deliberations towards the newly liberated China. From another perspective it could be maintained that India would be deeply interested in remaining in the know and in close touch with Nepal regarding the shaping of the future relations between Communist China and Nepal. This was imperative in the circumstances, for India had now tacitly acquiesced in the Chinese suzerainity over Tibet. The outer buffer having thus disappeared, Nepal, Sikkim and Bhutan had become essential for the defence of India's northern frontiers. India and all the three Himalayan kingdoms had, therefore, to be brought in a closer relationship both from the point of view of defence and foreign affairs. Regarding this aspect Prime Minister Nehru said on 22 March 1949 that "our neighbours now are all the countries of the world so that we cannot relate our foreign policy just to a few countries around us, but have to think of practically every country in the world and take into consideration all the possible areas of conflict, trade, economic interest, etc." He further mentioned that "our foreign policy cannot limit itself to the nearby countries. Nevertheless, the nearby countries always have a special interest in one another and India must, inevitably,

think in terms of her relations with the countries bordering her by land and sea".<sup>1</sup>

Unlike India's policies toward Sikkim and Bhutan, with whom India entered into treaties of peace and friendship, the new Indian policy toward Nepal did not attempt to undermine the sovereign status of that country. The new relationship only implied that any power inimical to India's interests did not get an upper hand in Nepal. Prime Minister Nehru made it clear that the identity of interest beween the two countries and mentioned India's special position in Nepal. He said that ".... If it is not necessary for us to have a military alliance with Nepal . . . But apart from any pact or alliance, the fact remains that we cannot tolerate any foreign invasion from any foreign country, of any part of the Indian subcontinent. And any possible invasion of Nepal would inevitably involve the safety of India."<sup>2</sup> Nepalese apprehensions arising out of China's claim over Tibet prompted that country to discuss mutual security problems with India. This was done after the Nepalese Prime Minister Mohan Shumsher's visit to Delhi in Feburary 1950.

On 31 July 1950 Nepal entered into a treaty of 'Peace and Friendship' with India. The treaty *inter alia* provided for coordination of the foreign policies of the two countries. It also provided that "neither government shall tolerate any threat to the security of the other by a foreign aggressor. To deal with any such threat, the two governments shall consult with each other and devise effective counter measures".<sup>3</sup> Since the treaty was concluded in the context of Chinese offensive in Tibet, the above clauses obviously referred to China as a possible trouble-maker in Nepal. Thus, from the very beginning itself India was instrumental in shaping Nepal's relations with Communist China.

To speak of a "Nepali foreign policy" in the period immediately following the 1950-51 troble would probably be incorrect. Indian influence on questions of external relations was so all-pervasive as to make foreign policy formulation by Kathmandu irrelevant or redundant. New Delhi's concept of Nepal's interest was accepted almost automatically in Kathmandu, at least at the official level. Indeed, it is probable that some Nepali leaders tended to be over responsive in this respect, interpreting even casual suggestions by the Indians as advice to be acted upon. On a number of occasions, the Nepal Government not only tamely followed New Delhi's suggestion but actually took the initiative in seeking it.4

The special relationships between India and Nepal was duly appraised by China, and China avoided taking any offensive policy in Nepal, for that would definitely have incurred the displeasure of India and created problems for China's interests in Tibet. China did not want at this stage to open another front after the Korean War and Tibetan developments. It had enough problems to solve at the domestic as well as international fronts. Nepal could have added another dimension to it and China would definitely have lost the goodwill of India which it badly needed for its international standing.

During this period India was instrumental in blocking the establishment of direct diplomatic relations between Nepal and China. With the establishment of Chinese power in Tibet and the neutral attitude that India adopted to this development, certain sections in Nepal pleaded for a concurrent modification in Nepal's policy towards China. The government looked to India for guidance and initiative. New Delhi, however, did not favour any positive action by Nepal until India had reached an understanding with China on Tibet and other Himalayan states. When the Nepali Congress passed a resolution demanding that Nepal should establish diplomatic relations with China,<sup>5</sup> the Indian advice against such feeling was that any move on Nepal's part towards China must follow the Sino-Indian understanding in the border region, where India's position and defence needs must be sufficiently recognised by China and Nepal.<sup>6</sup>

The Chinese were also keen to come to a prior understanding with India and then approach Nepal through New Delhi. This is evident from the fact soon after the end of the feudal Rana regime in Nepal, Zhou Enlai, the Chinese Premier, in a discussion with K.M. Panikkar, expressed a desire for India's mediation for the establishment of diplomatic relations with Nepal. The latter, however, advised him to wait for some time as the position in Nepal was a little confused and uncertain.<sup>7</sup> Nepal also acquiesced to the suggestion that a Sino-Indian understanding should precede any move towards Nepal-China contacts. There was, however, a subtle divergence between the Nepali and Indian positions on China's status in Tibet. Delhi formally terminated direct relations with the Dalai Lama's government and implicitly recognised China's sovereignty in Tibet when it signed an agreement with Beijing on 15 September 1952,<sup>8</sup> converting the Indian mission at Lhasa to a consulate. Nepal, however, refused to surrender its rights in Tibet and as late as 5 April 1954, Prime Minister M.P. Koirala was still describing Nepal's relations with Tibet as "independent of Chinese control."<sup>9</sup>

The Sino-Indian negotiations for solving the mutual problems in the Himalayas went on for a long time, and it was only in April 1954 that an agreement was reached between them.<sup>10</sup> According to it, Tibet was accepted as an 'Autonomous Region of China'. The broad understanding between them implied that China had accepted India's primacy in the sub-Himalayan states, not only in Sikkim and Bhutan but in Nepal as well. Nebru also unilaterally reiterated India's interests and position in these states, and China did not contradict him. This is proved by the fact that in the 1954 edition of Mao's *Selected Works* an amendment was made by which both Nepal and Bhutan were deleted from Mao's earlier list.<sup>11</sup>

The agreement of 1954 had immediate repercussions on Nepal's China policy. In view of Sino-Indian understanding, the Nepalese government had to reconsider its stand on relations with Beijing. It was untenable that Nepal should continue to enjoy extra-territorial rights that it had secured following the Tibet-Nepal War of 1856. Therefore, soon after the Sino-Indian Convention on Tibet, D.R. Regmi, the Nepalese Foreign Minister accompanied King Tribhuvan to New Delhi on 1 May 1954 to discuss various issues connected with the new developments. The Indian Government advised the Nepalese leaders to redefine their country's position in Tibet in the changed context and to regularise their relations with China. Regmi welcomed the proposal and, in a press conference on 8 May 1954, he declared, "If China approaches us formally, we will do the right thing at the right moment. For the moment, we want to be on friendly terms with the Chinese and we would not do anything which creates embarrassment for either side".<sup>12</sup>

The aide memoire handed to D.R. Regmi at the conclusion of the talks made it clear that New Delhi had no intention to share Nepal as a "sphere of influence" with China. It provided that both governments would coordinate their foreign policies; the Government of Nepal would consult the Government of India in regard to any matter relating to foreign policy or relations with foreign powers; and, in particular, in matters relating to relations of Nepal with Tibet and China, consultations would take place with the Government of India.<sup>13</sup> The Nepalese Government, however, could not conclude an agreement which bound the Nepalese foreign policy to India without any reciprocity in view of the mounting anti-Indian feelings in Kathmandu and internal differences within the Nepalese ministry.

Despite the failure of the co-ordination move, Nepal remained in close touch with India regarding any step it took towards China. Nehru as late as in September 1954 was cautioning Nepal against any haste in approaching Beijing, and Nepal understandably accepted the advice.<sup>14</sup> Accordingly, M.P. Koirala, the Nepalese Prime Minister, met Nehru both before and after the latter's visit to China in October 1954. The Indian Prime Minister discussed the issue with the Chinese leaders and seemed to have got the assurance that China would respect India's special position in Nepal. Nehru also got an assurance from China that it had no ulterior motive to use K.I. Singh, who fled to Ching in 1952 for fomenting internal subversion in Nepal.<sup>15</sup> Having cleared the deck, Nehru gave the green signal to Nepal to go ahead with the regularisation of its relations with China. In a press conference at New Delhi shortly after his return from China Nehru stated that Beijing had recognized Nepal as an exclusive Indian sphere of influence and that, moreover, he had been assured that China had no intention to use Dr.-K.I. Singh to lead a pro-communist guerrilla movement in Nepal.<sup>16</sup> Further, he observed, "As for diplomatic relations between Nepal and China that is the matter which the Nepalese Government, no doubt, will deal with in its own way."17

It was not India's direct role only, in giving clearance to Nepal to go ahead with regularisation that paved the way for direct relations between China aud Nepal. India was also responsible for this in an indirect way. It was Nepal's dissatisfaction with India's overbearing influence in Nepal that prompted Nepal to seek for diversification and with the accession of King Mahendra, there was a man who could take positive steps in that direction out of his conviction in ensuring a more bargaining position for Nepal between India and China. A noteworthy feature of Sino-Nepalese relations prior to 1955 was that India was constantly in the minds of the two countries and there was not even the slightest effort to by-pass India in this respect. China was all the time conscious of India's influence on Nepal and did not do anything to undermine it. For a beginning of Sino-Nepalese relations, thus, the initiative remained with India.

During the first few months of Mahendra's rule, India adhered to its earlier policy on the assumption that Nepal would develop relations with China within limits prescribed by it and that Kathmandu would respect the political understanding reached between India and China. Accordingly, Sino-Nepalese diplomatic relations were established on 1 August 1955 in accordance with the informal advice of the India Government. The formula of Panchsheel was accepted as the basis of future relationship. The establishment of resident embassies was, however, postponed for some time in deference to Indian with and susceptibilities. It was decided both China and Nepal would conduct their relations through each other's embassies in New Delhi.

The manner in which relations between Nepal and China developed after the accession of Mahendra was in a way disconcerting to India. The visit of the new Nepalese Prime Minister, Tanaka Prasad Acharya to China in 1956, the return visit by Chinese Premier Zhou Enlai, to Nepal in 1957 and their emphasis on historical and ethnic aspects of Sino-Nepalese friendship<sup>13</sup> gave India a feeling that the relations between the two countries was conducted independent of Indian views and, for the first time, India was by-passed. India sensed that it was losing its grip on Nepal. The Chinese Premier's declaration that "Nepal and China are blood brothers and nothing can poison their relationship",19 was a pointer to a number of Nepalese whose ethnic characteristics are similar to those of the Chinese across the Himalayas. What the Premier actually meant was that the Chinese were no less close to the Nepalese than the Indians. He also pointed out that "national economic development was an essential means of safeguarding full national independence" and added that "China would be willing to aid Nepal within its capabilities".20 The statement implied that as long as Nepal was dependent on India it was virtually not enjoying independent status; Kathmandu, therefore, should diversify its policy in order to preserve its independence.

New Delhi's concern over the developments was first of all demonstrated by bolstering up K.I. Singh who, since his return from China, had been taking pro-Indian stand in his foreign policy statements. He announced that China and Soviet Union would not be allowed to establish embassies in Kathmandu.<sup>21</sup> He visited' New Delhi on 11 October 1656. In his speeches he made a critical reference to Nepal's China policy and advocated close relationship with India.<sup>22</sup> As a part of this effort a state visit by the Indian President Dr. Rajendra Prasad was arranged in the same month. The visit was significant as it was the first time that an Indian President paid a visit to any foreign country, and it was arranged between Acharya's return from Beijing and the Chinese Premier's visit to Kathmandu. India was obviously motivated by a desire to stop a drift of Nepal towards China.

India's concern over Nepal's China policy could not be overlooked by the Nepalese Government. To assuage India's feelings Acharva paid a visit to New Delhi in December 1956 where he explained that his policies in no way aimed at undermining the Indian interests. Justifying his policy Acharya said, "Even India recognized Tibet as part of China and our relations with it are quite justified. When India has taken a lead on this score, we do not want to confuse the relations between Nepal and China."23 New Delhi, however, accorded him just a formal reception. It seemed that India wanted to make Nepal realize that neither Acharya nor his policies had been appreciated by India. King Mahendra, to placate India, dismissed Acharya on 26 July 1957 and appointed K.I. Singh as Premier who, by now, had become intensely pro-Indian and anti-Chinese. However, the manner in which K.I. Singh conducted the foreign policy was not appreciated by Mahendra. He felt that K.I. Singh was undoing whatever he achieved through Acharya and would make Nepal lose whatever independence it had achieved vis-a-vis India<sup>24</sup> K.I. Singh's dismissal on 4 November 1957 proved that it was Mahendra, not Acharya, who was the key factor behind the Nepalese overtures towards China for a closer relationship.25

Throughout this period China never explicitly undermined India's presence in Nepal. China did not take any positive steps to break its political understanding with India and did not challenge India's special relations with Nepal and thereby avoided a tactical error. But it was clear that China had entered into competition with India in Nepal and it would be difficult for India to steer Sino-Nepalese relations in the same assertive manner as it did in the carlier phase.

With the developments in Tibet and Sino-Indian border and the consequent strained relations between China and India the latter gave particular attention to keep Nepal on its side. India maintained that the developments in Tibet were not only a threat to India but to Nepal's security as well and warranted a coordinated foreign policy between the countries to offest the Chinese threat. India's attempt was facilitated by the formation of B.P. Koirala ministry known for its pro-Indian proclivities.

In April 1959 Koirala stated that "the recent events in Tibet have affected the people of Nepal deeply and it has exercised the emotion of nationalist elements in our political life." He further said that "you all know how sensitive we Nepalese are on the question of nationalism and the preservation of our national way of life."<sup>26</sup> Nehru went to Nepal in June 1959. He spoke openly of the explosive situation along the Sino-Indian and Sino-Nepalese border and denounced the Chinese military intervention in Tibet.<sup>27</sup> He discussed with the King and the Prime Minister. In the joint communique it was affirmed that "there was an identity of views in the policies of the two countries both in the international and domestic sphere, being animated by similar ideals and objectives".28 In an obvious reference to Tibet uprising, it was stated that in the "interests of peace and as well as national and human progress. no country should be dominated by another and colonial control in whatever form, should end."<sup>29</sup> In order to further clarify and assert India's strategic interests and special position in Nepal, Prime Minister Nehru observed on 12 September 1959 that "we have publicly, and rightly, undertaken certain responsibilities for the defence of Sikkim and Bhutan, if they are attacked. It is very necessary for us to understand that if something happens on their borders, then it is the same thing as an interference with the border of India."30 After two months, Prime Minister, Nehru made a major policy statement in the Lok Sabha on 27 November 1959. He observed that "any aggression on Bhutan or Nepal would be considered an aggression on India."<sup>31</sup> It was not a casual remark but a deliberate warning to the Chinese to keep their hands off Nepal.

As the Sino-Indian relations deteriorated, both the countries competed with each other to keep Nepal on its own side. Both the countries took recourse to persuasion as well as pressure. While India exercised pressure on Nepal to assert its special position, China also made efforts to wean Nepal away so as to reduce its dependence on India and do away with the symbols of Indo-Nepalese special relations or at least to secure Nepal's neutrality in Sino-Indian relations. It was obvious, therefore, that Nepal would have to take into account India's relations with China. The objective was to maintain its treaty relationship and get closer to India within the basic framwork of Indo-Nepalese relations to resolve its differences with China, by negotiations and to create a sound basis for Sino-Nepalese relations. There was no formal agreement but the principles contained in it had been observed all through the period. Nepal not only adhered to Indian advice on the Chinese issue but also welcomed India's stand on the cease-fire in Indio-China and condemned the United States military aid to Pakistan.<sup>32</sup>

The Indian approach towards Sino-Nepalese relations was quite clear. While maintaining its special relationship, India encouraged Nepal to resolve its mutual problems with China. Nepal being so vital to India's security system, it was in its interest that Nepal's northern border should be finally settled and put beyound controversy. At the same time, New Delhi also tried to used Nepal as an instrument to vindicate its basic stand on the border controversy with China. It wanted Nepal to adhere to the basic approach that the main crest of the Himalayan watershed constituted, by custom, the frontiers which needed only minor adjustment and scientific demarcation.

The development of Indo-Nepalese relations would show that Nepal, while dealing with China, not merely took India into confidence at every stage but also successfully resisted any Chinese move to undermine Indo-Nepalese friendship. B.P. Koirala came to India in January 1960 to seek guidance and advice from Nehru on mutual defence and security problems in view of China's military action in Tibet. The Indian Prime Minister suggested him to resolve Nepal's border dispute with China.<sup>33</sup> In March 1960, B.P. Koirala, on his way to Beijing, discussed various aspects of the Sino-Indian and Sino-Nepalese boundary issues with Nehru. In China, Koirala in his very first speech implicitly criticized the Chinese stand on the Sino-Indian dispute. He stated that "notwithstanding its size or might, if any power attempts to occupy or control even an inch of territory of another Asian country, such attempts will definitely disrupt peace in the world." He also warned against efforts to suppress freedom-loving people by means of force which in the context was an obvious reference to Tibet.<sup>34</sup> Koirala signed a boundary agreement with China on 21 March 1960, but before signing it he met the Indian ambassador in Beijing and was particular about asking the Chinese leaders to include the phrase "existing customary boundary line" in order to lend support to India's vis-a-vis China<sup>35</sup> Koirala was also advised by Nehru to seek project-orientd aid from China<sup>36</sup> and kept in mind this, while signing Rs. 100 million economic aid programme.<sup>37</sup>

Before leaving for China, Prime Minister Koirala said : "Such friendly exchange of visits between neighbours is highly essential. I have full belief that this visit of mine will further develop the relations of friendship and goodwill that have continued between Nepal and China.... I feel that this will greatly contribute to the cause of world peace...."<sup>38</sup>

During Koirala's visit the Chinese made determined and persistent effort to wean Nepal away from India. The Chinese Premier made a proposal for non-aggression pact. The Nepalese Prime Minister resisted the Chinese proposal which for all practical purposes would have rendered Indo-Nepalese relations meaningless. Having failed in his efforts, Zhou Enlai suggested that Nepal and China should sign a Treaty of Peace and Friendship. This was also turned down. Koirala also rejected Zhou's proposal for a road linking Tibet and Kathmandu.<sup>39</sup>

In a banquet of honour given by Chinese Premier Zhou Enlai, B.P. Koirala reiterated that "Nepal's neutral foreign policy, and expressed the hope that there would be increased co-operation between Nepal and China." He further stated that his visit to China proved the effectiveness of the policy of settling international problem in a peaceful manner by means of direct contact.<sup>40</sup>

The Indian overture to Korirala to settle the Sino-Nepalese border dispute along the "customary boundary line" was given with the objective that India would cite this in its own talks with China over Sino-Indian border. New Delhi's purpose, however, was not fulfilled as China denied to employ the same formula. It is understandable that China could afford concessions to a small country. But strategic convenience must have weighed heavily in case of concessions to India. Moreover, China gave such concessions to Nepal in order to keep Nepal in good humour so that it would take a less clear-cut and less anti-China stand over the Sino-Indian dispute.

After returning from China, Prime Minister Koirala declared that "it is insignificant where the treaty is signed, because our friendly relations with China are as good as ever and we do not face any danger from that quarter. . . ." Pointing out a nonaggression provision in the treaty would be meaningless, inasmuch as aggression could never be prevented by treaties. He declared that "this was impossible because the consequences would be a globle war." He added that "every conscious Indian should feel happy over the way the Sino-Nepal border agreement had been concluded."<sup>41</sup>

The relationship that India was having with Nepal was reversed when the King dismissed the Koirala ministry in December 1960. New Delhi's immediate reaction was to disapprove and denounce the King's action. On 16 December 1960, Prime Minister Nehru observed in the Lok Sabha:

"It is not for me to criticize the actions taken there but, obviously it is a matter of regret for all of us that a democratic experiment or practice that was going on has suffered a setback."<sup>42</sup>

Nehru described in detail a few days later before the Rajya Sabha on 20 December 1960 the allegations against the Nepali Congress as vague charges. He said that "if such an event happened in any part of the world, it would be a matter of regret to us, but happening in a country on our own threshold, with which we have such intimate relations, it has been a matter of great concern to us." He further mentioned that "we have not at any time sought to interfere in Nepal in the last ten years or so. Since it gained its freedom from the old regime, we have helped Nepal to the best of our ability. Even in the old days we had treaties with Nepal which were renewed. We had close bonds between us and were consulting each other when there was any danger from abroad. That represents the actual position in regard to the relationship between India and Nepal." Further he mentioned that apart from all these political and other aspects, our sympathies go out to any country which is trying to gain freedom as Nepal was ten years ago; Further

he mentioned that when the proclamation of the King reached us. it was not in a sense a surprise. Nevertheless, it did come to us as a bit of shock just at that time. It was not the surprise in the sense that we had been conscious of different pulls there and the possibility of something happening. The King and the government were not working very harmoniously. I am not referring to our Ambassador's report, but to what the King himself had in the course of conversations and by his behaviour led people to believe. Nehru referred the King's proclamation as failure of the Nepal Government and the ministry to improve the administration and accused them of corruption. He said that there are vague charges and it is difficult to say anything about vague charges. He further mentioned the first ten years rule when there was an upheaval against the old Rana regime, the previous King was working for the democratic system of the government. Governments were formed and dismissed and there were fairly long periods of King's rule without any other government, even then it was made clear that that was a preparation or an interval before going back to democracy and we were happy when the present King announced a constitution and later followed it up with elections. In the elections, the Nepal Congress Party got a very big majority and they have functioned since then. He said further that "it is not for me to judge their functioning but it is fairly easy to find faults. They had a tremendous task and I believe the impression we had generally was that for the first time Nepal had some orderly government which was trying to do its best to improve things. Whether they succeeded much or not is another matter." He said lastly that "the basic fact remains that this is not a question of pushing out of government which has a big majority; this is a complete reversal of the democratic process and it is not clear to me that there can be a going back to the democratic process in the foreseable future."43

The Indian press also pointed with the Indian Government and expressed its deep concern at the political change in Nepal and deplored the King's action.<sup>44</sup> The Indian reaction was not encouraging to the King at all. On the contrary the King became apprehensive that India might utilise the Nepali Congress as a ever against him. In typical Mahendra style the King opted to pring in China as a balancing factor. Even if India had avoided taking a clear-cut anti-monarchy stand the mild criticism was enough to disturb him. Thus, if in the earlier phases India hac

successfully employed the persuasive and pressure tactics to keep the initiative in Sino-Nepalese relations, it was now beginning to lose the same. For, now Mahendra was taking decisions despite India's criticisms. Mahendra's moves were facilitated by the growing Sino-Indian dispute. The King used this as a bargaining point. On the other hand China was only eager to exploit this situation to its advantage in the Sino-Indian relations. For the first time Beijing completely disregarded the feelings of India in dealing with Nepal. It took deliberate steps to move Nepal further away from India. It hastened the boundary agreement with Nepal and made quite a few concessions to Nepal. It offered economic aid to Nepal and managed to get the approval of the construction of the Kathmandu-Kodari road.<sup>45</sup> The road agreement was particularly displeasing to India. The fact that the road proposal was never in the mind of King Mahendra before, it was presented to him by the Chinese at the last moment and the fact that China pressurized the King to agree to this proposal,<sup>46</sup> was ample proof that China offered the proposal keeping the Sino-Indian dispute in view. The road agreement, nevertheless, provided the King with a badly needed bargaining weapon in negotiations with India. The strategic significance of the road, the first to breach the Himalayan barrier, was readily apparent, and the King was not being unrealistic in assuming that India would be prepared to pay a high price to avert this threat to its hard-pressed defence and security system on the northern frontier.

The reaction in the Indian press to the road agreement was surprising and unfavourable indeed, almost frantic but the government of India maintained a discrete silence. Though no formal protest was lodged by the Government of India, Nehru made a statement in the Lok Sabha on 25 November 1961. He observed that "India's security interests would be adversely affected by the road." He added that "Nepal's failure to consult India in the matter was a flagrant violation of the treaty of 1950, both in letter and spirit." Nehru also informally communicated his concern to the Nepalese Government.<sup>47</sup>

Nepali Government sources dismissed the alarmist accounts of the road in the Indian press and Parliament as unwarranted intrusion into Nepal's domestic affairs that were prompted by basic misunderstanding of the significance of the agreement. King Mahendra argued, Communism would not enter Nepal "in a tax cab".<sup>48</sup> In 1967 the Indian Government was, however, far more concerned about the fact that Chinese might use the road for progressive purpose.<sup>49</sup>

Even more important, perhaps, was the gap the road made in the Indian economic blockade of the Chinese forces in Tibet. Kathmandu recognized the validity of New Delhi's position on this point, and itself imposed a ban on the exportation of strategic goods to Tibet on 6 December 1961. Five months later, Nepal agreed to extend the ban to include Indian-produced goods imported into Nepal. This left a wide divergence in the two governments' trade policies, however, as goods imported into Nepal from third countries could still be transhipped to Tibet if they were not on the banned list.

After Mahendra's return from China, reasons for Nepal's drifting towards China became still more obvious. It was during Mahendra's visit to China that co-ordinated widescale terrorist campaign organized by the Nepali Congress leaders in India broke out. These widespread and scattered disorders and terrorist acts never constituted a serious threat to the royal regime, but they did contribute to a dangerous detrioration in Indo-Nepal relations. King Mahendra certainly knew that the rebel activities launched from across the border could not seriously threaten his power, but he feared that India might, with the help of the rebels, intervene again as it had done in 1950. He was never satisfied with the repeated reassurances he got from the Indian Government and took recourse to vocal diplomacy. He also tried to array a number of rival forces against India, such as China, Pakistan and even the United States. China, for obvious reasons, occupied a special place in his calculations. The King received a prompt response from China. On 4 October 1962, on the eve of the first anniversary of Nepal-China Boundary Treaty, the Chinese Foreign Minister, Marshal Chen Yi declared. "In case of any foreign forces attack Nepal, we Chinese people will stand on your side."50 Nehru, of course, dismissed this as unnecessary bravado but the implications of the statement weighed heavily in the minds of the Indian leadership. New Delhi adopted a more stiff attitude towards Nepal which eventually led to the deepening of the crisis between the two countries. While India was taking this bold stand in the hope that the King would ultimately yield, the eruption of Sino-Indian hostilities on 20 October 1962 changed the entire course of

Himalayan politics.

If it was the deterioration of Indo-Nepalese relations that prompted Nepal to drift in the direction of China, it was the deteriorating Sino-Indian relations that made China to bring Nepal closer to it. Whatever responses China made over the Indo-Nepalese relations were calculated keeping the Sino-Indian relations in perspective. Nehru was wrong, at least from hindsight, when he stated that China was showing off by declaring that China would step in if any country attacked Nepal. Nehru's thinking, perhaps was that the difficult and almost impregnable terrain of the Himalayan would deter China from undertaking a trans-Himalayas incursion into Nepal. Nehru was thinking straight. The Chinese had other ideas in their mind. When they said that they would assist Nepal against invasion from another country they were expressing their capability to undertake a major trans-Himalayan adventure. If they said that they could undertake such operation in Nepal they were making it obvious that they could do so in other regions like NEFA and Ladakh. But the Indian leadership failed to take the hint and paid a heavy price in the subsequent border war.

The Indian reversal in the Sino-Indian War changed the whole complexion of Himalayan politics. India lost prestige in Nepalese eves as it proved incapable of defending its own border against China. not to speak on defending Nepal against China. This, however, was not exactly comforting to Nepal. For, if China had proved its capability against India that also meant that China could mount an offensive against Nepal if it became necessary. Nepal, hence, was expected to play a more careful diplomacy with China-keeping, China as a friend, not antagonizing it and remaining close enough to India to balance China as far as possible. For India it was proven, as never before, that it had lost its determining role in case of Sino-Nepalese relations. India henceforth remained only "a determinant". India realised that, even if it had some natural advantages against China in Nepal, it had to compete with China to keep Nepal reasonably close. It also meant that India had to give a new perspective to Indo-Nepalese relations and give more concessions and economic assistance to Nepal. China was, however, reluctant to take rapid strides in Nepal. Having boosted its international image by defeating India, it refrained from doing anything in Nepal that would cast an expansionist image on it. It opted for a smooth and steady relations with Nepal. From their experience in the Sino-Indian War, the Chinese reliased that a military operation in the Himalayan region was expensive, in both material and human terms. The Chinese also realised that such activities should be avoided unless it was absolutely inevitabe. Since Nepal did not do anything to displease China, there was no necessity of any military offensive in Nepal. China had proved its capability to the Nepalese and was sure that Sino-Nepalese relations were beyond damage by the Indians.

The events of October-November 1962 were eye opener to Neval's geo-economic compulsions. India being critically important, Nepal saw that it would be folly to allow its relations to drift the way they had been allowed since December 1960. There were certain obvious strategic factors that it had to take into account from both the Indian point of view and its own. Moreover, since Nepal had to get everything from India, India alone could play a vital role in its economic development. However, the credibility gap created by the Indian defeat compelled Nepal to do something on its own to ensure security vis-a-vis China. Amidst these compulsions Nepal found an opportunity to impress both of its neighbours with its own importance and thus to gain greater manoeuvrability. India felt disturbed at China's efforts to involve itself in Nepal's affairs more than ever before, and it sought to neutralise those efforts by greater assistance and concessions to Nepal. This was welcome to Nepal and it quickly moved to improve and redefine its relations with India. The basic idea in the newly attempted equation was that Nepal had an identity separate from both the neighbours and that its geographical situation had made it a true buffer between the two giants. This idea found expression in Nepal's partyless Panchayat system, which was different from the systems obtaining both in India and China; in attempts to define the unique feature of the Nepalese culture, genius, and nationalism; in a foreign policy of equidistance as between the two neighbours and of friendship with all; and in a diversification of Nepal's political and economic options in a manner that was best calculated to reduce its dependence on India.

The Chinese on their part, knowing what Nepal wanted, went on pushing it towards an independent and neutral position, which in practice meant a position of independence from India. They made attempts to erode as many symbols of India's "special relationship" as possible. For, they made substantial investments, but incurred no permanent liability; for it was for them like fighting on enemy territory; what they achieved was positive gain and what they lost was no real loss. The means that they employed were equally interesting. They struck a patronizing posture of power-cum-reasonableness and used a diplomacy of gestures and slogans. Nowhere else did their slogans of Asian-African unity, good neighbourliness, non-alignment, neutrality, peaceful co-existence, and national independence and economy carried greater weight than they did in Nepal.

But it is to be noted that at no stage did the Chinese seriously plan or think of replacing or even competing in an unlimited way with India in Nepal. They were aware of their own limitations and the geocultural and economic determinism of Nepal. They only wanted to ensure that Nepal did not develop an antagonistic attitude toward China.

India's perception of Nepalese domestic policy underwent a fundamental change after the Sino-Indian confrontation. India understood that monarchy had stabilised in Nepal and it would be sheer foolishness to attempt to dethrone the King. The result was that India gave unconditional support to the royal regime and directed all anti-Royal forces exiled in India to suspend their activities. The price that India paid for its virtual unconditional support of the royal regime was a progressive alienation of non-Communist-anti-regime forces and leaders in Nepal. Nepali political refugees in India occasionally threatened to go to China for support if India did not provide the necessary backing, particularly after the 1962 border war.<sup>51</sup> This, of course, did not make much of an impression on Indian officials, who strongly doubted that China was interested at that time in giving any Nepali opposition group, including the pro-China faction of the Nepal Communist Party, the magnitude of support in both materials and men that would have been required to overthrow the royal regime.

Nevertheless, the long term significance of the alienation of anti-regime forces was quite disturbing to Indian leadership which understood that the present political system, dependent as it was upon an active and vigorous monarch, may not prove durable. The other plausible alternatives, however, appeared less attractive. Material assistance to the "democratic

forces" at that stage might well have political and economic consequences that would have been more threatening than the existing situation and would present China with an excuse to intervene in similar fashion. Furthermore, Indian officials had learned from experience that any government set up in Nepal with New Delhi's assistance would soon feel compelled to adopt a noisily anti-Indian posture in order to prove its nationalist credentials to the Nepali public. New Delhi, therefore, preferred to maintain informal friendly contacts with a broad spectrum of Nepali political leaders, but on terms that patently did not threaten King Mahendra. The assumption was that in the event of the collapse of the existing set up, should Mahendra suddenly disappear from the scene, the Indian Government would be in a position to assist the non-Communist forces in gaining an ascendency in the country. In any case India wanted to avoid intervention at almost any cost except the establishment of an overtly pro-Chinese regime in Nepal.

China, it seems, was not unduly disturbed by the Indian attempts at keeping Nepal in good humour. The anti-India compaign by the Chinese in Nepal subsided only to appear again during the Cultural Revolution phase. China was becoming accommodating. For instance, the last minute cancellation in 1964 of a Chinese-aided road project in the Terai, at Indian and American insistence, did not provoke the Chinese to an angry response, even though the project was handed over to the Indian aid programme for completion.

It is to be noted that after the Sino-Indian War, China as well as India underplayed their political disputes vis-a-vis Nepal and concentrated more on economic dimension and the King utilised this opportunity for improving economic situation in Nepal. The King had no doubt that in shaping Nepal's cultural and economic density India alone could play a vital role but he thought that China could be used as a corrective to India's attitude. The quantum of Chinese aid remained much less than that of India and due to India's policy of appeasement Nepal managed to secure more of Indian aid and on better conditions. In bilateral trade with India the King aspired for a privileged position in India's economic system based both on the principle of sovereign equality of nations and the most favoured nation treatment.

China on its part extended more aid to Nepal, which of

course, was no match for India's aid to Nepal. Nevertheless, China employed its propaganda machinery to convince the Nepalese that their terms and conditions were any time better than India's and other aid givers. China realised that it was impossible to replace India in the Nepalese economy and it could not afford the amount of aid that India was offering to Nepal. It used its aid programme for political and strategic objectives. It showed unusual interest in undertaking projects in the Terai region, that is close to Indian border. But there it met with stiff Indian opposition and India succeeded in keeping the Chinese out of this zone.

During the Cultural Revolution phase Chinese personnel in Nepal indulged in anti-India propaganda. Indian's activities in Nepal were viewed by China as reactionary and expansioning. India was bracketed with "United States imperialist" and "Soviet revisionists" as the powers operating contrary to the interests of Nepal. The Chinese attempt at discrediting India was explicit in the airport incident of 1967 in which about 300 Chinese residents in Nepal including the Chinese ambassador shouted anti-Indian slogans because the plane did not carry the two deported diplomats from India.<sup>52</sup> This incident in a neutral country like Nepal caused much annoyance to India.

Propagation of anti-Indian feeling in Nepal and the opening of the strategically important Kathmandu-Kodari road to vehicular traffic in 1967 made India increasingly uneasy about Chinese intention and in this context India offered a defence pact with Nepal to fight the Chinese threat which was politely rejected by the Nepalese Prime Minister Kirti Nidhi Bista.<sup>53</sup> Spreading anti-Indian feeling also continued after the Cultural Revolution. Thus, writing in the *People's Daily* a commentator said : "The Chinese people support the people of Nepal in their just struggle against the Indian expansionists, and resolutely support the struggle waged by the people of all countries, that have been subjected to aggression, control, intervention and bullying by US imperialism, Soviet revisionism and the Indian expansionists."<sup>54</sup>

China used all kinds of diplomatic and propaganda sticks to keep India at bay in Nepal. In November 1970 the NCNA reported that India was interfering in Nepal's internal affairs. The report said that Tribhuvan University students shouted anti-Indian slogans against the expansionist policy of India towards Nepal.<sup>55</sup> According to press report from Tokyo, appearing in The Hindu on

9 January 1971, China was making good use of a stalemated trade talk between India and Nepal to spread dissatisfaction against India among the Nepali people. The report said that Nepal was giving impression to the outside world that India was not only trying to strangle Nepal economically but was even bringing military pressure on the country by increasing its troops on Nepal border. And Beijing was making anti-India propaganda by saying that India was bringing all sorts of pressure on Nepal, to accept unreasonable demands but that "brave little Nepal" admirably stood up to these pressures.<sup>56</sup> The report further stated that China was fully supporting Nepal, especially its rights as a landlocked country to insist that India should unconditionally provide transit facilities through its territory for Nepal's trade with rest of the world. On the failure of negotiations on trade and transit between Nepal and India a report commented : "The Indian ruling cliques' attitude is unreasonable; if the Indian government persists in its policy of imperilling the national independence and sovereignty of its neighbouring countries, it will be lifting a rock only to drop it on its own feet and is bound to come to grief."57

The Nepalese King utilised China's anti-Indian posture to strengthen his own position and get a greater leverage in dealings vis-a-vis India. He allowed the Chinese to survey the prospects of cotton cultivation in the Terai region, close to Indian border. This expectedly elicited Indian opposition. There was particularly a heated debate in the Indian Parliament and the External Affairs Minister assuaged the ruffled feelings of the leaders by saying that notwithstanding several anti-Indian speeches, the attitude of Nepal government continued to be friendly to India.<sup>58</sup>

Despite the displeasure of India, Nepal asserted its right of employing the Chinese in the survey work. This was an instance of the Nepalese becoming disregardful of Indian opposition. This they could not have done without the support they got from the Chinese. This along with the almost regular exchange of v isits between Nepal and China was a proof enough that Nepal was drawing closer to China.

In November 1972, on the occasion of Nepalese Prime Minister Kirti Nidhi Bista's visit to Beijing the Chinese Premier, Zhou Enlai again made a reference to Indian interference in Nepal.<sup>39</sup> Although the reference was an indirect one, Zhou's statement was interpreted by some observers in India as well as Nepal as "a veiled threat" against India. They also pointed out that while Zhou's statement evoked no greater response from Nepal than a quiet denial by Bista of the existence of any external threat to Nepal a similar statement by Nehru in the Indian Parliament had at that time led to a storm of protest in Kathmandu.<sup>60</sup> There was now reason to think that Nepal's disagreement with China was expressed in a softer tone by Nepal than Nepal's disagreement with India.

China utilized India's actions in Sikkim in 1974 to encourage the anti-Indian sentiment of the Nepalese. The NCNA and Radio Beijing were playing up Nepalese journals and dailies which condemned New Delhi's new relations with Sikkim saying that Bhutan and Nepal might be the next targets of the Indian Government. There were clearcut attempts to drive a wedge between Kathmandu and New Delhi. NCNA, on 28 October devoted its columns New Delhi-Kathmandu exclusively to relations. accusing India of intimidating the government and people of Nepal to achieve its 'expansionist designs'. It said that since the anti-Indian demonstration in the first week of September by Nepalese students on Sikkim issue, the Indian government had "flagrantly exerted pressure on and intimidated Nepal".<sup>61</sup> The Indian Government, in its view, was trying to assert its historical status in the Himalayan Kingdom of Nepal, and Bhutan, now that Sikkim had been turned into an associated state of the Indian Union.62

These were all said to generate a fear psychosis among the Nepalese about India's ulterior designs in Nepal. Thus reference to India's interference in Népal's internal affairs by China were almost without any break till 1976.

After 1976 one witnesses a general toning down in China's anti-India posture in Nepal. This was because of the death of Mao Zedong in 1976 and the control of political power by the "moderates" in Beijing. Moreover, the prospects of normalization of Sino-Indian relations prompted China to refrain from criticising India's policies in Nepal. After 1976 one does not find any important reference to India's expansionist attitude in the Chinese media.

The survey of Indian factor in Sino-Nepalese relations reveals that China had always been deciding its policies towards Nepal keeping India in view. In the early fifties when China needed India's support in the international community it did not object to India's special relationship in Nepal. Its establishment of relationship with Nepal was through India. But during the period of SinoIndian dispute, China utilized its relations with Nepal to get a greater leverage in its dealings with India. It kept Nepal in good humour in order to concentrate on Sino-Indian relations. After the 1962 War China generally maintained an anti-India posture in Nepal to weaken the relationship between Nepal and India. China changed this posture when the prospect of Sino-Indian normalization was in the horizon. Thus, one could say that China's attitudes towards Nepal was all along conditioned by its state of relations with India. One could also say that Sino-Nepalese relations was made a second fiddle to Sino-Indian relations by China.

#### NOTES AND REFERENCES

- 1. Jawaharlal Nenru, India's Foreign Policy: Selected Speeches, September 1946-April 1961 (New Delhi, The Publication Division, Ministry of Information and Broadcasting, Government of India, 1961), pp. 42-43.
- 2. Parliamentary Debates, 17 March 1950, cols. 1697-98. A.S. Bhasin, Documents on Nepal's Relations with India and China (New Delhi: Academic Books, 1970), p. 23.
- .3. Ibid., p. 374. For the text of the agreement see Foreign Policy of India: Texts of Documents 1947-1964 (Lok Sabha Secretariat, New Delhi, 1966), pp. 56-58.
- The decision to send an Indian military mission to reorganise and 4. train the Nepalese army, the Indian advisers in the Nepali Secretariat, the propensity of Nepali high officials, including King Tribhuvana and most of the Ministers to visit New Delhi for advice. On the three occassions in 1951-53 period, the Indian army or police units were sent into Nepal at the request of the Nepali government to control the activities of trouble makers. Koirala also admitted the fact that when he visited New Delhi in January 1952, where he declared that "we have taken particular care not to interfere, we have given advice on some occassions; on two occassions the Prime Minister was here and the King was also here once or twice. We naturally discussed various matters and gave advice, and in two matters more particularly we are closely associated, in matters of foreign policy and defence not by any formal agreement but simply because both matters are common to us." For complete details see, The Hindu, 23 February 1952; Press Conference of Jawaharlal Nehru, New Delhi, 28 February 1952 in A.S. Bhasin (ed.), n. 2, pp. 145-46; The Ministry of External Affairs Report, 1951-52 (New Delhi), pp. 13-14; The Statesman, 17 January, 1952; Times of India, 22 February 1952; The Hindustan Times; 24 August 1953; Hindustan Times, 16 February 1952; India, Parliamentary Debates 12 March 1951, col. 2164.

- 5 The Hindu, 19 July 1954; Grisma Bahadur Devakota, Nepal Ko Rajnaitik Darpan (Kathmandu, 1959), p. 247.
- 6. The Hindustan Times, 28 September 1954; also see K.M. Panikkar, In Two Chinas (London, George Allen and Unwin, 1955), p. 171.
- 7. Ibid.
- 8. For details see Margaret W. Fisher and John V. Bondurant, "Indian Views of Sino-Indian Relations", Indian Press Digest Project Monograph, No. 1 (Berkeley, University of California Press, 1956).
- 9. The Statesman, 7 April 1954.
- 10. Sino-Indian Agreement on Tibet see, Foreign Policy of India—Text of Documents, 1947-59 (Lok Sabha Secretariat, New Delhi, 1959), pp. 101-09.
- 11. Mira Sinha, "Nepal's Role in Sino-Indian Relations, 1949-1969", Institute of Defence Studies and Analyses Journal (New Delhi), Vol. 2, no. 4, April 1970, p. 464.
- 12. The Statesman, 9 May 1954; Hindustan Times, 8 May, 1954.
- 13. Leo E. Rose, Nepal: Strategy for Survival (University of California Press, California, 1971), pp. 205-06.
- 14. As late as September 1954, D.R. Regmi was denying press report that the Nepalese Government was considering 'normalization' of relations with China. The Hindustan Times, 28 September 1954.
- 15. Times of India, 14 November 1954.
- 16. Ibid., also The Hindu, 15 November 1954.
- 17. Ibid.
- 18. See Press Conference of Tanaka Prasad Acharya in Beijing on 7 October 1956 in New Developments in Friendly Relations between China and Nepal (Foreign Language Press, Beijing, 1960), p. 197. For Zhou Enlai's statements see, Times of India, 28 January 1957 and 30 January 1957.
- 19. Asian Recorder (Delhi), 1957, p. 1301. For Zhou Enlai's visit see, China Today (New Delhi), 25 February 1957, p. 12, and for the Premier's remarks see Samaj, 27 January 1957; Times of India, 28 January 1957.
- 20. Samaj, 27 January 1957 and Times of India, 30 January 1957.
- 21. Assian Recorder (Delhi), 1957, p. 1577; also see Swatantra Samachar, 15 October 1957.
- 22. Gorkhapatra, 12 October 1956.
- 23. The Hindu, 28 October 1956.
- 24. See K.I. Singh's statement in Swatantra Samachar, 15 October 1957 and for his dismissal, Government of Nepal, Department of Publicity, Proclamations, Speeches and Messages of King Mahendra (Kathmandu, 1967). Vol. 1, p. 94; also see Radio Nepal, 14 November 1957; Gorkhapatra, 15 November 1957; The Commoner, 17 November 1957; Naya Samaj, 15 November 1957; Asian Recorder, 1956, p. 1062 and 1957 p. 1577.
- 25. Ibid.
- 26. Kalpana, 3 April 1959.
- 27. Kalpana, 13 June 1959.
- 28. A.S. Bhasin, n. 2, p. 23.
- **2**9. *Ibid*.

- 30. Nehru, n. 1, p. 356.
- 31. Lok Sabha Debates (New Delhi), 27 November 1959, col. 2211; Statesman, 28 November 1959.
- 32. SCMP 804, p. 28.
- 33. A.S. Bhasin, n. 2, pp. 46-47.
- 34. Gorkhapatra, 16 March 1960.
- 35. Bhasin, n. 2, pp. 266-68: also see Hindustan Times, 26 March 1960.
- 36. Murlidhar Dharamdasani, Indian Diplomacy in Nepal (Jaipur, 1976), p. 65.
- 37. Samaj, 27 March 1960.
- 38. Gorkhapatra, 7 March 1960.
- 39. Bhasin, n. 2. p. 263.
- 40. Kalpana, 13 March 1960.
- 41. Kalpana, 4 April 1960.
- 42. Lok Sabha Debates, 16 December 1960, cols, 5973-77: also see The Hindu, 17 December 1960.
- 43. Rajya Sabha Debates, 20 December 1960, cols. 2707-10: Jawaharlal Nehru's Speeches, September 1957—April 1962, Vol. 4 (New Delhi: Publication Division, Ministry of Information and Broadcasting, Government of India, August 1964, pp. 272-74.
- 44. Hindustan Times, 16 December 1960; Indian Express, 20 December 1960.
- 45. Beijing Review, 20 October 1961, pp. 5-8.
- How and under what circumstances the agreement was concluded is 46. still shrouded with mystery and open to different interpretations. More convincing view found, while consulting the various sources, is that "the Chinese had proposed the road agreement and they took the advantage of King's helplessness". If the King had this plan in his mind, he could have proposed it earlier (he himself admitted that it was not pre-planned). Obviously, the Chinese leaders, who were very clever (shrewed) took undue advantage of the King's helplessness vis-a-vis India, and proposed the draft of the agreement on the very last day of his departure for Kathmandu. The king was put into very embarrassing position and had no option except to approve the agreement. However, the king, in order to demonstrate his dissatisfaction but keeping in view New Delhi's possible objection to the agreement, did not himself sign the agreement and asked Dr. Tulsi Giri to sign it for Nepal. Leo E. Rose has expressed the same view. He observed that "suddenly on the day before his departure, the Chinese presented a draft of road agreement to king Mahendra and in such terms to implementation of the Boundry Treaty depended upon a favourable response on the road question". Having been badly outmanoeuvred for once, the king was in no position to resist the pressure. The official Nepali position regarding the road agreement is that King Mahendra took the initiative and that the Chinese, "after a cursory glance at His Majesty's proposal gave then assent". See Rishiram, "Kathmandu-Lhasa Sadak" (Kathmandu Lhasa Road), Swatantra Samachar, 11 June 1962; also see, The Report on the King Mahendra's

Interview with Hindustan Samachar News Agency in Dainik Nepal, 7 February 1962; Bhasin n. 2, pp. 59-61. Rose, n. 13, p. 239.

- 47. The Hindu, 25 November 1961; Times of India, 24 April 1962.
- 48. Gorkhapatra, 14 and 19 November 1961; also see King Mahendra's remarks in New Delhi on April 1962 that "this road is an internal affair of Nepal, and the road is solely a matter of economic significance. So the question of consultations with the Government of India did not arise. The Nepalese people know very well the economic significance of this road for them. Its value cannot be appreciated by the people sitting outside". See Bhasin, n. 2, pp. 76-78; also see, The Hindu, 20 May 1962.
- 49. Lok Sabha Debate, 3 July 1967, cols. 8923-34.
- 50. SCMP 2835, p.34; NCNA, 4 October 1962.
- 51. Leo Rose, n. 13, p. 251.
- 52. Nepal Times, 16 June 1967.
- 53. Asian Recorder, 1967, p. 7854.
- 54. China Report, (New Delhi), Vol. 5, September-October 1969, p. 21.
- 55. NCNA, 7 November 1970.
- 56. The Hindu, 9 January 1971.
- 57. NCNA, 9 January 1971.
- 58. The Hindustan Standard, (New Delhi), 21 July 1971; arliamentary Debates (New Delhi), 20 July 1971, cols. 139-46.
- 59. The Hindustan Times, 8 December 1972.
- 60. The Rising Nepal, 28 December 1972.
- NCNA, 28 October, 1974; Summary of World Broadcasts (London). Part 3 (The Far East), Second Series, FE/4742, 30 October 1974, P. FE/4712/A3/4-5.
- 62. Ibid.

### CHAPTER V

## CONCLUSION

The history of Sino-Nepalese relations is a history of progressive development with minor intervening irritants. China started its relationship with Nepal from virtually a scratch and with odds operating against it. Recently liberated, a revolutionary faith influenced their thinking of international politics. The Chinese at a time thought that Nepal was part of the Chinese Empire and it had been snatched away from China by imperialist plotting. Since communism was committed to undoing the unjust relationships of the imperialist and colonialist powers, Communist China had a right to restore the previous vassal state relationship. In the immediate aftermath of the liberation, with a story of success to their protracted revolutionary activity, the Chinese Communists were thinking that in the prophetic battle between the Communist bloc and the capitalist bloc the victory of the Communist countries was assured as they represented the progressive forces. The Chinese communists were also confident that their determined struggle would destroy the unjust relations established by the imperialist and capitalist powers. The reversal in the Korean War, however, washed away much of the Chinese complacency and forced them to think in terms of real politik rather than engage in wishful thinking about the prospect of world communism.

The experience in the Korean War also undermined much of the trust the Chinese reposed in the Soviet Union. It exposed the limitations of a Communist Country in giving assistance to a fellow Communist Country engaged in a war against the capitalist countries. It made China realize that Soviet Union could not do certain things to assist a fellow Communist Country in distress even if it wanted to do because of the constraints imposed by international law, international morality and world public opinion. The postKorean War years also proved to be trying time for China as America mounted an offensive to contain China by drawing the countries armed China into a military alliance (SEATO), by increasing military activity in the vicinity of China and by trying to choke Chinese economy by enforcing a trade embargo against it. Developments like these prompted China that it could not depend on the strength of the Soviet Union for all time. China had to improve its standing in the world community if it were to force the United States to cease its enimical actions against China. In its policy of diversification of foreign policy beyond the Communist countries the first to get Chinese attention were the neutral and nonaligned countries of the Third World. Apart from being nonaligned Nepal also received special attention from China as it was a neighbouring country.

Yet China initiated the relationship with Nepal from a low key. It, as we have observed earlier, indirectly acknowledged the Indian dominance in Nepal and accepted Nepalese dependence on India because of some obvious geocultural factors. Moreover, China could not afford antagonizing India by taking an offensive policy in Nepal as it felt that India's support was essential for improving China's position in the international community. Nepal was also not sure of Chinese attitude towards Nepal as it apprehended that China might stake a territorial claim on it. Hence it responded cautiously to Chinese initiatives and that too after consultation with India. Chinese on their part maintained a low profile in Nepal and approached Nepal through India. It persuaded India to mediate for establishment of diplomatic relations with Nepal. China, of course, took advantage of anti-Indian feeling among some Nepalese to impress forcefully the merits of establishing diplomatic relations. But that was not much because the Nepalese government during the rule of King Tribhuvan was close to the Indian Government was inclined to see developments in international politics and take steps on national and international issues in concert with India. The undisguised distrust of China mainly acquired through their own experience of relationship with China and Indian cautionary advice against any hasty step were, thus, the stalling factors in opening the Sino-Nepalese diplomatic relations.

Apart from the Indian factor and the Nepalese attitude inhibiting free growth of Sino-Nepalese relations the Chinese steps in Tibet were also strong factors militating against a close relation. The Chinese attempt at occupying Tibet was quite disquieting to Nepal who surmised that China might take similar punitive action against Nepal. China, however, on its part, was becoming indifferent to Nepalese sensitivities. It might have thought that it was important to secure one's hinterland buffers rather than bothering about the implications of such steps for an outer buffer which was already under the predominant influence of another country.

The establishment of diplomatic relationship between China and Nepal took a rather circuitous path. China had to wait for regularising its relations with Nepal till India had established its relationship with China on a stronger footing. Even then China was to accept the Indian condition that it would have to conduct its relationship with Nepal from its embassy in India and the opening of resident embassy in Kathmandu was withheld till a more opportune time. From all these the low profile that China was maintaining in Nepal at the beginning becomes evident.

After the establishment of diplomatic relations Sino-Nepalese relations took rapid strides, obviously to the disquietude of India. But the initiative in this rapid stride was taken by Nepal rather than by China. China extended approval of Nepalese advances. Changes in internal political situation and in its perception of Indian role prompted Nepal to assume such initiative. This could be directly traced to the personality and outlook of the new king Mahendra.

China took interest in Nepal after it reappraised its position in world politics. After 1956, it was getting gradually estranged from the Soviet Union which culminated in a split in 1961 with the withdrawal of Soviet technicians from China. United States was mounting ever increasing pressure on China. China, was not getting any concrete support from the neutral and nonaligned countries. They, according to China, maintained too vague and vacillating a position in order to be reckoned by China as a force to depend on. Obviously China's position in international politics was quite insecure and China desperately needed the support of as many countries as possible irrespective of their size and stature. Nepal came within the purview of this policy, although China was sure that Nepa! would not extend unequivocal support to China. Of course, more decisive factor was the changing relationship with India.

The development of Sino-Indian discord acted like a catalyst

for Sino-Nepalese relations. China understood that Nepal would be important for its manoeuvre against India; that China's interests would be better served if Nepal's tie with India could be loosened and Nepal's attitude towards China could be placed on a positive basis. It took opportunity of the simmering anti-Indian feelings in the Nepalese mind and deliberately staked it to widen the breach further. It was now prepared to forego the Indian friendship as it understood that India would not back the Chinese line on international issues. China was also irritated due to the steady growth of Indo-Soviet relations during this period. It could not reconcile itself to such developments as it thought that India was getting aid from the Soviet Union at the cost of China.

It is important to note that in cultivating friendship with Nepal China was side-stepping its ideology. China, contrary to its ideological predispositions, was supporting a monarchy and was refraining from giving open support to local communist parties. Obviously China did not promote the objective of spreading communism in Nepal. Bypassing ideological stipulations China extended support to the royalist elements. By this China was making a real cost and benefit analysis and was giving precedence to national interest over ideology. It understood that the Communist forces in Nepal were as much anti-royal as the people of the Nepali Congress and any country extending support to either party would not be in the good book of the King. China witnessed how the India, support for Nepali Congress was eroding its base in Nepal and was resulting in gradual estrangement from India. China did not want to commit the same mistake in Nepal. And since China's main interest in Nepal was weakening India's position in it, China could not possibly have achieved this by extending support to local communist forces which were too weak to destablise the king. Thus, from pure opportunistic calculations China decided to back the royalists. In fact China's policy in Nepal was an example of its relations with other Third World developing countries where it sacrificed its much vaunted sizzling radical revolutionary ideology and opted for a pragmatic policy which was by no means less opportunistic than the policies followed by any Western power, whenever it suited its interests.

In order to demonstrate its keenness on cultivating friendship with Nepal, China also utilized its economic aid programme. Nepal was among the non-Communist countries receiving Chinese

aid in 1956, the year in which China started giving assistance to non-Communist Countries. Assistance extended by China was not much in terms of quantity and in comparison to India in was only meagre. But China utilized its limited aid programme efficiently and utilized their propaganda machinery to make a qualitative distinction between the Chinese aid and aids extended by other countries. China, no doubt, was offering better terms to Nepal. but its impact on local economy was not much. By sheer publicity China was able to impress the Nepalese that China could be a viable alternative in Nepal's programme of economic diversification. Yet the Chinese themselves knew that they could not replace India from the Nepalese economic scene. China also did not have the technology necessary for the rapid modernization of the Nepalese economy. We have pointed out in the chapter on Economic Relations that much of China's assistance was marked for road projects and consumer products that would cost less but would make an immediate impact on the economy thus earning the goodwill of the Nepalese. Winning the goodwill of the Nepalese rather than sincerely attempting to develop Nepalese economy was the main objective of China's aid programme in Nepal.

The deterioration of Sino-Indian relations changed the Chinese perception of Nepal's importance for its security interest. China was no longer prepared to tolerate Indian prominence in Nepal and Chinese leaders and government also have been anxious that India might use Nepal for encouraging hostile activity in Tibet. China decided to compete with India for Nepal's friendship. It gave support to the Royal decision dismissing the democratic government and scored a point against India by projecting that China was a more dependable ally of Nepal than India. It unleashed a villification campaign against India. All these were directed towards obtaining some strategic concessions from Nepal, which was evident from the manner in which the Chinese tricked the Nepalese king into signing the Kathmandu-Kodari road agreement. China also, as we have pointed out earlier, utilized Nepal for sending symbolic messages to India regarding its capability in mountain warfare which they demonstrated amply in their engagement with India in 1962.

After defeating India China got a massive face lift in international politics. It scored a point against Soviet Union by demonstrating that it would tackle a major enemy without Soviet Union's help. It proved its potential to the community of nations. It proved its strength to the Third World developing countries and staked a claim to their leadership. It also compelled the Nepalese to reassess their position between two regional powers. This conveyed a message to Nepal that it (Nepal) must not feel complacent with Indian protection and must accommodate China as the other preponderant power.

However, China did not try to intimidate Nepal, for that would have incurred the ill-feeling of Nepal and would have proved China as an expansionist power. China, instead, reassured Nepal after the Sino-Indian War about scrupulous avoidance of dictating terms to Nepal. A major success for China in this period was that it compelled Nepal to change its tilt towards India and make it follow a policy of equidistance between the two big powers. It, thus, considerably loosened the Indian grip in Nepalese politics. One in fact witnesses that in the post-Sino-Indian War period China started vying with India for different projects in Nepal. It was demanding greater freedom of operation near the Indo-Nepalese border similar to that of the right enjoyed by the Indians near Sino-Nepalese border. It pressed Nepal to allow China to construct a road in the Terai region. But it had to withdraw in face of strong Indian protest. Nevertheless, the fact that China was vying with India was proof enough of the strength that China had acquired in its dealings with Nepal.

A characteristic feature of Sino-Nepalese relations after 1961 was that there was no major dispute between the two countries and the relationship advanced in a smooth and steady manner. Minor irritants were observed only when the Chinese technicians in their overzealousness for demonstrating their cultural allegiance to communist ideology utilized Nepal as an extended stage for the Cultural Revolution high drama. They engaged themselves in ideological propaganda distributing communist literature and projecting Mao as the leader of the world. These obviously were quite disturbing to the Nepalese as the royalists thought that the Chinese were attempting to erode the base of the King. China also became undiplomatic when it used a neutral country for anti-India propaganda. Nepal felt that China was taking undue advantage of Nepal's neutral posture and indicated the Chinese leaders about its displeasure. Both countries, however, scrupulously avoided any major showdown and both exhibited compromising attitude. This was to prove that the logic of Sino-Nepalese relations in the context of the Sino-Indian conflict had asserted itself and neither party was prepared to forego the advantages of the relationship. The irritants during the Cultural Revolution were minor and were insufficient to have any serious impact on Sino-Nepalese relations.

In the post-Cultural Revolution phase China's general foreign policy posture took a new turn. China had now identified the Soviet Union as the number one enemy. The United States was referred to as a less dangerous enemy than the Soviet Union. This was because Beijing now emphasized that the threat to Chinese national security was more imminent from Soviet Union than from the United States. In this situation of two formidable enemies China decided to make its relationship with countries of first and second intermediate zones more vigorous.

Hawever, one did not see any perceptible impact of such a change in China's general foreign policy posture on relations with Nepal. 1969 was indeed a watershed in China's approach to world politics but it did not have any impact on China's bilateral relations with Nepal. In essence in the post-Cultural Revolution period Sino-Nepalese relations were exhibiting the same characteristics as in case of pre-Cultural Revolution relations. The logic of the pre-1969 phase was continued.

During the 70's the economic aspects of Sino-Nepalese relations proliferated. China entered into more and more agreements with Nepal and undertook different projects. Still the amount made a poor comparison with India. China did not have any political disputes with Nepal. But it continued its anti-India propaganda in Nepal as before which was given a respite only after the prospects of Sino-Indian normalization of relations loomed in the horizon.

It is evident from the above analysis that for China India has been the major determinant of its relations with Nepal. China's world view does not seem to have a direct correlation with its relations with Nepal. It is of course true that Nepal figures in China's world view as a country in the first intermediate zone, but its relations with Nepal has developed almost independent of the successive changes in the general foreign policy framework of China. It is a fact that China's view of a regional power (i.e. India) is more important in determining its relations with Nepal than of its analysis of world power configuration.

It is also clear that changes in China's domestic politics are not reflected in its relations with Nepal. Once the Chinese had laid down the logic of Sino-Nepalese relations, they did not look back and maintained steady relations with Nepal irrespective of changes in China's internal politics. This was because to China Nepal had concrete implications for its national interests irrespective of ideology of world developments.

Thus India was the real factor that influenced China's attitude towards Nepal and China never lost sight of oblivious of this factor. China changed its relationship with Nepal keeping always in view its own relations with India. China understands that in order to keep Nepal close it has to compete with India but at the same time it is aware of the limitations of such competition. It realizes that Nepal's access to the sea lies through India; major portion of its economic transactions are with India; its territory is a natural extension of the India landmass; it has cultural and religious affinity with India. Hence, it would be impossible for China to alienate Nepal from India. For, it is understood that, in case Nepal tilts in favour of China and goes against India, it would be impossible for China to meet all its necessities. This limits China's relationship with Nepal. For China the best that could be expected is that Nepal follow a policy of equidistance between India and China.

### APPENDIX I

# **FRIENDSHIP AGREEMENT**

# September 20, 1956 (Ratified on January 17, 1958)

The Government of the People's Republic of China and the Government of the Kingdom of Nepal,

Being desirous of further developing the friendly relations between the two countries as good neighbours on the basis of the long-standing friendship between the two people.

Reaffirm that the five principles (Panch Shila) of :

- (i) Mutual respect for each other's territorial integrity and sovereignty;
- (ii) Non-aggression;
- (iii) Non-interference in each other's internal affairs for any reasons of an economic, political or ideological character;
- (iv) Equality and mutual benefit; and
- (v) Peaceful co-existence.

Should be the fundamental principles guiding the relations between the two countries.

The two parties have resolved to conclude the present agreement in accordance with the above-mentioned principles and have, for this purpose, appointed as their respective plenipotentiaries :

The Government of the People's Republic of China, His Excellency Pan Tzu-li, Ambassador Extraordinary and of Nepal; the Government of the Kingdom of Nepal, His Excellency Chuda Prasad Sharma, Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Kingdom of Nepal, who, having examined each other's credentials and finding them in good and due form, have agreed upon the following :

# Article One

The high contracting parties declare that peace and friendship shall be maintained between the People's Republic of China and the Kingdom of Nepal.

## Article Two

The high contracting parties hereby reaffirm their decision to mutually exchange diplomatic representatives on ambassadorial level.

### **Article Three**

All treaties and documents which existed in the past between China and Nepal including those between the Tibet Region of China and Nepal are hereby abrogated.

### **Article Four**

In order to maintain and develop the traditional contacts between the peoples of the Tibet Region of China and Nepal, the high contracting parties agree that the nationals of both parties may trade, travel and make pilgrimage in those places in each other's territory as agreed upon by both parties, and the two parties agree to safeguard the proper interests of the nationals of the other party in the territory in accordance with the laws of the country of residence, and for this purpose the high contracting parties agree to do as follows :

Paragraph One—The high contracting parties mutually trade agencies :

- (i) The Chinese Government agrees that the Government of Nepal may establish trade agencies at Shigatse, Kyerong and Nyalam;
- (ii) The Government of Nepal agrees that the Chinese Government may establish an equal number of trade

agencies in Nepal, the specific locations of which will be discussed and determined at a later date by both parties;

(iii) The trade agencies of both parties shall be accorded the same status and same treatment. The trade agents of both parties shall enjoy freedom from arrest while exercising their functions, and shall enjoy in respect of themselves, their wives and their children who are dependent on them for livelihood freedom from search.

The trade agencies of both parties shall enjoy the privileges and immunities for couriers, mailbags and communications in code.

Paragraph Two—The high contracting parties agree that traders of both countries may trade at the following places :

- (i) The Chinese Government agrees to specify (1) Lhasa,
  (2) Shigatse, (3) Gyantse, and (4) Yatung as markets for trade;
- (ii) The Government of Nepal agrees that when with the development of Chinese trade in Nepal, it has become necessary to specify markets for trade in Nepal, the Government of Nepal specify markets for trade in Nepal, the Government of Nepal will specify an equal number of markets for trade in Nepal;
- (iii) Traders of both countries known to be customarily and specially engaged in border trade between the Tibet Region of China and Nepal may continue trade at the traditional markets for such trade.

Paragraph Three—The high contracting parties agree that pilgrimage by religious believers of either country to the other may continue according to religious customs. Personal baggages and articles used for pilgrimage carried by the pilgrims of either party shall be exempted from taxation by such trade, by the other party.

Paragraph Four—For travelling across the border between the Tibet Region of China and Nepal, the high contracting parties agree that the nationals of both countries shall use the customary routes.

Paragraph Five—For travelling across the border by the nationals of the two countries, the high contracting parties agree to

adopt the following provisions :

- (i) Diplomatic personnel and officials of the two countries except those provided by sub-paragraphs two, three and four, who travel across the border between the Tibet Region of China and Nepal, shall hold passports issued by their respective countries and visaed by the other party. Nationals of two countries who enter the Tibet Region of China or Nepal through a third country shall also hold passports issued by their respective countries and visaed by the other party.
- (ii) Traders of the two countries known to be customarily and specifically engaged in trade between the Tibet Region of China and Nepal, their wives and children dependent on them for livelihood and their attendants, not covered by sub-paragraph three of this paragraph, who enter into the Tibet Region of China or Nepal as the case may be for the purposes of trade, shall hold passports issued by their respective countries and visaed by the other party or certificates issued by their respective governments or by organs authorized by their respective governments.
- (iii) Inhabitants of the border districts of the two countries who cross the border to carry on petty trade, to visit friends or relatives, or for seasonal changes of residence, may do so as they have customarily done heretofore and need not hold passports, visas or other documents of certification.
- (iv) Pilgrims of either party who travel across the border between the Tibet Region of China and Nepal for the purposes of pilgrimages need not hold passports, visas or other documents of certification, but shall register at the border checkposts or the first authorized government office of the other party, and obtain permits for pilgrimage therefrom.
- (v) Notwithstanding the provisions of the foregoing subparagraphs of this paragraph, either government may refuse entry to any particular persons.
- (vi) Nationals of either country who enter the territory of the other party in accordance with the foregoing sub-

٠.

1

paragraphs of this paragraph may stay within the territory only after complying with the procedures specified by the other party.

#### **Article Five**

This agreement shall be ratified. It shall come into effect after mutual notice of ratifications, and remain in force for eight (8) years. Extension of the present agreement may be negotiated by the two parties if either party requests for it six (6) months prior to the expiry of the agreement and the request is agreed to by the other party.

Done in Kathmandu on the 20th day of September 1956, in duplicate in the Chinese, Nepalese and English languages, all texts being equally authentic.

> Sd/- PAN TZU-LI Plenipotentiary of the Government of the People's Republic of China

Sd/- CHUDA PRASAD SHARMA Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Kingdom of Nepal.

#### **APPENDIX II**

# **ECONOMIC AID AGREEMENT**

Peking, October 7, 1956.

The Government of the People's Republic of China and the Government of the Kingdom of Nepal, for the purposes of promoting the friendly relations between the two states and of strengthening the friendship of their people and on the basis of five principles of peaceful co-existence (Panch Shila), have reached an agreement the articles of which are as follows:

#### Article I

The People's Republic of China shall make a free grant to the Kingdom of Nepal within a period of three years as from the date of the signing and coming into force of this agreement in an amount of 60 million Indian rupees. Of the 60 million Indian rupees, one-third shall be given by instalments in foreign exchange and two-thirds in machinery, equipment, materials and other commodities which the Kingdom of Nepal needs and the People's Republic of China can supply. The said machinery, equipment, materials and other commodities shall be determined by further negotiations between the two governments.

#### Article II

The economic aid by the government of the People's Republic of China to the Kingdom of Nepal is made without whatever conditions attached thereto and no technical personnel shall be despatched to Nepal in connection with this aid. The Government of the Kingdom of Nepal shall have entire freedom in utilizing the above-mentioned monies and goods and the Government of the People's Republic of China shall not interfere.

# Article III

The organs to carry out this agreement shall be Ministry of Foreign Trade of the People's Republic of China for the People's Republic of China and the Ministry of Planning and Development of the Kingdom of Nepal for the Kingdom of Nepal.

## Article IV

This agreement shall become effective from the date of its signature.

Done and signed in Peking, on the 7th day of October 1956 in two copies, each in the Chinese, Nepalese and English languages, all texts being equal authentic.

YEH CHI-CHUANG

Minister for Foreign Trade, for the Government of the People's Republic of China DAMAK SHAMSHER JANG BAHADUR RANA

Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary to the People's Republic of China. For the Government of the Kingdom of Nepal.

#### APPENDIX III

# AGREEMENT OF ECONOMIC AJD

#### Peking, March 21, 1960

The Government of the People's Republic of China and His Majesty's Government of Nepal, for the purpose of further promoting the friendly relations and of strengthening the economic and technical co-operation between the two countries have, on the basis of the Five Principles of Peaceful Co-existence, concluded the present Agreement, the articles of which are as follows:

#### Article 1

With a view to helping His Majesty's Government of Nepal to develop its economy, the Government of the People's Republic of China is willing to give His Majesty's Government of Nepal, within a period of three years as from the date of coming into force of the present Agreement, a free grant of economic aid without any conditions or privileges attached. The amount of the aid is 100,000,000 (one hundred million) Indian rupees. This amount of, together with the remaining 40,000,000 (forty million) Indian rupees, provided under the Agreement between China and Nepal on Economic Aid of 1956, which has not yet been used by His Majesty's Government of Nepal, making a total of 140,000 (one hundred and forty million) Indian rupees, shall be utilized by instalments during the period of validity of the present Agreement by His Majesty's Government of Nepal in accordance with the items of economic aid to be agreed upon by both sides.

#### Article II

The economic aid to be given by the Government of the

People's Republic of China to His Majesty's Government of Nepal shall cover equipment, machinery and materials, technique and other commodities.

# Article III

According to the requirement of His Majesty's Government of Nepal, the Government of the People's Republic of China is willing to supply, on the basis of the principles of economy and usefulness, equipment, machinery and materials and designs relating to the items of aid, in order to help develop the economy of the Kingdom of Nepal.

# Article IV

At the request of His Majesty's Government of Nepal, the Government of the the People's Republic of China agrees to dispatch a necessary number of experts and technicians to help the Kingdom of Nepal in the construction of the items of aid to be specified under the present Agreement. The travelling expenses of the Chinese experts and technicians to the Kingdom of Nepal and back to China and their salaries during their period of work in the Kingdom of Nepal shall be borne by the Government of the People's Republic of China; the living expenses of the Chinese experts and technicians during their period of work in the Kingdom of Nepal shall be paid from the amount of the aid, with their standard of living not exceeding that of personnel of the same level in the Kingdom of Nepal.

At the request of His Majesty's Government of Nepal, the Government of the People's Republic of China agrees to accept trainees dispatched by His Majesty's Government of Nepal to learn technical skill in China. The expenses of the trainees shall be paid from the amount of the aid.

## Article V

The items of aid to be given by the Government of the People's Republic of China to His Majesty's Government of Nepal and the methods of their implementation, in accordance with Article II of the present Agreement shall be discussed and decided upon separately in a protocol to be concluded by the representatives to be appointed by the two Governments.

## Article VI

The organs to carry out the present Agreement shall be Ministry of Foreign Trade of the People's Republic of China for the People's Republic of China, and the Ministry of Finance of His Majesty's Government of Nepal for Nepal.

## Article VII

The present Agreement will come into force on the date of its signing and remain in force for a period of three years. At the expiry of the present Agreement, if the amount of the aid is not yet used up, the period of validity of the present Agreement may be extended by agreement of the two Governments.

Done in duplicate in Beijing on the twenty-first day of March, 1960, in the Chinese, Nepalese and English languages, all texts being equally authentic.

Zhou Enlai Plenipotentiary of the Government of the People's Republic of China

B.P. Koirala Plenipotentiary of His Majesty's Government of Nepal

#### APPENDIX IV

# PROTOCOL TO THE AGREEMENT OF ECONOMIC AID

Kathmandu, September 5, 1961

His Majesty's Government of Nepal and the Government of the People's Republic of China have, in accordance with the Agreement on Economic Aid signed between the two Parties on the 21st March, 1960 in Peking, concluded the present Protocol, the articles of which are as follows :

#### Article I

The name, capacity, design and delivery time of the equipments of the items of economic construction to be provided by the Governmen of the People's Republic of China to His Majesty's Government of Nepal shall be as per the Annexe hereto, which forms a part of this Protocol.

#### **Article II**

The expenditures for the designs, equipments, machinery, materials and technique etc., to be provided by the Chinese side under the items of economic construction as specified in the Annexe to this Protocol shall be paid from the amount of aid stipulated in Article I of the Agreement on Economic Aid.

#### Article III

In accordance with this Protocol, the scope, of aid given by

China to Nepal in respect of designs, equipments, machinery, materials and technique is as follows :

- 1. To make the civil engineering and technological designs of various items of economic construction as per the designing and projecting orders approved and the basic data for designing given by the Npalese side;
- 2. To supply complete plants (inclusive of both main and auxiliary equipments) of various items and those special installation machines and instruments, building machines and materials, which cannot be procured in the Kingdom of Nepal;
- 3. To dispatch a necessary number of experts and technical personnel as agreed by both Parties to the Kingdom of Nepal to carry out, for the relevant item, the works of surveying and prospecting, collecting basic data for design, selecting site, and conducting civil engineering construction, installations of equipments and trial operation; and
- 4. To accept a necessary number of technical personnel and workers to be dispatched by the Kingdom of Nepal to China for practical (and) technical training in production in the relevant enterprises. Details of the dispatch of trainees and training matters shall be stipulated in a contract to be signed by the organs concerned of both Parties.

# Article IV

The delivery terms of the equipments, machinery, materials and general commodities to be supplied by the People's Republic of China to the Kingdom of Nepal in accordance with this Protocol shall be C.I.F. Calcutta, India.

All the taxes and duties leviable on the above-mentioned equipments, machinery and materials within the territories of India and Nepal shall be paid by the Nepalese side. The prices of complete plants, machinery, materials and general commodities to be supplied by the People's Republic of China to the Kingdom of Nepal shall be fixed in contracts to be signed between the organs concerned of both Parties and shall be calculated in Indian rupees.

## Article V

The dispatch of Chinese experts and technical personnel, and the working conditions during their stay in the Kingdom of Nepal shall be arranged in accordance with the letters relating to the working conditions for experts and technical personnel exchanged between the two Parties on the 5th September 1961 in Kathmandu.

### Article VI

The entering of account in respect to the utilization of economic aid shall be discussed and fixed separately by the People's Bank of China and the Nepal Rastra Bank.

## Article VII

The present Protocol shall come into force from the date of its signing.

Done in duplicate in Kathmandu on the 5th day of September 1961 in the Nepalese, Chinese and English languages, all three texts being equally authentic.

#### RISHIKESH SHAHA

Representative of His Majesty's Government of Nepal

### CHANG SHI-CHIEH

Representative of the Government of the People's Republic of China

#### APPENDIX V

# TRADE AGREEMENT

### Kathmandu, May 19, 1964

His Majesty's Government of Nepal and the Government of the People's Republic of China (hereinafter referred to as the Contracting Parties) for the purpose of further developing the friendship between the two countries and strengthening the economic and trade relations between the two countries, especially the traditional trade relations between Nepal and the Tibet Region of China, have, on the basis of equality and mutual benefit, agreed as follows :

#### Article I

The two Contracting Parties shall take all appropriate measures to develop the trade between their two countries, and agree to promote the exchange of goods between them.

#### Article II

The trade between the two countries may be conducted through the state trading organisations in Nepal and China, as well as through other importers and exporters of the two countries.

#### Article III

The exchange of goods between the two countries shall be conducted in accordance with their respective laws, regulations and procedures regarding import and export and foreign exchange regulations in force from time to time in the two countries.

#### **Article IV**

The trade between the two countries shall be based, as far as possible on the principle of equilibrium between the total values of imports and exports.

The two Contracting Parties shall, through periodical consultations, determine what goods one country can make available to the other; and they shall mutually accord to each other as favourable treatment as possible in respect of the issuance of import and export licences for such goods.

The two Contracting Parties shall grant to each other the most-favoured nation treatment in all matters relating to customs duties and other taxes, fees and charges of any kind to be levied on exportation and importation of commodities, and to the rules, formalities and charges of customs management. These provisions, however, shall not apply to :

- 1. Advantages resulting from any customs union or other agreement on customs-free trade to which either Contracting Party is or may become in the future a party; and
- 2. Advantages accorded by multilateral economic agreements relating to International Commerce.

# Article VI

Payment in connection with the importation and exportation of commodities and goods as well as other payments between the two countries shall be made in convertible Pounds Sterling or any other mutually agreed currency.

## Article VII

Border inhabitants of the two countries may, within an area of 30 kilometres from the borders carry on the petty traditional trade on barter basis, which shall not be subjected to the limitations of the above-mentioned provisions.

## Article VIII

Nothing in this Agreement shall be constructed to derogate

from any obligations of either of the Contracting Parties under any international convention or agreement entered into before or after the conclusion of this Agreement.

# Article IX

Any dispute arising out of the implementation of this Agreement shall be settled through peaceful and friendly consultations between the Contracting Parties.

# Article X

This Agreement replaces the Paragraph II of Article IV of the Agreement to Maintain Friendly Relations between the Kingdom of Nepal and the People's Republic of China and on Trade and Intercourse between Nepal and the Tibet Region of China concluded between the two Contracting Parties on September 20, 1956.

This Agreement shall come into force on and from the date of signing and its validity is for two years. If neither party notifies the other in writing to terminate this Agreement at least six months before its expiration, the validity shall be automatically extended for another two years.

After the expiration of this Agreement, all obligations arising therefrom shall be carried out in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

The present Agreement is cancluded in Kathmandu on 19th May, 1964. Done in duplicate in the Nepalese, Chinese and English languages, all the three texts being equally authentic. In case there should arise any difference in interpretation between the Nepalese and the Chinese texts, the English text shall be taken as final.

Plenipotentiary of His Majesty's Government of Nepal

Plenipotentiary of the Government of the People's Republic of China.

# APPENDIX VI

# AGREEMENT ON TRADE, INTERCOURSE AND RELATED QUESTIONS BETWEEN TIBET AUTONOMOUS REGION OF CHINA AND NEPAL

Peaking May 2, 1966

The Government of the People's Republic of China and His Majesty's Government of Nepal.

Being desirous of further developing the friendly and good neighbourly relations between the two countries, reaffirming the five principles, i.e.,

- 1. Mutual respect for each other's territorial integrity and sovereignty,
- 2. Mutual non-aggression,
- 3. Non-interference in each other's internal affairs for any reasons of an economic, political or ideological character.
- 4. Equality and mutual benefit, and
- 5. Peaceful co-existence,

as the fundamental principles guiding the relations between the two countries.

Desiring to develop on the basis of these principles the traditional friendly relations between the peoples of the two countries and particularly between the inhabitants of the Tibet Autonomous Region of China and the peoples of Nepal.

Have agreed to conclude the present Agreement on the basis of the "Agreement to Maintain the Friendly Relations between the People's Republic of China and the Kingdom of Nepal and on Trade and Intercourse between the Tibet Region of China and Nepal" signed by the two Governments on September 20, 1956.

After friendly consultations, the two Governments have agreed upon the following :

# Article I

The two Governments agree that the movement of persons between the Tibet Autonomous Region of China and Nepal shall be governed by the following provisions :

- 1. Diplomatic personnel, civil servants and other nationals (except those covered by paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 5 of this Article) of either country shall hold passports issued by their own country and visaed by the other country. Nationals of either country entering the Tibet Autonomous Region of China or Nepal via a third country shall also hold passports issued by their own country and visaed by the other country.
- 2. Traders of either country known to be customarily and specially engaged in trade between the Tibet Autonomous Region of China and Nepal (not being those persons covered by paragraph 3 of this Article), their wives and children dependent upon them for livelihood and their attendants shall hold passports issued by their own country and visaed by the other country or other certificates issued by their own Government or its duly authorised agency.
- 3. Inhabitants of the border districts of either country to carry on petty trade, to visit friends or relatives, or for seasonal change of residence, need not have passports, visas or other certificates, but shall register at the border checkpost or the first encountered duly authorised government agency of the other country.
- 4. Religious believers of either country who travel for the purposes of pilgrimage need not have passports, visas or other certificates, but shall register at the border check-post or the first encountered duly authorised government agency of the other country and obtain permits for pilgrimage.
- 5. Porters and muleteers of either country shall only hold

certificates valid for a period of not more than one year issued by the local government of their own country or by its duly authorised agency and register at the border checkpost of the other country and need not have passports or visas.

- 6. Border inhabitants of both countries while travelling across the border shall use the customary routes.
- 7. Government officials, pilgrims and traders of both countries shall have the facility of engaging the means of transport at normal and reasonable rates.
- 8. Notwithstanding the provisions of the foregoing paragraphs of this Article, either Government may refuse entry in its territory to any particular person, should it deem this necessary.
- 9. Nationals of either country who enter the territory of the other country in accordance with the foregoing paragraphs of this Article may stay within the territory of the other country only after complying with the procedures specified by the other country.

## Article II

The two Governments agree that pilgrimage between the Tibet Autonomous Region of China and Nepal shall be maintained, and for this purpose have agreed on the following provisions :

- 1. The local authorities concerned of either country shall suitably facilitate the entry into or departure from its territory of pilgrims from the other country.
- 2. Pilgrims of either country entering or leaving the territory of the other country shall comply with procedures specified in Article I paragraph 4 of the present Agreement.
- 3. The personal luggage and articles used for pilgrimage carried by pilgrims shall be exempted from duties by both Governments.

## Article III

Subject to the procedures to be mutually agreed upon, the two Governments agree to make full use on a reciprocal basis of the Lhasa-Kodari and Kathmandu-Kodari Highways to develop friendly intercourse between the two countries in respect of official and trade purposes.

## **Article IV**

In order to ensure the peaceful living and normal pursuits of either country's nationals in the territory of the other and promote the development of friendship between the two countries, the two Governments have agreed on the following:

- 1. The respective Governments shall protect the life, property and legitimate interests of the nationals of the other country in its territory.
- 2. Nationals of one country in the territory of the other shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the Government of the host country and abide by its laws and regulations, pay taxes and respect the local customs.
- 3. All civil and criminal cases or disputes in the territory of either country involving nationals of the other country shall be handled by the Government of the host country.

## Article V

The two Governments shall encourage and support the development of trade relations beween the Tibet Autonomous Region of China and Nepal. The authorities concerned of either country shall protect the legitimate interests of the traders of the other country in its territory and facilitate their business activities. The traders of either country in the territory of the other must abide by the relevant laws and regulations and shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the host country.

The two Governments should promote traditional petty trade across the border between the Tibet Autonomous Region of China and Nepal. The local authorities concerned should give facility and protection to the border inhabitants of the other country engaged in such normal petty trade based on barter.

## Article VI

The Government of the People's Republic of China agrees

to the establishment of a consulate-general in Lhasa by His Majesty's Government of Nepal.

His Majesty's Government of Nepal agrees to the establishment of a consulate-general in Kathmandu by the Government of the People's Republic of China.

# Article VII

In order to strengthen the friendship between the local officials of the two Governments and settle in time problems arising in the intercourse between the border inhabitants of the two countries, the local officials of the border districts of the two Governments may hold meetings as and when necessary.

The rank, time, place and other matters concerning each meeting shall be decided through consultation between the local officials concerned of the two Governments themselves.

# Article VIII

The present Agreement abrogates the "Agreement to Maintain the Friendly Relations between the People's Republic of China and the Kingdom of Nepal and on Trade and Intercourse between the Tibet Region of China and Nepal" of September 20, 1956 and also the letters exchanged on the same date in relation to the same Agreement.

The present Agreement shall come into force on the date of its signing and shall remain in force for a period of ten years. Amendment of extension of the present Agreement may be negotiated by the two Governments six months before its expiration, if. either Government proposes to amend or extend the present Agreement and obtains the consent of the other Government.

Done in duplicate in Peking on the 2nd day of may, 1966, in the Chinese, Nepali and English languages, all texts being equally authentic.

Plenipotentiary of the Government of the People's Republic of China Plenipotentiary of His Majesty's Government of Nepal

#### APPENDIX VII

# AGREEMENT ON ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION

Kathmandu, December 21, 1966

His Majesty's Government of Nepal and the Government of the People's Republic of China, being motivated by the desire of further promoting and strengthening the friendly relations and the economic and technical co-operation between the two countries have, through friendly discussions, reached an agreement as follows:

#### Article I

With a view to helping His Majesty's Government of Nepal to develop its economy, the Government of the People's Repulic of China agrees to provide His Majesty's Government of Nepal, within the period from December 21, 1966 to December 31, 1970, a free grant of aid without any conditions attached. The amount of the aid shall be 150,000,000 (One Hundred and Fifty Million) Nepali Rupees.

#### Article II

The aid amount mentioned in Article I shall be provided in instalments in the form of complete sets of equipment according to the capability of the Government of the People's Republic of China and the requirements of His Majesty's Government of Nepal. The specific items shall be discussed and decided upon separately by the respective representatives to be appointed by the two Governments.

## Article III

At the invitation of His Majesty's Government of Nepal, the Government of the People's Republic of China shall dispatch experts and technical personnel to the Kingdom of Nepal to render technical assistance. Their living expenses and facilities and working conditions shall be covered by the related notes exchanged on September 5, 1961 between the two countries.

#### Article IV

The People's Bank of China and the Nepal Rastra Bank shall make an arrangement to establish the technical procedure for the smooth implementation of this agreement.

#### Article V

This agreement shall come into force from the date of its signing.

Done in duplicate in Kathmandu on December 21, 1966 in the Nepalese, Chinese and English languages, all the texts being equally authentic.

# APPENDIX VIII

# PROTOCOL TO THE CHINA-NEPAL TRADE AGREEMENT

# 28 May 1968

In accordance with the provisions of Article VI of the Trade Agreement between His Majesty's Government of Nepal and the Government of the People's Republic of China concluded on 28 May 1968, the two Governments have agreed as follows:

- 1. The trade over land between the two countries shall be on the basis of the C&F at the point of transfer of the goods over the border between Nepal and Tibet Autonomous Region of China or such other places in the vicinity of the border as may be determined by the local authorities concerned.
- 2. The trade overseas between the two countries shall be, in the case of exports from Nepal on the basis of f.o.b. and in the case of exports from China, on the basis of CIF Calcutta or other port through which the goods may be shipped in transit.
- 3. The method payments between the two countries shall be as follows :

A. (I) The two Governments shall open in a bank of the opposite side an interest-free and charge-free pound sterling clearing account, the balance of which shall be settled at the end of each calender year with convertible pound sterling.

(II) In the event of any change in the gold content of the pound sterling, one pound sterling containing 2.13291 grams of fine gold at present, the balance of account as prescribed in A(I) above and the amounts of outstanding contracts and letter of credit expressed in pound sterling under the trade Agreement between Nepal and China shall all be adjusted according to the proportion of change, so that their gold equivalents shall remain unchanged as before.

B. The under-noted payment shall be channelled through the account as prescribed in A(I) above.

(1) Payments relating to the proceeds of the purchase and sale of commodities between the two countries and their incidental charges;

(II) Payments for local expenses of Embassies, Consulates and Commercial Counsellors' offices of both countries;

(III) Payments for expenses incurred by Governmental, commercial, cultural and social organizations and delegations or other representatives of each country in the territory of the other country;

(IV) Payments for expenses of students and trainees as well as overseas remittances and travelling expenses of tourists of both countries; and

(V) Such other payments as agreed upon by and between the Nepal Rastra Bank and the People's Bank of China.

C. The Nepal Rastra Bank and the People's Bank of China shall work out the technical details necessary for the implementation of this payment arrangement.

4. This Protocol shall remain in force for a period of two years starting retrospectively from 19 May 1969, and its validity is the same as that of the Trade Agreeement between His Majesty's Government of Nepal and the Government of the People's Republic of China.

Sd/--- Sd/---Kirti Nidhi Bista Chen Yi

Source :Abstract of this agreement has been taken from Beijing Review, 7 June 1968, pp. 22-23; SCMP 4191, pp. 34-35: NCNA, 28 May 1968 and Summary of World Broadcasts, Part 3, The Far East (London), FE/2783, A3/1, 30 May 1968.

## Chronology

# EXCHANGE OF VISITS BETWEED CHINA AND NEPAL, 1955-1978

Goodwill Mission in Nepal
A 3-member delegation led by General
Yuan Zhongxien, Chinese Ambassa-
dor to India in Nepal, to negotiate
establishment of diplomatic relations.
A 5-member delegation led by
Ulanhu, Vice-Chairman of the State
Council, in Nepal to attend corona-
tion ceremony of King Mahendra.
A cultural delegation led by Minister
of Education Bal Chandra Sharma in
China.
A 5-member delegation led by Pan
Tzuli in Nepal.
King Mahendra in China.
A goodwill student delegation led by
Bharat Raj Joshi, Chairman of the
Students Federation, in China.
Prime Minister Tanaka Prasad
Acharya in China.
A goodwill delegation by Lok
Darshan, Principal Private Secretary
to King Mahendra, in China.
Prime Minister Zhou Enlai in Nepal.
A cultural delegation led by Zhu
Tonan in Nepal.
A 6-member Buddhist delegation led
by Bhiku Amritanand in China.

CHRONOLOGY	179
October 1959	Village Development Minister Tulsi Giri in China to attend 10th anniver-
October 1959	sary celebrations. Communist Party delegation led by Dr. K.J. Raimajhi in China to attend
October 1959	10th anniversary celebrations. A delegation of Nepal-China Friend- ship Association led by Puran Bahadur, in China to attend 10th
March 1960	anniversary celebrations. A 5-member journalists delegation led by Pashupati Deva Pande in China.
11-21 March 1960	Prime Minister B.P. Koirala in China
26-28 April 1960	Premier Zhou Enlai in Nepal.
June-July 1960	A 5-member youth and students dele- gation in China.
12 August-26 October 1960	Boundary delegation in Nepal.
September 1960	A cultural delegation in Nepal.
January-February 1961	A 9-member boundary delelgation led by Padma Bahadur Khatri in China
<b>May</b> 1961	A 8-member economic delegation led by Mang Mingzhen in Nepal to negotiate the terms of the utilisation of Chinese economic assistance to Nepal.
25 July-24 August 1961	Boundary delegation in Nepal.
September 1961 26 September-19 October 1961	Economic delegation in Nepal. King Mahendra in China.
October-November 1961	10-member table tennis team in Nepal
April 1962	Leather tanning experts in Nepal
May 1962	Civil aviation delegation in Nepal
April-June 1962	Boundary delegation in Nepal
September-October 1962	Cultural delegation led by K.P. Bhandari in China
October 1962	A 3-member goodwill delegation led by the General Editor of <i>People's</i>

180	CHINA-NEPAL RELATIONS AND INDIA
	Daily in Nepal.
October 1962	A 3-member delegation of Sino- Nepalese Friendship Association led
	by Wuhan in Nepal.
November 1962	A 3-member delegation of Nepal-
	China Friendship Association led by
	Prem Bahadur Kansakar in China.
23 November-December	Goodwill mission of Rishikesh Shaha,
1962	Special Representative of the King in China.
10 24 January 1063	Foreign Minister Tulsi Giri and
19-24 January 1963	Defence and Foreign Secretary Padma
	Khatri in China.
May 1963	A 3-member journalists delegation
	led Narayan Prasad Banskot in
	China.
June 1963	Zheng Xiaoxun, Editor-in-Chief of
	People's Literary Publishing House of
	China in Nepal to attend a literary
	Conference in Kathmandu.
October-November 1963	Panchayat delegation led by Vishwa
	Bandhu Thapa, Chairman of the Nepalese National Panchayat in
	China.
December 1963	A 12-member economic delegation in
	Nepal.
February 1964	A 4-member cultural delegation led
-	by Hu Yujih, Deputy Minister of
	Cultural Affairs in Nepal.
April 1964	An Economic Delegation led by
	Vice-Minister of Transport Koshen
Mary Inna 1064	in Nepal.
May-June 1964	A youth delegation led by Nabraj Subedi in China.
June 1964	Chinese experts in Nepal to draw up
	blueprints and plans for setting up a
	brick and tile factory and some ware-
	houses.
June 1964	A 2-member Buddhist delegation in
	China.

100

CHR	ONOI	2 <b>0</b> G <b>ʻ</b>	ľ

A 7-member scientists delegation led Augst 1964 by Professor Samba Deva Pande in China to attend scientific Conference in Beijing. Educationists' delegation led by August-September 1964 Kesari Raj Pande in China. A goodwill delegation led by Lalit September 1964 Chand in China. Surva Bahadur Thapa, Vice-Chair-28 September-5 October man of Council of Ministers, in 1964 China. Friendship delegation led by Ehuban-January 1965 lal Pradhan, Minister of Power and Irrigation in China. 30 March-3 April 1965 Vice-Premier Zhen Yi in Nepal. April 1965 A 50-member cultural troupe in Nepal. A goodwill delegation led by K.M. August-September 1965 Singh Basnyat in China. 24 August-7 September Vice-Chairman Kirti Nidhi Bista in 1965 China. Cultural delegation led by Janadan September 1965 Sama in China. Vice-Chairman 28 September-15 October of Council of Ministers Surya Bahadur Thapa in 1965 China. November 1965 A 4-member broadcasting delegation led by Prakash Man Singh, Director of Radio Nepal in China. Minister of Industry and Commerce April-May 1966 Nagendra Prasad Rijal in China. A 7-member writers delegation led May 1966 by Yen Wenzing in Nepal. A goodwill delegation led by Deputy 23 May-1 June 1966 Prime Minister K.N. Bista in China. A 10-member youth and sports dele-**June** 1966 gation in Nepal. 25 June-13 July 1966 Crown Prince Birendra Bikram Shah Dev in China. June-July 1966 A 5-member friendship delegation

October 1966	led by Yang Tungsheng in Nepal. A delegation of Nepal-China Friend- ship Association led by Ganeshman Shreshtha in China.
May 1967	An economic delegation led by Lin Hai-yun in Nepal to attend opening ceremony of Kathmandu-Kodari Road and to sign Sunkosi project agreement.
23 May-1 June 1968	Foreign and Deputy Prime Minister K.N. Bista in China.
<b>9 June 1969</b>	The foundation-stone of the Sunkosi hydroelectric project is laid by Nepalese Prime Minister.
28 July 1969	The New Chinese Ambassador to Nepal presents his credentials to King Mahendra.
September-October 1969	Transport and communications Minister Rudra Prasad Giri in China to participate in 20th anniver- sary of People's Republic of China.
November 1969	Chinese Ministerial delegation in Nepal.
26-28 February 1970	A 7-member Chinese goodwill mis- sion headed by China's Special Envoy Guo Moruo, in Nepal to attened marriage of Crown Prince.
1-9 March 1970	Guo Moruo, Vice-Chairman Stand- ing Committee of National People's Congress, in Nepal as leader of a goodwill delegation.
20 March 1970	A 7-member Parliamentary Good- will Mission, led by National Pan- chayat Chairman, Ram Hari Sharma, arrives in Beijing on a two-week tour of China.
June 1970	Table tennis team led by Zhao Xiwu in Nepal.
October 1970	A 3-member Nepalese economic delegation visits Canton Trade Fair.

182

March 1971	National Panchayat delegation led by
	Chairman Ram Hari Sharma in
	China.
March 1971	A 2-member medical delegation led
	by Ge Shu-shan in Nepal to attend
	Nepalese Medical Conference.
19 May-June 1971	Princess Sharda Shah and Kumar
-	Khadga Bikram Shah as leader of
	National Sports Council delegation
	visit China.
October-November 1971	Table tennis team in China.
November 1971	Former Premier Tanaka Prasad
	Acharya in China.
April 1972	Table tennis delegation in China.
May 1972	Medical delegation in China.
September 1972	National Sports Council delegation
•	in China.
2 October 1972	Tsao Ji, a senior Party leader and
	diplomat of China, is appointed as
	the new Ambassador to Nepal.
Octobbr 1972	Badminton delegation in Nepal.
October 1972	Football team in China.
November 1972	Nepal-China Friendship Society dele-
	gation in China.
November 1972	Delegation led by Zhang bin, Minis-
	ter of Water and Conservancy, in
	Nepal to attend inauguration of
	Sunkosi hydel project.
15-28 November 1972	Prime Minister Kirti Nidhi Bista in
	China.
30 January-6 February	Nepalese State Council delegation
1973	led by Ranganath Sharma in China
May 1973	Technicians to survey road connect-
•	ing Pokhara with the Far Western
	Development Region in Nepal.
July 1973	Badminton team in China.
July 1973	A 7-member technical team to study
•	establishment of proposed textile mill
	in Nepal.
13-29 July 1973	Princess Shobha Shah and Kumar

18-20 September 1973

November 1973 7-14 December 1973 February 1974 March 1974 April 1974 April 1974 May-June 1974

3-18 September 1974

October 1974 January-February 1975 27 January-8 February 1975

February 1975

31 March-14 April 1975 April-May 1975

July-August 1975 1 August 1975

September 1975 October 1975 23-30 October 1975

21 October-1 November 1975 27 May-5 June 1976

Mohan Bahadur Shah in China. Foreign Minister and Minister of Finance Gyanendra Bahadur Karki in China. Trade delegation in China. King Birendra in China. Sports delegation in Nepal. Trade delegation in Tibet. Youth delegation in China. Economic delegation in China. Trade delegation led by Minister for Foreign Trade Zhen Xien in Nepal. A 3-member educational delegation led by Krishna Raj Aryal, Minister of Health and Education in Nepal, leaves for China on a 10-day visit. Cultural delegation in China. Economic delegation in Nepal. Economic delegation led by Vice-Minister of Communications Dao Ji in Nepal. A 6-member delegation led by Vice-Premier Zhen Xilien in Nepal to attend coronation of King Birendra. Medical delegation in Nepal. Nepal-China Cultural Association delegation in China. Table tennis team in China. China pledges support to King Birendra's declaration of Nepal as a zone of peace. Medical delegation in China. Economic delegation in China. Princes Gyanendra and Dhirendra, the two younger brothers of King Birendra and their wives, and Foreign Minister Krishna Raj Aryal in China.

Youth badminton team in Nepal.

	China
2-9 June 1976	King Birendra visits Szechwan and Tibet.
July 1976	Economic delegation in China.
July-August 1976	A 12-member banking delegation in China.
March 1977	A 7-member press delegation in China.
March-April 1977	A National State Planning Commis- sion delegation led by its Chairman, B.P. Shrestha in China.
April 1977	Farm-irrigation and water-conser- vancy delegation led by B.B. Khadka in China.
April-May 1977	General Arjun Shjun Shamsher J.B. Rana, Honorary ADC to King, in China.
June 1977	A team of four Chinese experts in Nepal to train workers and assist Nepalese experts of the Sansbari leather and shoe factory built with Chinese assistance.
June-July 1977	A Nepalese volleyball team in China.
September-October	A delegation of Nepal-China Cultural
1977	Association in China.
15-26 November 1977	A delegation of People's Bank of China Nepal.
3-6 February 1978	Vice Premier Deng Xiaoping in Nepal.
March-April 1978	National Panchayat delegation led by G.P. Singh, Water Resources Com- mittee Chairman of the Nepalese National Panchayat in China.
14-15 May 1978	King of Nepal in China on his way to Japan.
May 1978	National Boundary delegation in Nepale to attend Joint Boundary Inspection Committee session.
May-June 1978	A 10-member industrial survey team led by Yu Win-nan in Nepal.

19 May-3 June 1978	5-member Nepalese trade delegation led by D.R. Koirala, Secretary in the Ministry of Industry and Commerce in China.
2-8 June 1978	King Birendra in China.
July 1978	Two Nepali Princes and their wives in China en route to North Korea.
August-September 1978	Nepalese delegation led by Bishwa Pradhan, Joint Secretary of the Foreign Ministry, in China to attend Joint Boundary Inspection Commis- sion meeting.
August-September 1978	Civil aviation delegation in China.
September 1978	11-member goodwill delegation led by Tien Bao, Vice-Chairman of the Tibetan Revolutionary Council, in Nepal.
27-29 September 1978	Premier Kirti Nidhi Bista in China.

186

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

#### Chinese Language

Beijing Ribao (Beijing Daily). DaGongbao (Imperial Daily). Gong-zao dong Xin (Bulletin of Activities). Hong qi (Red Flag). Jiefang JunBao (Liberation Army Daily). Renmin Ribao (People's Daily). Shanghai jinfang Ribao (Shanghai People's Daily). Xinwen Zhoukan (News Weekly). Zhong Guo Xinwen (China News).

#### **Chinese-English Language Periodicals**

Beijing Foreign Language Press Publications (Beijing Review).
China Foreign Trade (Beijing).
China Reconstructs (Beijing).
China Trade Report (Hong Kong).
New China News Agency (London).
People's China (Beijing).

#### **Translation of Chinese Sources**

China Mainland Review (Hongkong).
Communist China Digest (US Joint Publications Research Service, Wanshington, D.C.).
Current Background (Hongkong).
Joint Publication Research Service (Washington, D.C.).

# Selection from China Mainland Magazines (Hongkong) (Later SPRCM)

Summary of World Broadcast, Part 3, Far East (British Broadcasting Corporation : London).

Survey of China Mainland Press (Hongkong).

Translations from Hong qi (Washington, D.C.).

Translations from the People's Republic of China (JPRS).

- Translations of Political and Sociological Information of China (Washington, D.C.).
- Union Research Series Publications (Hongkong).
- Xin hua ban-yue k'an (New China Semi-Monthly).
- Xinhua News Agency News Bulletin (Hongkong).
- Xinhua News Agency Weekly (Hongkong).
- Xinhua Selected Items (Hongkong).
- Xinhua yuebao (New China Monthly).

## **Nepalese Sources**

- Acharya Babu Ram, "China ra Tibet Sita Nepal Ko Sambandh" (Nepal's Relations with China and Tibet) (Kathmandu; Jorganesh Press, 1958).
- Devakota, Grishma Bahadur, "Nepal Ko Rajnaitik Darpan" (Political Mirror of Nepal) (Kathmandu, 1959).
- "Economic Survey" (Kathmandu : Ministry of Finance).
- "Foreign Trade Statis, Fiscal Years 1960-61, 1961-62, 1962-63, 1963-64 and 1964-65" (Central Bureau of Statistics, Kathmandu).
- "Hamro Par Rashtra Sampark" (Our External Relations) (Kathmandu: Publicity Department, 1954).
- His Majesty's Government of Nepal, "Annual Reports, 1967-68, 1968-69, 1969-71" (Kathmandu : Ministry of Foreign Affairs).
- His Majesty's Government of Nepal, "Proclamations, Speeches and Messages of His Majesty King Mahendra" (17 vols.) 1967-1971 (Kathmandu : Ministry of Information and Broadcasting).
- His Royal Highness the Crown Prince Has Said (Kathmandu, H.M.S./Nepal, 1971).
- King Birendra, "His Majesty King Birendra Speaks of Foreign Policy" (Kathmandu, H.M.G., Nepal, 1975).
- King Birendra, "Speeches, Proclamations and Messages" (Kathmandu: H.M.G., Nepal 1975).
- King Mahendra, His Majesty King, "Nepal-India Friendship" Speeches by H.M. King Mahendra in the course of the Royal visit to Indian (April 18-22, 1962) (Kathmandu : Department of Publicity, 1962).
- ----, 'Pages of History : A Collection of Proclamations, Messages and Addresses'' (15 December 1960-10 December

1961) Series 1 (Kathmandu, 1963).

-----, "Proclamations, Speeches and Messages", vol. 1 (July 1951-December 1960) (Kathmandu) H.M.G./Nepal, 1967).

-----, "Proclamations, Speeches and Messages," vol. 2, December 1961-1965 (Kathmandu, 1967).

- ----, "Statements of Principles : Major Foreign Policy Speeches by His Majesty King Mahendra" (Kathmandu : Department of Publicity, 1962).
- "Miteri Gantho" (Ties of Friendship) (Kathmandu : Nepal-China Miteri Sangh, 1968).
- "Nepal-China Boundary Protocol" (Kathmandu: Department of Publicity and Broadcasting, 1963).

#### Books

- Aitchison, C.U., "Nepal" in "A Collection of Treaties, Engagements and Sanads Relating to India and Neighbouring Countries" vol. xiv (New Delhi : Central Publishing Branch, 1929).
- -----, "Treaties and Engagements Relating to Nepal : A Collection of Treaties, Engagements and Sanads Relating to India and Neighbouring Countries" vol. II, Part I (G.A. Seriale and P.M. Cravenburg, Calcutta, 1863).
- Ambekar, G.V., and Divekar V.D. eds., "Documents on China: Relations With South and South-East Asia, 1949-1962" (Bombay: Allied, 1964).
- "An Economic Profile of Mainland China" (Washington D.C. : U.S. Government Printing Office, 1967).
- Arnold, H.J.P., "Aid for Developing Countries : A Comparative Study" (Chester Springs, Pd : Outour Editions, 1962).
- Asad, Husain, "British India's Relations with the Kingdom of Nepal 1857-1947 : A Diplomatic History of Nepal" (Longdon: George Allen and Unwin, 1970).
- Baral, Lok Raj, "Oppositional Politics in Nepal" (Abhinav Publications, New Delhi, 1977).
- Barnett, A. Doak, "Communist China and Asia: Challenge to American Policy" (New York: Harper and Row, 1960).
- -----, "Uncertain Passage : China's Transition to the Post-Mao Era" (Washington, D.C. : Brookings Institution, 1974).
- Bennett, Gordon, ed., "China's Finance and Trade" (London :

The Macmillan Press Ltd., 1978).

- Benham, Frederic, "Economic Aid to Underdeveloped Countries" (London : Oxford University Press, 1961).
- Bhattacharjee, G.P., "India and Politics of Modern Nepal" Calcutta : The Minerva Associates, 1970).
- Bhasin, A.S., "Documents on Nepal's Relations with India and China, 1949-1966" (Bombay : Academic Book, 1970).
- Black, Lloyd D., "The Strategy of Foreign Aid" (Princeton : Van Nostrand Publishers, 1968).
- Boyd, R.G., "Communist China's Foreign Policy" (New York: Praeger, 1962).
- Burrard, Col. S.G., and Hayden, H.H., "A Sketch of the Geography and Geology of the Himalaya Mountains and Tibet" (Calcutta : Government of India, 1907).
- Buchanan, Hamilton Francis, "An Account of the Kingdom of Nepal and Other Territories Annexed to the Dominion by the House of Gorkha" (Edinburgh : Constable 1819) (Indian edition, Delhi 1971).
- Cammann, Schuyler, "Trade Through the Himalayas : The Early British Attempts to Open Tibet" (Princeton University Press, 1951).
- Chaudhri, K.C., "Anglo-Nepalese Relations From the Earliest Times of the British Rule in India Till the Gorkha War" (Calcutta : Modern Book Agency, 1960), pp. 181.
- Chauhan, R.S., "The Political Development in Nepal 1950-70: Conflict Between Tradition and Modernity" (New Delhi : Associate Publishing House, 1970).
- Chatterji, Bhola, "A Study of Recent Nepalese Politics" (Calcutta: World Press 1967).

- "China : A Reassessment of the Economy" (Washington, D.C.: US Government Printing Office, 1975).
- "Chinese Economy Post-Mao : A Comparison of Papers," (Joint Economic Committee Congress of the USA), vol. 1, Policy and Performance, 9 November 1978.
- Chiu, Hungdah, "The People's Republic of China and the Law of Treaties" (Cambridge, Mass, Harvard University Press, 1972).
- Chin Nai-Ruenn, and Galenson Walter, "The Chinese Economy

<sup>-----, &</sup>quot;Nepal's Experiment With Democracy" (New Delhi : Ankur Publishing House, 1977).

Under Communism'' (Edinburgh, 1969).

- Cohen, Jerome Alan and Chiu Hungdah, "People's China and International Law: A Documentary Study," 2 vols. Princeton: Princton University Press, New Jersey, 1974).
- Copper, John Franklin, "China's Foreign Aid : An Instrument of Beijing's Policy, 1976" (London : D.C., Heath & Co., 1976).
- Das, Sarat Chandra, "Journey to Lhasa and Central Tibet" (London : Murray, 1902), pp. 285.
- Doolin, Dennis J., "Territorial Claims in the Sino-Soviet Conflict : Documents and Analysis" (Stanford : Hoover Institute, 1965).
- Dutt, Gargi and Dutt. Vidya Prakash, "China's Cultural Revolution" (Bombay : Asia Publishing House, 1970).
- Dutt, V.P., "China's Foreign Policy, 1958-1262" (Bombay : Asia Publishing House, 1964).
- ----, ed., "China : The Post-Mao View" (New Delhi : Allied Publishers 1981).
- -----, ed. "East Asia: China, Korea, Japan, 1947-50" (London: Oxford University Press, 1958).
- Eckstein, Alexander, "Communist China's Economic Growth and Foreign Trade : Implications for US Policy" (New York : McGraw Hill, 1966).
- Fairbank, John K., "China Perceived : Images and Policies in Chinese-American Relations" (New York : Knopf, 1974).
- ----, ed., "The Chinese World Order : Traditional China's Foreign Relations" (Cambridge : Mass, Harvard University Press, 1968).
- Fisher, M.W., Rose, L.E. and Huttenback, R.A. "Himalayan Battle Ground : Sino-Indian Rivalry in Ladakh" (New York : Prager, 1963), pp. 205.
- Fitzgerald, C.P., "The Chinese View of Their Place in the World" (New York : Oxford University Press, 1954).
- Fitzgerald, Stephen, "China and the Overseas Chinese : A Study of Peking's Changing Policy 1949-1970" (New York : Cambridge University Press, 1972).
- "Foreign Policy of India : Text of Documents 1947-1964" (New Delhi : Lok Sabha Secretariat, 1966).
- Giri, Tulsi, "Some Speeches of Dr. Tulsi Giri" (Kathmandu: Department of Publicity, 1964).
- Gittings, John, "The World and China 1922-1972" (London:

Eyre Methuen, 1974).

- Goyal, Narendra, "Political History of Himalayan States: Tibet, Nepal, Bhutan, Sikkim and Nagaland Since 1947" (New Delhi: Cambridge Book and Stationery Stores, 1966).
- Gurtov Melvin, "China and Southeast Asia : The Politics of Survival : A Study of Foreign Policy Interaction" (Baltimore : Johns Hopkins, 1975).
- Gyawali, S.P., "Friendship on Trial" (Kathmandu : The Education Press, n.d.).
- Hagen, Toni, "Nepal: The Kingdom in the Himalayas" (New Delhi: Oxford Book and Stationery, 1961).
- Hinton, Harold C., "Communist China in World Politics" (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1966).
- Howe, Christopher, "China's Economy : A Basic Guide" (London : Paul Elek, 1978).
- Hsiao, Gene T., "The Foreign Trade of China: Policy, Law and Practice" (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1977).
- Huck, Arthur, "The Security of China: Chinese Approaches to the Problems of War and Strategy" (New York: Columbia University Press, 1970).
- Jain, Girilal, "India Meets China in Nepal" (Bombay: Asia Publishing House, 1959).
- Joshi, Bhuwanlal and Rose, L.E., "Democratic Innovations in
- Nepal : A Case Study of Political Acculturation (Berkeley : University of California Press, 1966).
- Kaplan, Joseph K., "The Challenge of Foreign Aid: Policies, Problems and Possibilities" (New York: Praeger Publishers, 1970).

Karan, P.P., "The Himalayan Kingdoms : Bhutan, Sikkim and Nepal" (New York : Princeton D. Van Votirand, 1963).

----, and Jenkins, W.M. Jr. "Nepal: A Cultural and Physical Geography" (Lexington : University of Kentueky Press, 1960).

Kavic, Lorne J., "India's Quest for Security Defence Policies 1947-1965" (Berkeley : University of California Press, 1967).

Khanal, Yadunath, "Background of Nepal's Foreign Policy" (Kathmandu: Department of Publicity and Broadcasting, 1964).

----, "Reflections on Nepal-India Relations" (Delhi: Rakesh Press, 1964).

Kumar, D.P., "Nepal: Year of Decision" (Delhi: Vikas Publishing

House, Pvt. Ltd., 1980).

- Lall, Arthur, "How Communist China Negotiates" (New York : Columbia University Press, 1968).
- Lamb, Alastair, "Britain and Chinese Central Asia, The Road to Lhasa, 1767 to 1905" (London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1960).
- Lee, Luke, T., "China and International Agreement : A Study of Compliance" (Burham, M.C., Rule of Law Press, 1969).
- Lewin Pouline, "The Foreign Trade of Communist China: Its Impact on Free World" (New York, 1964).
- Levi, Werner, "Modern China's Foreign Policy" (London : Oxford University Press, 1953).
- Lohia, Ram Manohar, "India, China and Northern Frontiers" (Hyderabad : Navahind Prakashan, 1963).
- Macfarquhar, R., "The Origins of the Cultural Revolution" (London: Oxford University Press, 1974).
- Mah, Feng, Hwa, "The Foreign Trade of Mainland China" (Edinburgh, 1972).
- Majumdar, K., "Political Relations Between India and Nepal," 1877-1923 (Munshiram Manoharlal, New Delhi, 1973).
- Manab, P.B., "King Mahendra's Active Non-Alignment" (Kathmandu : Nepal Printing Press, 1963).
- Mihaly, Eugene, B., "Foreign Aid and Politics in Nepal : A Case Study" (New York : Oxford University Press, 1965).
- Montgomery, John D., "Foreign Aid in International Politics" (Englewood Cliffs : Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1967).
- Moraes, Frank, "The Revolt in Tibet" (New York: Macmillan Company, 1960).
- Mullik, B.N., "The Chinese Betrayal: My Years with Nehru" (New Delhi: Allied Publications, 1971).
- Muni, S.D., "Foreign Policy of Nepal" (Delhi : National, 1973).
- ----, ed., "Nepal: An Assertive Monarchy" (New Delhi: Chetana Publication, 1977).
- Nehru, Jawaharlal, "India's Foreign Policy: Selected Speeches September 1946-April 1961" (New Delhi: The Publication Division, Ministry of Information and Broadcasting, Government of India, 1961).
- "New Developments in Friendly Relations Between China and Nepal" (Beijing : Foreign Language Press, 1960).
- Noel, Barber, "The Flight of the Dalai Lama" (London ; Modder

& Stoughton, 1960).

- Ojha, Ishwer C., "Chinese Foreign Policy in the Age of Transition: The Diplomacy of Cultural Dispair" 2nd ed. (Boston Beason Press, 1969).
- Panikar, K.M., "In Two Chinas: Memoirs of a diplomat." (London: George Allen & Unwin 1955).
- Parmanand, "The Nepali Congress in Exile" (Delhi : Delhi University Book House, 1978).
- Pant, Yadav Prasad, "Nepal's Economic Development on International Basis : An Analysis of Foreign Aid Utilization" (Kathmandu : Educational Enterprise, 1962), pp. 87.

Patterson, George N., "Tibet in Revolt" (London : Faber and Faber, 1960).

- Petech, Luciano, "China and Tibet in the Early Eighteenth Century: History of the Establishment of the Chinese Protectorate in Tibet" (Leiden : E.J. Brill, 1960), pp. 286.
- ----, "Medieval History of Nepal, 750-1480" (Rome : Institute Italianoperil Medio. ed. Estreme Oriente, 1958).
- Poorna Bahadur, "Foreigners' Eyes and Attitudes on Nepal" (Kathmandu : Nepal Youth League, 1959).
- -----, "Nepal Behind the Screen" (Kathmandu: Nepal Youth League, 1957).
- Raja Hutheesing, "Tibet Fights for Freedom" (ed.) (Bombay: Orient Longmans, 1960).
- Rawat, P.C., "Indo-Nepal Economic Relations" (Delhi : National Publishing House, 1974).
- Ramakant, "Nepal: China and India" (New Delhi: Abhinav Publication, 1976).
- Regmi, D.R., "Modern Nepal," 2 vols. (Calcutta : Firma K.L. Mukhopadhyaya, 1961).

----, "Wither Nepal" (Lucknow : Prem Printing Press. 1952).

- Randle, Robert F., "Geneva 1954 : The Settlement of the Indo-Chinese War" (Princeton University Press, 1969).
- Robert L. Price, "International Trade of Communist China 1950-65" in USA Joint Economic Committee : An Economic Profile of Mainland China (Washington, D.C.: US Government Printing Office 1967).

<sup>----, &</sup>quot;Problems in Fiscal and Monetary Policy : A Case Study of Nepal" (Delhi : Vikas Publication, 1970).

- Robinson, T.W. ed., "The Cultural Revolution in China" (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1971).
- Satish Kumar, "Rana Polity in Nepal" (Bombay : Asia Publishing House, 1967).
- Scalapino, Robert, A., ed., "Communist Revolution in Asia: Tactics, Goals, and Achievements" (New York : Prentice-Hall 1969), 2nd edn.
- Rose, Leo B., "Nepal : A Strategy for Survival" (California University Press, 1971).
- -----, and John T. Scholz, "Nepal : Profile of a Himalayan Kingdom" (Select Book Service Syndicate, USA, 1980).
- ----, and Fisher, Margaret W., "The Politics of Nepal: Persistence and Change in an Asian Monarchy" (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1970).
- Sehram, Stuart R., "The Political Thought of Mao Tsetung" (New York : Praeger, 1963).
- Sen Chanakya, "Tibet Disappears" (Bombay Asia Publishing House, 1960).
- Shah, Rishikesh, "Nepal and the World" (Kathmandu : Napali Congress, 1955).

-----, "Nepali Politics : Retrospects and Prospects" (Delhi : Oxford University Press, 1975).

Shresth, B.P., "An Introduction of the Nepalese Economy" (Kathmandu: Ratna Pustak Bhandar, 1966).

- ----, The Economy of Nepal" (first edition) Bombay : Vora and Co. Publishers, Pvt. Ltd., 1967).
- Shriman, Narayan, "India and Nepal : An Exercise in Open Diplomacy" (Bombay : Popular Prakashan, 1970).

"The Common Programme and Other Documents of the First Plenary Session of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference" (Beijing : Foreign Language Press, (1950).

- Tribhuban Nath, "Nepalese Dilemma 1960-74" (New Delhi : Sterling Publishing Pvt. Ltd., 1975.)
- Tuladhar, Tirath Raj, "Nepal-China : A Story of Friendship" (Kathmandu : Ministry of National Guidance, Department of Publicity and Broadcasting, 1961).
- Van Ness Peter, "Revolution and Chinese Foreign Policy: Peking Support for Wars of National Liberation" (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1971).

Whiting, Allen S., "China Crosses the Yalu" (New York :

The Macmillan Company, 1960).

- ----, "The Chinese Calculus of Deterrence : India and Indo-China" (Ann Arbor University of Michigan Press, 1975).
- Whiting, A.S. and Dernberger, R.F., "China's Future : Foreign Policy and Economic Development in the Post-Mao Era" (New York : McGraw-Hill 1977).
- Wilson Ian, ed., China and the World Community" (London: Angus and Robertson, 1973).
- Wingberg Chai, ed., "The Foreign Relations of the People's Republic of China" (Rutnam : East Rutherford, 1973).
- Wolfgang, Bartake, "China's Economic Aid" (Delhi : Vikas Publishing House, 1975).
- Wright Daniel (Tr. and ed.) by Shew Shunkar Singh and Gunanand, "History of Nepal" New York : Cambridge University Press, 1879).
- Teh Ching & Jen Tso-hsuan, "Inside MaoTse-tung Thought : An Analytical Blueprint of his Actions" (Tr. & ed. from the Chinese by Stephen Pan, etc.) (New York : Exposition Press, Heksville, 1975).
- Younghusband, Francis, India and Tibet : A History of the Relations which have subsisted between the two Countries from the time of Warren Hastings to 1910 with Particular Account of the mission to Lhasa in 1904" (London : Murray, 1910), pp. 455.
- Zagoria Donalds, S., "The Sino-Soviet Conflict 1956-1961" (Princeton University Press, 1962).

### Articles

- Ahmed, S.H., "China and Tibet'. 1949-59", International Studies (New Delhi), vol. 10, no. 4, April 1969, pp. 542-63.
- Allman, T.D., "Tripping the Himalayan Tightrope", Far Eastern Economic Review (Hongkong), vol. 76, no. 14, 1 April 1972, pp. 16-18.
- Anand, J.P., "Nepal's Zone of Peace Concept and China", China Report (New Delhi), vol. 13, no. 1 January-February 1977, pp. 6-10.
- "A Nehru Doctrine" Economist (London), vol. 913, 5 December 1959, p. 952.

- Armstrong, Hamilton Fish, "Where India Faces China," Foreign Affairs (New York), vol. 37, no. 4, July 1959, pp. 617-25.
- Ayoob Mohammed, "India and Nepal : Politics of Aid Trade", *The Institute for Defence Studies and Analysis Journal* (New Delhi), vol. 3, no. 2., October 1970, pp. 127-56.
- Bandyopadhyaya, J., "China, India and Tibet", India Quarterly (New Delhi), vol. 18. no. 4, October-December 1962, pp. 382-93.
- Banskota, N.P., "Nepal : Towards Regional Economic Cooperation in South Asia", Asian Survey (California), vol. 21, no. 3 March 1981, pp. 342-54.
- "Beijing's Game in Nepal", *Thought* (New Delhi), vol. 16, no. 28, 1964, pp. 19-20.
- "Border Disputes : China's Affront to Nepal", Eastern Economist (New Delhi), vol. 34, no. 15, 8 April 1960, p. 813.
- Boyd, R.G., Foreign Policy of Communist China", Australian Outlock (Melbourne), vol. 13, September 1959, pp. 193-210.
- ----, "Soviet and Chinese Involvement in Southern Asia" Canadian Slavonic Papers (Ottawa), vol. 12, no. 2, Summer 1970, pp. 1975-94.
- Brahmanand, "Indo-Nepalese Trade Treaties", Eastern Economist vol. 56, no. 13, 26 March 1971, pp. 508-11.
- Brown Mac Alister, "The Diplomatic Development of Nepal", Asian Survey, vol 11, no. 7, July 1971, pp. 661-76.
- Chandramohan, A.T., "Nepal Erecting Boundary Pillars", Far Eastern Economic Review vol. 37, no. 13, 27 September 1962, pp. 599-600.
- "China Trades Harsh Realities", China Trade Report (Hongkong), vol. 16, February 1978 p. 2.
- "China's Aid and Diplomacy", *Economic Weekly* (Bombay), vol. 16, no. 10, 7 March 1964, pp. 463-64.
- "China's Foreign Trade : Interview with Wang Yao-ting", China Reconstructs (Beijing), January 1979, pp. 24-27.
- "China's Trade", *Economic Times* (Bombay), 2 February 1978, pp. 1-2.
- Choudhury, G.W., "China's Foreign Policy Goals" Pacific Community (Tokyo), January 1978, pp. 167-82.
- Chou, S.H., "The Pattern of China's Trade", Current History (Philadelphia), vol. 75, no. 439, September 1978, pp. 65-68;

78, 89, 90.

- Cleland, John, R.D., "Chinese Rimland Strategy", Military Review (Port Learenworts, Kansas), vol. 47, no. 1, January 1967, pp. 3-13.
- Clubb, O. Edmund, "China and the Three Worlds", Current History, vol. 75, no 430, September 1978, pp. 53-56; 88-89.
- Dai, Shen-yu, "Peking, Kathmandu and New Delhi", China Quarterly (London), no. 16, November-December 1963, pp. 86-98.
- Dutt, Gargi "China and the Shift in Super-Power Relations", International Studies (Delhi), vol. 13, no. 4, October 1974, pp. 635-62.
- Dutt, V.P., "China : Stalemate and Suspicion", Far Eastern Economic Review, vol. 33, no. 12, 21 September 1961, pp. 582-84.
- ———, "Communist Neighbours", Seminar (Delhi), no. 37, September 1962, pp. 13-15.
- ----, "Jealous Neighbour", Current History, vol. 44, No. 259, March 1963, pp. 135-40, 179.
- ———, "Our Foreign Policy : China's Attitudes", Seminar, no. 19, March 1961, pp. 20-22.
- ----, "The Changing Pattern of China's Foreign Trade", Indian and Foreign Review (New Delhi), vol. 1, no. 18, 1 July 1964, pp. 19-20.
- Dutt, Som, "The Defence of India's Northern Borders", India Quarterly (Delhi), vol. 22, no. 1, January-March 1966, pp. 33-47.
- Fairbank, John K., "China's Foreign Policy in Historical Perspective", Foreign Affairs, vol. 47, no. 3, April 1969, pp. 449-63.
- ----, "The People's Middle Kingdom", Foreign Affairs, vol. 44, no. 4, July 1966, pp. 574-86.
- Fall, Bernard D., Red China's Aims in South Asia", Current History, vol. 43, no. 253, September 1962, pp. 136-41 and 181.
- Fisher, Margaret, W. and Bondurant, J.V., "The Impact of Communist China on Visitors from India", Far Eastern Quarterly (Michigan), vol. 15, no. 2, February 1956, pp. 249-63.
- Fitz Gerald, "China in Asia", Current History, vol. 53, no. 313, September 1967, pp. 129-34 and 175.
  - "The Chinese View of Foreign Relations", World Today

(London), vol. 19, no. 1, January 1963, pp. 9-17.

- Francillion J. Jacquet, "The Borders of China : Maos Bold Challenge to Khrushchev", New Republic (New York), vol. 148, no. 16, 20 April 1963, pp. 18-22.
- Gaige, Frederick, H., "Nepal: Compromise and Liberalization", Asian Survey, vol. 9, no. 2, February 1969, pp. 94-98.
- Ghori, Karamatullah Khan, "Nepal and Its Neighbours", Pakistan Horizon (Karachi), vol. 17, no.4, 1964, pp. 368-84.
- Goyal, Narendra, "The Himalayan Border", *The Australian Quarterly* (Sydney), vol. 32, no. 1, March 1960, pp. 54-65.
- Halpern, A.M., "Communist China and Peaceful Co-existence", China Quarterly, vol. 11, July-September 1960 pp. 89-104.
- Hess Peter, "Nepal Between India and China", Swiss Review of World Affairs (Zurich: Switzerland), vol. 17, no. 6, September 1967, pp. 15-17.
- Hetzner, D.R., "Chinese Strategy and Intent During the Sino-Indian Border Dispute", Asian Studies (Jaipur), vol. 5, no. 2, August 1967, pp. 303-15.
- Huang Hua, "International Situation and China's Foreign Policies", *Beijing Review* (Beijing), 6 October 1978, pp. 12-17, 35.
- "India, China and Nepal", Eastern Economist, vol. 27, no. 13, 28 September 1956, pp. 465-66.
- "India and Nepal", *Thought*, vol. 11, no. 49, 5 December 1959 pp. 1-2.
- "Indo-Nepal Trade Talks", Eastern Economist, vol. 56, no. 3, 15 January 1971, pp. 119-20.
- "India, Pakistan and China", *Economist*, vol. 193, 31 October 1959, pp. 494, 409.
- Jerome Chien, "China in Nepal", Thought, vol. 14, no. 41, 13 October 1962, pp. 1-2.

----, "China's Conception of Her Place in the World", Political Quarterly (London), vol 35, July-September 1964, pp. 260-84.

- Kedar Man Singh, "Nepal", China Trade Report, vol. 16, November 1978, p. 10.
- Kumar, Dev R., "Nepal's Road to China", Far Eastern Economist Review, vol 53, no. 8, 20 February 1964, pp. 419-21.
- Kumar, Satish, "Chinese Aggression and Indo-Nepalese

Relations", United Asia (Bombay), vol 15, no. 11, November 1963, pp. 740-44.

- Kumar, Satish, "Nepal and China", Indian Journal of Political Science (Jodhpur), vol. 24, no. 1, January-March 1963, pp. 79-93.
- Levi, Werner W., "An Historical View of Chinese Foreign Policy", *Current History*, vol. 37, no. 220, December 1959, pp. 321-25 and 338.
- ----, "Chinese-Indian Competition in Asia", Current History, vol. 38, no. 222, February 1960, pp. 65-68 and 81.
- Maillart, Ella, "Nepal : The China Road", Royal Central Asian Journal Society (London), vol. 53, no. 2, June 1966, pp. 143-46.
- Mishra, Brahmananda, "India Meets China in Nepal", Commerce (Bombay), 18 February 1978, pp. 215-17.
- Mishra, Indra Raj, "Foreign Trade Problem of Nepal", Eastern Economist, vol. 56, no. 16, April 1971, pp. 686-88 & 89
- Misra, Kiran, "Evolution of Nepalese Foreign Policy", Political Scientist (London), vol. 1, no. 2, January 1965, pp. 101-9.
- Morrison, Kent, "Domestic Politics and Industrialization in China : The Foreign Trade Factor", Asian Survey, vol. 18, no. 7, July 1978, pp. 687-705.
- Mozingo, D.P., "China's Relations with her Asian Neighbours", *Current History*, vol. 47 no. 277, September 1964, pp. 156-61 and 180.
- Muni, S.D., "India's Mutual Security Arrangement with Nepal", *The Institute for Defence Studies and Analysis Journal* vol. 4, no. 1, July 1971, pp. 26-49.
- "Mustang : Presence of Khampas", Eastern Economist, vol. 38, no. 6, 9 February 1962, p. 443.
- Nag, B.C., "China has No Claim Over Tibet", Organiser (Delhi), vol. 20, no. 46, 2 July 1967, p. 6.
- Nair, Kusum, "Where India, China and Russia Meet", Foreign Affairs, vol. 36, no. 2, January 1958, pp. 330-39.
- "Nepal-China Relations", *Economic Weekly*, vol. 7, no. 36, 3 November 1955, pp. 1062-63.
- "Nepal Supplement : A Foreign Policy of Existence", Far Eastern Economic Review, vol. 28, no. 222, June 1960, pp. 1105-24.

Nigam, Ashok Kumar, "Chinese Claim of Suzerainty over Nepal", Modern Review (Calcutta), vol. 123, August 1968, pp. 570-84.

Pant, Y.P., "Both Trade and Aid", Eastern Economist, vol. 51,

- ----, "Chinese Economic Assistance to Nepal", Economic Weekly, vol. 13, no. 41, 14 October 1961, pp. 1605-06.
- ----, "Nepal China Trade Relations", Economic Weekly, vol. 14, no, 15, 14 April 1962, pp. 621-24.
- ----, "Nepal's Recent Trade Policy", Asian Survey, vol. 4, no. 7, July 1964, pp. 947-57.
- Patterson, George N., "A Himalayan Confederation", Far Eastern Economic Review, vol. 48, no. 6, May 1965, pp. 275-82.
  - ----, "Recent Chinese Policy in Tibet and Towards the Himalayan Border States", China Quarterly, no. 12, November 1962, pp. 191-202.
- Poole, Peter A., "Communist China's Aid Diplomacy", Asian Survey, vol. 6, no. 11, November 1966, pp. 622-29.
- Pringshiem, Klaus H., "China and Their Himalayan Border, 1961-63", Asian Survey, vol. 3, no. 10, October 1963, pp. 474-95.
  - Qiang Li, "Minister on China's Foreign Trade", Beijing Review, 30 June 1978, pp. 17-18.
- Rama Swarup, "Red China Builds a Bridge to Nepal : An Example of Peiping-Aided Project", *Issues & Studies* (Taiwan), vol. 4, no. 1, October 1967, pp. 15-18.
- Ramakant, "Foreign Aid, Economic Growth and Political Development in Nepal", *India Quarterly*, vol. 29, no. 3, July-September 1973, pp. 250-57.
- -----, "Geography as a Factor in Nepal's Foreign Policy", South Asian Studies, vol. 8, no. 2, July 1973, pp. 55-61.
- -----, "The Mount Everest Controversy Between Nepal and China", South Asian Studies, vol. 10, nos. 1-2, January-July 1975, pp. 148-56.
- -----, "Nepal-China Road", South Asian Studies, vol. 9, nos. 1-2, January-July 1974, pp. 17-20.
- ----, "Nepal's Foreign Policy and China", India Quarterly, vol. 27, no. 3, July-September 1971, pp. 203-12.
- Rana Pashupati Shumshere, J.B., "India and Nepal : The Political Economy of a Relationship", *Asian Survey*, vol. 11, no. 7, July 1971, pp. 645-60.
- Rathore, Laxman Singh, "Sino-Nepalese Relations Since 1950", Political Scientist, vol. 8, no. 11, January-June, 1972,

no. 2, 12 July 1968, p. 62.

pp. 42-49.

Ray, Human, "Communist China's Strategy in Himalayas: Nepal—A Case Study", Orbis (Philadelphia), vol. 11, no. 3, February 1967, pp. 826-45.

- Rose, L.E., "Sino Indian Rivalry and the Himalayan Border States", Orbis (Published Pennsylvania), vol. 5, no. 2, Summer 1961, pp. 198-215.
- Rose, L.E., "The Himalayan Border States : Buffers in Transition", Asian Survey, vol. 3, no. 2, February 1963, pp. 116-22.
- Rowlings, E.H., "Fundamentals of China's Foreign Policy", Contemporary Review (London), vol. 207, no. 1194, July 1965, pp. 8-11.
- Schwarz, H.G., "Beijing and the World : Some Thought on Chinese Communist Foreign Policy", Asian Studies, vol. 3, no. 2, August 1965, pp. 344-69.
- Searls, G., "Communist China's Border Policy", United Asia vol. 15, no. 7, July 1963, pp. 469-82.
- Sen, N.C., "Changing Indo-Nepal Relations", China Report, vol. 5, no. 5, September-October 1969, pp. 20-22.
- -----, "Tibet in India-China Relations", China Report, vol. 5, no. 5, September-October 1969, pp. 23-29.
- Sharma, Narendra, "Foreign Aid", Far Eastern Economic Review, vol. 37, no. 12, 20 September 1962, pp. 526-27.
- Sheng Chang, Huang, "China and Nepal", *People's China* (Beijing), 1 May 1956, pp. 8-10.
- Sinha, Mira, "India-China Confrontation : A Reinterpretation", China Report, vol. 6, no. 3, May-June 1970, pp. 1-14.
- -----, "Nepal's Role in Sino-Indian Relations : 1949-69" The Institute for Defence Studies and Analysis Journal, vol. 2, no. 4, April 1970, pp. 456-86.
- Sinha, V.K., "India, China and the Himalayan States", China Report, vol. 3, no. 2, February-March 1967, pp. 27-32.
- "Sino-Nepalese Treaty : Border Settlement", Eastern Economist, vol. 37, no 16, 20 October 1961, pp. 731-32.
- Sreedhar, "China's Aid Programme in 1973", China Report, vol. 10, nos. 1 & 2, January-April 1974, pp. 12-14.
- Sreedhar and Ghosh, "China's Foreign Aid Programme", The Institute for Defence Studies and Analysis Journal, vol. 5,

<sup>-----, &</sup>quot;Sino-Nepalese Diplomacy", *Political Quarterly*, vol. 34, no. 4, October-December 1963, pp. 411-18.

no. 2, July 1972, pp. 1-45.

- Stone, Kester, "Nepalese in Peking, Far Eastern Economic Review, Vol. 27, No. 17, 22 October 1959, p. 665.
- Whitting, A.S., "The Logic of Communist China's Policy : The First Decade", Yale Review (Haven), vol. 50, no. 1, September 1960, pp. 1-17.
- Wiens, H.J., "Fundamental Aspects of China's Geography Influencing China's Political Policies", Asian Studies, vol. 2, no. 3, December 1964, pp. 409-20.
- Wilcox, Wayne, "Regional Security in South Asia", American Review, (New Delhi), vol. 9, no. 2, January 1965, pp. 55-60.
- Wolfstone, Daniel, "Bonus for Nepal", Far Eastern Economic Review, vol. 28, no. 13, 31 March 1960, pp. 692-93.
- ----, "Earth-shaking Struggle in Tibet", Far Eastern Economic Review, vol. 28, no. 14, 7 April 1960, pp. 727-30.
- Yeh, K.C., "Communist China's Foreign Trade : Recent Trends in a Long Term Perspective", *Issues and Studies*, vol. 13, no. 5, May 1977, pp. 58-86.
- ----, "Foreign Trade under the Hua Regime : Policy Reformance and Prospects", *Issues and Studies*, vol. 14, no. 8, August 1978, pp. 12-43.
- Young Patrik, C., "Nepal Reopened", Asian Review, vol. 52, no. 189, January 1956, pp. 20-41.

#### **Periodicals and Journals**

- Asian Recorder (New Delhi).
- China Quarterly (London).
- China Report (New Delhi).
- China Today (New Delhi).
- Current Background (Hongkong).
- Economic Indicators (Kathmandu : Nepal Rashtra Bank).
- Far Eastern Economic Review (Hongkong).
- Industrial Digest (Kathmandu: Nepal Industrial Development Corporation).
- Nepal Press Digest (Kathmandu).
- Nepal Rashtra Bank, Quarterly Economic Bulletin (Kathmandu vols. 4-8.
- News Review on China, Mongolia and Korea (IDSA, New Delhi). Nepal Trade Bulletin (Kathmandu Trade Promotion Centre)

Nepalese Newspapers Commoner (Kathmandu). Dainik Nepal (Kathmandu). Gorkhapatra (Kathmandu). Halkhabar (Kathmandu). Janata (Kathmandu). Kalpana (Kathmandu). The Motherland (Kathmandu). Nava Samaj (Kathmandu). Nepal Sandesh (Patna). Nepal Times (Kathmandu). Nepal Today (Calcutta) (Published by the Nepali Congress in Exile). *Nepali* (Kathmandu). Nepal Samachar (Kathmandu). News from Nepal (English Weekly) (Kathmandu: Department of Publicity and Broadcasting). The Rising Nepal (Kathmandu). Samaj (Kathmandu). Swatantra Samachar (Kathmandu). Indian Newspapers Amrit Bazar Patrika (Calcutta). Himalayan Observer (Kalimpong) (English weekly). The Hindu (Madras). The Hindustan Standard (Calcutta). The Hindustan Times (New Delhi). The Indian Express (New Delhi/Bombay). National Herald (New Delhi). Nepal Sandesh (Patna). Nepal Today (Calcutta). Northern India Patrika (Allahabad). Patriot (New Delhi). The Statesman (New Delhi & Calcutta). Times of India (New Delhi & Bombay). The Tribune (Chandigarh and Ambala).

# Other Newspapers

The New York Times (New York). The London Times (London).

## **INDEX**

- Agreement of economic aid, 160
- Agreement on Economic Cooperation, 174
- Agreement on Trade, Intercourse and related questions between Tibet and Nepal, 169
- Agreements signed between China and Nepal, 104 Aid Agreement with Nepal, 85 Anti-Chinese demonstration, 46 Anti-Indian Sentiments, 40
- Brick and Tile Factory, 91 British-Tibetan relations, 29 Buddha, Gautam, 17
- **CENTO**, 77
- Chinese Aid Programme in Nepal, 83
- Chinese Aided Projects in Nepal, 87, 109
- Chinese Foreign Aid, General Features, 83
- Chinese loans to Nepal, 101
- Communist Guerrilla War in Nepal, 40
- Composition of Sino-Nepalese Trade, 82
- Cotton Cultivation, 93
- Cotton Textile Mill, 93
- Cultural Revolution, 54

Curzon, Lord, 28

Dalai Lama, 22 Diplomatic relations, establishment of, 42

Economic aid agreement, 158 Enlai, Zhou, 41, 51

Friendship agreement, 153

Historical background, 17 Hydroelectric Station, 92

India as a factor in Sino-Nepalese Relations, 120 Indo-Nepalese Border, 37

Kathmandu Darbar, 30 King Mahendra's policies, 47 Koirala, B.P., 128 Korean War, 145

Leather and Shoe Factory, 91

Mahendra, King, 42 Manchu dynasty, 20 Mao Zedong, 39 Mao's Red Book, 54 Ming dynasty, 19 Mutual diplomatic gestures, 52

Narendradeva, King, 18 Nehru, Jawaharlal, 38 Nepal Communist Party, 136 Nepal-Tibet confrontation, 26 Nepal-Tibet Trade, 78 Nepali-British relations, 30 Nepali Foreign Policy, 121 Nepal's Commodity Exports to China, 99 Nepal's Commodity Imports from China, 100 Non-Communist World, 77 Notes of Discord, 53 Opium War, 26 Panikkar, K.M., 122

- Period of Diplomatic formality, 51
- Pokhara Water Conservatory and Irrigation Project, 94
- Political relations between China and Nepal, 35
- Post-1962 Trade Agreements, 80
- Protocol to the Agreement of economic aid 163
- Protocol to the China-Nepal Trade Agreement, 176
- Qing dynasty, 26
- Question of Mount Everest, 46

Rana Bahadur, King, 24 Regmi, D.R., 39 Republican China and Nepal, 31 Revolution in China, 29

SEATO, 77 Shah, Bahadur, 21 Sino-Indian Border Dispute, 48 Sino-Indian confrontation, 50 Sino-Indian War, 134 Sino-Nepalese Border, 36 Sino-Nepalese Economic Relations, 76 Sino-Nepalese relations, 35 Sino-Nepalese Trade Relations, 71 Strategic Buffer, 38

Tang dynasty, 17 Trade agreement, 166 Trolley-Bus Project, 92

Uprising in Tibet (1959), 44

Warehouses and Town Hall, 92 Watershed : 1962, 50

Xien, Fa, 17